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This Integrated Report is Delta Property Fund’s third report
as a listed company and is targeted at Delta’s shareholders,
potential investors and the Group’s other stakeholders. It covers
the operational activities and financial performance of the Group,
its Subsidiaries and entire property portfolio for the period
01 March 2014 to 28 February 2015.
This fully Integrated Report illustrates Delta’s commitment to
Corporate Governance and King III compliance. Where possible
areas of Integrated Reporting have been covered, explained and
linked in this Integrated Report, including issues of sustainability,
strategy, performance, risk and mitigation. This Integrated Report
has been prepared to assist the Group’s stakeholders to make an
informed assessment of the Group and its ability to create and
sustain value over the short, medium and long term.
The financial reporting contained in this Integrated Report complies
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as applied to
the annual financial statements. The principles of King III relating to
integrated reporting have also been applied, as well as the provisions
of the Companies Act of South Africa.
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While these forward-looking statements represent the directors’
judgements and future expectations, a number of risks, uncertainties
and other important factors could cause actual developments
and results to differ materially from their expectations. Factors
that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in
forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, global
and local market and economic conditions, industry factors as well
as regulatory factors.
Delta is not under any obligation to (and expressly disclaim any such
obligation to) update or alter its forward-looking statements, whether
as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
This forward looking information has not been reviewed or reported
on by the external auditors.
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Capital Towers
Pietermaritzburg
2

15.7% growth in full
year distribution to
84.07 cents per share

R1 billion revenue
achieved

Loan to Value post year
end from 49.8% to
46.7%

NAV per share R10.02
(2014: R9.28)

Forward guidance
distribution growth 8%

Maiden USD
distribution received
from Delta International

Oversubscribed
capital raise and
vendor placement
of R688 million
post year-end

Delta at a glance
Shares/linked units in issue

28 February
2015

28 February
2014

458 409 836

429 510 825

Market capitalisation

R4.08 billion

R3.39 billion

Share price (closing)

R8.90

R7.90

R10.02

R9.28

NAV per share
Number of properties

82

77

R8.4 billion

R7.0 billion

Average value per property

R102 million

R90.5 million

Gross lettable area

703 103 m2

621 442 m2

Office: 92%

Office: 87%

Valuation of portfolio

Sectoral profile (Building)

Tenant profile (GLA)

Occupancy rate

Retail: 2%

Retail: 4%

Industrial: 6%

Industrial: 9%

Office – Government: 50%

Office – Government: 57%

Office – NG*: 39%

Office – NG*: 28%

Retail: 5%

Retail: 7%

Industrial: 6%

Industrial: 8%

92.9%

95.4%

R95.84

R90.47

Weighted average escalation

7.97%

7.99%

Loan to value

49.8%

44.7%

Weighted average net rent (per m2)

Fixed: Floating

70%

32%

Funding costs

Ave all in rate 8.10%

Ave all in rate 7.50%

Feb 2014 NAV per share restated from R8.87 to R9.28 to take into account the elimination of 2014 unitholders for distribution
liability for comparison purposes.
* NG – Non Government

Company overview
Delta is a JSE main board listed REIT
Its primary focus is on long-term investment in quality, rental generating properties situated in strategic nodes attractive to
national government and tenants requiring empowered landlords. The Fund is black managed and a level 2 B-BBEE contributor,
qualifying for long-term government leases in terms of the Department of Public Works’ B-BBEE policy.
A springboard for Delta’s success has been its ability to identify, acquire and convert strategic assets to A- and B-grade status
to tenant specification, enabling the Fund to become a landlord of choice in its chosen nodes.
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Salient features

CORPORATE OVERVIEW

History and milestones

Listed November

2012

Property portfolio
valued at

R2.1 bn

2012
2013

On 02 November 2012
Delta listed on the
JSE Main Board and
raised R980 million equity
in an oversubscribed
placement.

On 28 February 2013, Delta
released its maiden results.
Delta’s ability to provide quality
office accommodation as a
landlord to the DPW and
SARS over the past five years
has enabled the Company to
successfully grow its property
investments to a portfolio
that is valued at R2.1 billion
(28 February 2013).

PwC Polokwane
Polokwane

4

Property portfolio
valued at

R7 bn

R8.9 bn
2015

2014

R1 billion rights issue
Established R2 billion
DMTN programme
Increased portfolio to
77 properties
Achieved a Level 2
B-BBEE rating
Converted to a REIT.

R1 billion revenue achieved
Investment in Delta
International
Increase portfolio to
82 properties
Market capitalisation of
R4.1 billion.

Phomoko Towers
Polokwane

Vodacom building
Maputo (Delta International)
DELTA PROPERTY FUND Integrated Report 28 February 2015
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Investment
portfolio (including
Delta International)
valued at

CORPORATE OVERVIEW

Delta is represented in all
9 of South Africa’s provinces,
with significant exposure in Gauteng, KwaZulu-Natal and Limpopo.
The economies of scale now being achieved in these provinces
has allowed Delta to negotiate service contracts at
favourable rates. This will contribute to a decreased
cost to income ratio in the future.
Please refer to page 128 for a detailed property list.

7

28

82

properties in total

2

12

Limpopo

8

Mpumalanga
Gauteng
North West

Free State
KwaZulu-Natal

Northern Cape

16
Eastern Cape

3

Western Cape

3
3

6

Number of properties
in each province

GEOGRAPHIC
PROFILE
by GLA (percentage)

CORPORATE OVERVIEW

Property portfolio statistics

GEOGRAPHIC
PROFILE
by gross rental (percentage)

Gauteng (39.3)

Gauteng (39.1)

KwaZulu-Natal (35.0)

KwaZulu-Natal (27.9)

Limpopo (6.4)

Limpopo (11.7)

Northern Cape (5.6)

Northern Cape (6.3)

Western Cape (4.8)

Western Cape (4.9)

Mpumalanga (3.7)

Eastern Cape (4.3)

Eastern Cape (3.4)

Mpumalanga (4.0)

Free State (1.0)

Free State (1.1)

North West (0.8)

North West (0.7)

39.3%

39.1%

Gauteng

SECTORAL SPLIT

by GLA – tenant (percentage)

Gauteng

SECTORAL SPLIT
by gross rental – tenant (percentage

Office government (50.1)

Office government (59.3)

Office other (39.3)

Office other (32.5)

Industrial (5.7)

Retail (5.9)

Retail (4.9)

Industrial (2.3)

50.1%
Office government

DELTA PROPERTY FUND Integrated Report 28 February 2015

59.3%
Office government
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Property portfolio statistics

(continued)

SECTORAL SPLIT

SECTORAL SPLIT

by GLA – building (percentage)

by value – building (percentage)

Office government (52.8)

Office government (60.9)

Office other (39.6)

Office other (35.7)

Industrial (5.7)

Retail (1.7)

Retail (1.9)

Industrial (1.7)

52.8%
Office government

BUILDING GRADE
by GLA (percentage)

60.9%
Office government

TENANT
GRADE
by GLA (percentage)

A-grade (23.8)

A-grade (81.3)

B-grade (76.2)

B-grade (10.0)
C-grade (8.7)

76.2%
B-grade

TENANT
GRADE
by gross rental (percentage)

A-grade (86.4)
B-grade (5.5)
C-grade (8.1)

8

RENTAL PER
SQUARE METRE

(percentage)

(excluding parking and
storage)
(Rand)
Retail (119.5)

Industrial (8.5)
Office government (8.1)

Office government (111.6)

Office other (7.8)

Office other (81.4)

Retail (7.6)
9.0

Average (8.0)

CORPORATE OVERVIEW

RENTAL
ESCALATION

Industrial (37.0)

120

Average (95.8)

8.5

100

8.0
80
7.5
60
7.0
40

6.5

20

6.0

8.5%
Industrial

R119.5
Retail

LEASE EXPIRY –
TOTAL PORTFOLIO

LEASE EXPIRY –
TOTAL PORTFOLIO

by GLA (percentage)

by gross rental (percentage)

Vacant (7.1)

29 February 2016 (19.0)

29 February 2016 (17.7)

28 February 2017 (24.9)

28 February 2017 (21.0)

28 February 2018 (21.2)

28 February 2018 (22.1)

28 February 2019 (11.4)

28 February 2019 (8.2)

29 February 2020 (7.7)

29 February 2020 (7.8)

>29 February 2020 (15.8)

>29 February 2020 (16.1)

28.5%
28 February 2018

DELTA PROPERTY FUND Integrated Report 28 February 2015

24.9%
28 February 2017
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Property portfolio statistics

(continued)

LEASE EXPIRY –
OFFICE GOVERNMENT

LEASE EXPIRY –
OFFICE GOVERNMENT

by GLA (percentage)

by gross rental (percentage)

Vacant (5.5)

29 February 2016 (18.2)

29 February 2016 (18.3)

28 February 2017 (20.6)

28 February 2017 (18.2)

28 February 2018 (22.5)

28 February 2018 (24.6)

28 February 2019 (13.7)

28 February 2019 (9.4)

29 February 2020 (2.9)

29 February 2020 (3.7)

>29 February 2020 (22.1)

>29 February 2020 (20.3)

24.6%
28 February 2018

22.5%
28 February 2018

LEASE EXPIRY –
OFFICE OTHER

LEASE EXPIRY –
OFFICE OTHER

by GLA (percentage)

by gross rental (percentage)

Vacant (9.7)

29 February 2016 (20.4)

29 February 2016 (19.1)

28 February 2017 (35.3)

28 February 2017 (28.0)

28 February 2018 (18.5)

28 February 2018 (19.5)

28 February 2019 (8.8)

28 February 2019 (8.1)

29 February 2020 (13.8)

29 February 2020 (12.1)

>29 February 2020 (3.2)

>29 February 2020 (3.5)

28.0%
28 February 2017

10

35.3%
28 February 2017

LEASE EXPIRY –
RETAIL

by GLA (percentage)

by gross rental (percentage)

Vacant (11.5)

29 February 2016 (28.8)

29 February 2016 (20.7)

28 February 2017 (20.7)

28 February 2017 (18.2)

28 February 2018 (12.6)

28 February 2018 (8.9)

28 February 2019 (7.1)

28 February 2019 (6.1)

29 February 2020 (24.7)

29 February 2020 (23.5)

>29 February 2020 (6.1)

CORPORATE OVERVIEW

LEASE EXPIRY –
RETAIL

> 29 February 2020 (11.1)

23.5%

28.8%

LEASE EXPIRY –
INDUSTRIAL

LEASE EXPIRY –
INDUSTRIAL

by GLA (percentage)

by gross rental (percentage)

29 February 2020

29 February 2016

Vacant (0.0)
29 February 2016 (0.0)

29 February 2016 (0.0)

28 February 2017 (0.0)

28 February 2017 (0.0)

28 February 2018 (29.0)

28 February 2018 (46.3)

28 February 2019 (0.0)

28 February 2019 (0.0)

29 February 2020 (0.0)

29 February 2020 (0.0)

>29 February 2020 (71.0)

>29 February 2020 (53.7)

71.0%
>29 February 2020

DELTA PROPERTY FUND Integrated Report 28 February 2015

53.7%
>28 February 2018
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Vodacom building
Maputo (Delta International)
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Delta International

At 28 February 2015, Delta held 52.4% in Delta International.
Key Highlights
Delta International is a property company focused exclusively on income generating properties in selected African countries (excluding
South Africa).
•

High growth opportunities
in Africa

•

Attractive USD forward
yield of 7%

•

Annual growth of 5%

•

Pipeline with strong
counterparties

•

Lease profile beyond
2021

•

Blue chip tenants

•

Dual listed on the JSE
and SEM

> 01. Interim results

> 02. Capital Raise

> 03. 2015 Financial Year

•

1H15 result declared
maiden US6.63 cents
per share distribution

•

Total of USD126.8 million
of equity raised during the
2015 financial period

•

•

4 properties owned (Anfa,
Anadarko, Hollard and
Vodacom)

•

2nd Capital Raise
completed on
22 April 2015

A-grade portfolio
located in economic
capitals of Morocco and
Mozambique

•

5 modern properties
without development risk

Acquisition of Hollard
building completed in
April 2015 and Vodacom
building in May 2015

•

•

Attractive mix of retail
and office

•

High quality tenants with
long term leases

•

31% of income from
Anadarko and Vodacom

•

94% occupancy

•

•

Significant shareholders
in Delta International are:
the Public Investment
Corporation (PIC); Stanlib;
Delta Property Fund

Portfolio size
USD218 million (post
acquisition of Hollard and
Vodacom buildings)

Portfolio Overview
Modern retail and office assets with attractive tenant mix located in African countries with strong fundamentals
Retail

Office

Total

2

3

5

Acquisition Cost (USDm)

121

97

218

Independent Property Value
(USDm)

123

102

226

Weighted Average Acquisition
Yield1

8.6%

8.8%

8.7%

Weighted Average
Capitalisation Rate2

8.4%

8.6%

8.5%

Number of Properties

WALE#

(years by income)

TOP
TENANTS
by income (percentage)
Other (51)
Vodacom (20)
Anadarko (11)
Sal & Calderia Advogados (3)
H&M (3)
GIFI (2)

7.2 years

7.4 years

7.3 years

GLA (sqm)

35 643

23 410

59 053

Occupancy (by GLA)

90.1%3

100.0%

94.0%

BP (2)
KPMG (2)
Retail Masters (2)
EDCON Mozambique, LDA (2)
Marks & Spencers (2)

1

Based on purchase price excluding acquisition costs.
2 Pre-tax cap rate. Calculated as a weighted average of property operating
income divided by market value of property.
3 Vacant space relates to street retail component of Anfa Place with
the shopping centre itself being 100% occupied.
* The above information is at 31 May 2015 and includes Zimpeto Square which
was still in the process of being transferred at the date of this report.
#

Weighted average lease expiry.

DELTA PROPERTY FUND Integrated Report 28 February 2015

51%
Other
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and Governance

passionate
LEADERSHIP

LEADERSHIP AND GOVERNANCE

Chairman’s report

D
Delta’s
strategy is to
achieve high return and capital
a
growth by balancing a portfolio
g
comprising approximately 60% of
c
sovereign underpinned properties with
s
tthe 40% balance exposed to international
rreal estate which offers a Rand hedge,
non-government offices, retail and industrial
n
properties with long-term leases.
p
These properties could potentially be
T
domestic or across the rest of the African
d
continent through Delta International or
c
abroad through other possible investments.
a

Investment portfolio value of
R8.9 bn

J Magwaza
JB
Chairman
C
17 July 2015
1
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Introduction

During the year under review, the listed property sector
continued its stellar performance despite increasing
pressure to extract value and growth.
A March 2015 Stanlib report shows a weighted average
distribution growth of 11.8% for property counters who
have reported at the time of writing, which compares to
15.7% for Delta for the year ending 28 February 2015.
This underscores management’s efforts across the board
to extract value.
This has led to consolidation opportunities in the market, but
more significantly, it illustrates the increasing importance of
sector expertise and focus, especially for smaller funds such
as Delta.
As at year-end, Delta’s property portfolio was valued
at R8.4 billion (FY2014: R7.0 billion) and consisted
of 82 properties with a total GLA of 703 103 m2
(FY2014: 77 properties with a GLA of 621 442m2).
The investment portfolio was valued at R8.9 billion after
including Delta’s investment in Delta International.
During the review period, management increased their focus
on prudent asset management, explored a number of costconsolidation opportunities and managed the Fund’s debt
profile optimally.
These efforts resulted in Delta reporting a total
distribution for the year of 84.07 cents per share
(FY2014: 72.69 cents per share), in line with the trading
update provided to the market early in March this year.

Shift in market dynamics
As alluded to earlier, listed property has arguably been
the best performing asset class over the past year
and continued to outperform, with the J253 breaching
670 points for the first time in early March 2015.
Industry consensus is however, that these levels are not
sustainable and the big question remains when the taper
down will come, and what the extent of its impact will be?
The irony is that most of the growth in the sector is driven
by investor appetite for high-quality, growing income streams
in a low-yield, low-growth environment. This is further
supported to a large extent by fiscal policy particularly in
Europe and the USA. One only has to look at the impact
that the European Central Bank’s announcement, of their
own version of quantitative easing, has had on the local
sector in January 2015 to understand how exposed we
are to external sentiment and factors.
On the domestic front, the impact of African Bank Limited’s
unexpected collapse had a profound effect on the bond

DELTA PROPERTY FUND Integrated Report 28 February 2015

During this turbulent time, Delta’s focus as a sovereignunderpinned property fund (national government makes up
59.3% of the portfolio by income) provided a beachhead for
the affirmation of its initial credit rating assigned by Global
Credit Ratings.
On 13 August 2014, Global Credit Ratings affirmed Delta’s
rating of BBB+(ZA) and A2(ZA) in the long and short term
respectively, and accorded a stable outlook to the Fund.

Macro-economic overview
The government’s real gross domestic product growth
estimate for 2015 is expected to rise to 2.5% from
1.4% for 2014. According to the March 2015 Medium
Term Budget Policy Statement (MTBPS), economic growth
was expected to rise gradually over the medium term,
reaching 3% by 2017.
Consumers however remain under pressure, with respite
in the fuel price caused by a collapse of the international
oil market being offset by significant weakening of the
Rand against major currencies and increased fuel levies
announced during the MTBPS. Consumer indebtedness
remains high with higher than expected utility costs mooted.
It stands to argue that in this environment, the South
African Reserve Bank will likely maintain interest rates, but
increases are expected over the medium to longer term.

The real estate market
The sector continued its consolidation trend as larger
companies acquire smaller, higher yielding counters by
issuing paper, making the acquisitions yield accretive.
Sector specialisation is becoming increasingly important as
asset managers extract value from their portfolios.
Pockets of relative value still exist, but require a specific
expertise in order to be identified and capitalised on. The
number of inward listed counters with exclusive off-shore
exposure supports this trend as investors seek to tap into
the relative higher growth economies and exchange rate
hedge offered by dollar or pound sterling denominated
income streams.
I’ll elaborate more on Delta’s investment in Delta
International under the “Investment Strategy” section
of my report.
As expected, the listed office sector continues to lag the
retail and industrial sectors, especially as more stock
becomes available in high-growth nodes such as Sandton
and Rosebank.

Investment strategy
As alluded to in my previous report, Delta took a strategic
decision not to continue with the proposed tripartite merger
with Rebosis and Ascension and subsequently disposed of its
holding in Ascension.
17

LEADERSHIP AND
GOVERNANCE

At the date of this report Delta has been listed for
32 months on the JSE and this is our third Integrated
Report to shareholders.

market, with a number of companies being forced to cancel
bond sales as investors shied away.

LEADERSHIP AND GOVERNANCE

Chairman’s report

(continued)

One of the primary motivations for this decision was our
intended investment in Delta International. At 28 February
2015, Delta held 52.4% of Delta International.
Delta International became the JSE’s first property company
with an exclusive African focus (excluding South Africa), with
a unique exposure to Morocco and Mozambique when it
successfully raised a total of USD87 million in equity through
the issue and listing of new shares in July 2014.
Subsequently, Delta International successfully applied to
move its primary listing from the Bermuda Stock Exchange
to the Stock Exchange of Mauritius and announced a maiden
interim distribution of USD6.63 cents per share following
its first six months of operation ended 31 December 2014
as an African property-focused fund.
Our intention is to dilute Delta’s holding in Delta International
to approximately 25% over time. At the time of this report,
Delta’s investment in Delta International had reduced
to 31.8%. Given Delta’s specific expertise in managing
sovereign tenanted assets, our approach going forward will
focus on strategic partnerships where a collaboration on
skills and capacity will unlock superior value.
This approach has already further deepened the resources
and know-how of the relevant teams to identify and seize
opportunities.
To diversify the portfolio, Delta acquired Delta Towers
(formerly known as the Old Mutual Centre) and
The Marine building in September 2014 for a combined
purchase consideration of R487 million.
Delta’s strategy is to achieve high return and capital growth
by balancing a portfolio comprising approximately 60% of
sovereign underpinned properties with the 40% balance
exposed to international real estate which offers a Rand
hedge, non-government offices, retail and industrial
properties with long-term leases. These properties could
potentially be domestic or across the rest of the African
continent through Delta International or abroad through
other possible investments.

Governance and board
During the last year, two new appointments were made to
the Delta Board, namely, the Independent Non-Executive
Directors, Dumo Motau and Ian Macleod. They came with a
mixed skill-set and vast experience that has been welcomed
on the Board.
Nooraya Khan continues in her role as Lead Independent
Non-Executive Director, a position she has held with
distinction since listing.
The Independent Non-Executive Directors continue to play an
extremely important role in formulating Delta’s growth and
sustainability strategy and ensuring its accountability to all
stakeholders.
To this extent, the Board continuously reviews, monitors and
modifies its risk and governance policies and procedures.
18

Transformation and empowerment
More information on Delta’s Transformation Strategy is
available in the Transformation section on page 39 of this
Integrated Report.
I am proud to confirm that Delta maintained its rating as a
Level 2 contributor to the Property Charter’s B-BBEE rating.
In February 2015 Delta announced that it planned
to action the termination clause in the existing asset
management agreement, following ongoing differences
among the shareholders of the appointed asset manager.
(As previously disclosed, Delta CEO Sandile Nomvete and
I are shareholders in the appointed asset manager.)
This matter was driven by the Independent Non-Executive
Directors on the Board of Delta, who believed that the
differences did not serve the best interest of Delta’s
shareholders.
In terms of the existing management agreement, Delta
was entitled to cancel the contract, subject to shareholder
approval. Based on the methodology set out in the existing
management agreement, the termination fee is not
anticipated to exceed approximately R13 million (it should
however be noted that the actual termination fee payable
can only be calculated after the date on which the
termination becomes effective).
Shareholders, at a general meeting on 10 June 2015,
approved the cancellation of the existing asset management
agreement with DPAM.
In an industry first, and with shareholder and JSE approval,
the new asset management company will be wholly owned
by a trust, established for the benefit of its (the asset
manager’s) black employees. The new asset management
company will also employ the staff of the previous
incumbent.
Since none of the existing shareholders of the current asset
manager will be beneficiaries of the trust, Delta will seek
to ensure that the new asset management company trust
complies with the requirements of the Department of Public
Works for purposes of its leases with the Fund.
It is very important to the Board that the new asset
manager retains the corporate memory required to manage
Delta’s growing asset portfolio, and to provide job certainty
for staff. The new asset management company is unique in
the sector and supports Delta’s vision of being a leader as
far as broad-based empowerment and transformation in the
property industry is concerned.
The terms of the new asset management agreement are no
less favourable to Delta than the current agreement, which
includes the monthly asset management fee of one twelfth
of 0.35% of Delta’s enterprise value.
The Board sees this opportunity as a unique way to
incentivise and retain staff, whilst maintaining and improving
the standard of Delta’s overall portfolio.

Outlook

A diverse shareholder base that has demonstrated
continued support

•

Strong partnerships and relationships

•

Attractive yield

•

Established debt capital markets programme and
multibank approach to funding

Most of the acquired buildings were successfully upgraded
from C or D grade to A and B grade, increasing the quality
of the overall portfolio.

•

Management track record and alignment with
shareholders’ interests

•

Sovereign attribute – long term, low risk, low vacancies.

The impact of higher office vacancies, weaker retail spending
and speculative developments will have a negative impact on
supply and demand within the sector, increasing the need for
consolidation.

Appreciation

From listing to the middle of the review period, Delta
achieved extraordinary growth. In fact, one asset was
transferred into the portfolio every four days during
FY2014, supported by R4.5 billion worth of yield
enhancing acquisitions.

Quality properties will remain more expensive, resulting
in less buildings being available to be acquired in terms of
the investment considerations set by the Board. Potential
changes in the sovereign letting strategy will have an impact
on our Government portfolio going forward and renegotiation
of leases need to be handled with care.
Delta has good access to debt funding which will stand
them in good stead for anticipated more expensive financing
due to higher funding costs and increasing yields. We will
continue to manage gearing very carefully.
Delta has a unique business case that it has continuously
been growing since listing, which will continue to serve it well
in the future including:
•

BEE status (attractive to sovereign and empowerment
sensitive tenants)

LEADERSHIP AND
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•

I would like to sincerely thank my fellow Board members for
their ongoing support and counsel during a demanding year.
On 16 October 2014, Delta announced the retirement and
resignation from the Board of Karl Schmidt and Ipeleng
Mkhari, respectively. Karl Chaired both the Audit, Risk
and Compliance Committee as well as the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee. On behalf of the Board, I would
like to thank them for their contribution and wish them well
for the future.
Finally, the efforts and dedication of Sandile Nomvete,
Bronwyn Corbett and the rest of their team deserves
a special mention. It is as a result of their unwavering
commitment that Delta is able to perform and will continue
to perform in line with shareholder expectations.
JB Magwaza
Chairman

Sleepy Hollow
Pietermaritzburg
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Board of Directors

Johannes Bhekumuzi
(JB) Magwaza

Sandile Nomvete

Bronwyn Corbett

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Operations Officer and
Chief Investment Officer

Non-Executive Chairman

BA MA (UK)

Exec Dip. and Prop Dev. Prog

CA (SA)

Directorships:

Directorships:

Directorships:

Previous Chairman of Tongaat
Hulett Limited, Hulamin Limited,
KAP International Holdings Limited,
Rainbow Chicken Limited, Motseng
Investment Holdings Proprietary
Limited, MPI Property Asset
Management and various other
non-listed entities.

Delta International Chairman,
KAP International Limited NonExecutive Director and member of the
Audit Committee, MPI Property Asset
Management Proprietary Limited,
and a number of non-listed entities,
including the Black Association of
Commercial Property Owners.

Delta International Non-Executive
Director, various non-listed entities.

As a Board representative, Board
Chairman and Remuneration and
Nomination Committee Chairman
for various JSE-listed entities and
non-listed entities, JB brings a
wealth of fiduciary experience to
the Delta Board.

Born and raised in KwaZulu-Natal,
Sandile’s inspired entrepreneurial
and forward-thinking persona has
propelled him into becoming one
of South Africa’s leading business
executives. Sandile is the founder
and Chief Executive Officer of Delta
Property Fund, a REIT listed on
the JSE with a portfolio of assets
valued at R8.4 billion. At listing Delta
Property Fund comprised assets to
the value of R2.1 billion.
He co-founded Motseng Investment
Holdings which eventually became
the empowerment partner to Marriot
Property Group. A series of mergers
and acquisitions within the sector
provided the opportunity for Motseng
to become the largest 100% blackowned property management
company in South Africa.
Sandile has nearly a decade and a half
of experience in executive and nonexecutive positions.
Sandile is a graduate of the Property
Development Programme from the
University of Cape Town Graduate
School of Business, and holds an
Executive Development Programme
and Finance for non-financial
managers Diploma from the University
of Witwatersrand Graduate School of
Business.
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Bronwyn was born and raised in
KwaZulu-Natal and articled at BDO,
the fifth largest accountancy network
in the world, while simultaneously
completing her BCom (Honours)
degree at the University of Natal. In
2004, on completion of her CA (SA)
qualification, Bronwyn relocated to
Johannesburg where she joined
Universal Property Professionals in
2005 as a financial manager.
Her role was subsequently extended
to include asset and development
management. During this time
Bronwyn gained extensive knowledge
in various facets of the commercial
property sector before joining
Motseng Investment Holdings as
CFO, where she played a pivotal
role in establishing and growing the
Company’s property fund to R1 billion
in four years.
Bronwyn played an integral part in
acquiring additional properties which
were combined with some existing
assets in the Motseng Investment
Holdings portfolio and taken to market
through the successful listing of Delta
on the JSE on 02 November 2012.
Delta listed with a portfolio valued at
R2.1 billion.
Bronwyn currently serves as Delta’s
COO where she applies her in-depth
knowledge of the property sector
with her experience in optimal funding
strategies and deal making abilities.
She handed over the position as CFO
to Greg Booyens on 01 July 2015.

Davina (Dumo)
Motau
Independent Non-Executive
Director

BCom, Diploma in Advanced
Banking, Certificate in Business
Project Management
Chairman of the Transformation,
Social and Ethics and Sustainability
Committee
Directorships:
Land Bank – Director and member of
the Credit Risk Committee, Land Bank
Life Insurance Company – Director
and member of Risk and Audit
Committee and various non-listed
entities.
Dumo has wide experience gained
from different environments and
institutions, spanning the banking,
regulatory and supervisory
environment, credit risk rating and
policy formulation at government
level. Having started her career
in banking, focusing on financial
analysis and development finance
through the Development Bank of
Southern Africa, she moved to the
South African Reserve Bank to gain
an understanding of the environment
within which banks operate. Through
her experience Dumo has developed
expertise in risk management, having
managed the credit exposures of
government at National Treasury. In
2011, Dumo launched a financial risk
management consultancy, Aphiwa
Risk Consultants Proprietary Limited,
focusing on the financial inclusion
of the small micro enterprises into
the formal sector through access
to finance. Her projects include
advising on strategy formulation for
penetrating the informal market.
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Ian Macleod
Independent NonExecutive Director

Jose (Jorge)
Gonçalves
Da Costa#

Paul Simpson

Greg Booyens

Nooraya Khan

Independent NonExecutive Director

Incoming Chief
Financial Officer

Lead Independent
Non-Executive Director

Chairman of the
Investment Committee

Royal Institute of British
Architects, Part 1

CA (SA)

Directorships:

Directorships:

Delta International Director.

Chairman of the Audit, Risk
and Compliance Committee
CA (SA)

Capital Property Fund,
Improvon Properties
Proprietary Limited and
various non-listed entities.

Various non-listed companies
and is on the Research
Committee of the South
African Council of Shopping
Centres as well as being a
Judge on the Retail Design
and Development Awards
Committee for the same
organisation.

Greg has spent over
10 years in the finance
industry and was appointed
as CFO on 01 July 2015
having previously held a
senior financial role at
Delta’s Asset Manager.

Independent NonExecutive Director
BCom (Honours): Real
Estate Investment, Valuation
and Development
Ian has 41 years of
experience with financial
institutions, including
Standard Bank and Nedbank,
with specific focus on Real
Estate Credit Risk. He
has extensive knowledge
of Real Estate’s key role
players, business sectors
and geographic nodes.
Ian’s experience includes
the managing of portfolios
during changing economic
cycles and particularly
managing problematic
properties in economic
downturns.

Jorge has been in the
property industry for the
past 30 years and is a
founding director of Improvon
Property Group, developers
of prime industrial properties
across South Africa and is
a past director of Property
Fund Managers Limited,
the management company
of Capital Property Fund
and Resilient Property
Income Fund.
#

Portuguese citizen

Paul is passionate about
retail property and growth;
as a former President of the
SACSC, a founding Director
of the Green Building Council
of South Africa and member
of the Commercial Board
of the Bureau for Economic
Research, he brings a vast
amount of experience to
the Board.
Paul’s experience includes
major tenant input and mall
design in numerous centres
including Clearwater and
Maponya Malls as well as
development of the biggest
distribution centre and green
building in the country, among
others. He spent almost
two decades as the head of
real estate at Woolworths
managing some 500 store
properties from Cape Town to
the Middle East, a R1.5 billion
direct portfolio, the facilities
management team for the
head office campus and was
on the Executive Committee
of the company.
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Directorships:

Greg completed his articles
at PKF South Africa and in
2004 joined UBS (London)
as a financial accountant in
their fixed income division.
Thereafter, Greg spent
time at Barclays Plc in their
treasury before joining
Evolution Group Plc in 2006
where he spent six years in
their finance department.
He returned to South
Africa in 2011. He holds
a BCom (Honours) degree
in Accounting from the
University of Port Elizabeth.
Greg is a qualified Chartered
Accountant.

Directorships:
Various non-listed entities.
Nooraya is a Chartered
Accountant and a highly –
experienced and successful
private equity transactor.
She has vast experience in
negotiating, implementing
and managing private
equity and black economic
empowerment transactions
across South Africa which
was obtained during a
combined 13-year tenure
at Rand Merchant Bank,
a division of FirstRand
Bank Limited, and the
Industrial Development
Corporation (IDC).
Nooraya also gained
exposure to project finance
transactions and risk
management as a manager
in the Project Finance
and Risk Management
divisions of the Industrial
Development Corporation,
and as a member of the
CIBC credit committee
of FirstRand Limited.

21

LEADERSHIP AND GOVERNANCE

MPI Property Asset Management

COMING

together
is a beginning
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KEEPING together is

progress
WORKING

success

DELTA PROPERTY FUND Integrated Report 28 February 2015

together is

23

LEADERSHIP AND GOVERNANCE

Delta Towers
Durban
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Key risks

Key risk

Mitigation measures

–

Fines and public censures if
non-compliance occurs

–

–

Reputational risk

Continuous active monitoring by
corporate sponsor and Company
Secretary, including completion of annual
compliance checklist

–

Appointment of consultants in
specialised areas

–

Active monitoring of rating and regular
assessment of suppliers to improve
rating

–

Adherence to the Property Charter

–

Oversight by the Board and independent
directors

–

AGM to address issues and queries

–

Regular communication with
stakeholders

–

Transparent culture

MARKET/STRATEGIC
Regulatory risk – including
JSE and Government
legislative framework

Lack of BEE rating and
monitoring mechanisms

Reputational risk

–

–

Inability to secure long-term leases

Loss of investor confidence resulting in share
price volatility

Non-compliance with REIT
requirements

–

Non-compliance will result in tax liabilities
resulting in a decrease in distribution

–

REIT compliance monitored on a
continues basis by Management and
external consultants

Currency risk - foreign
investments

–

Excessive volatility in exchange rates resulting
in reduction in distributable income

–

–

Difficulty in repatriating funds due to illiquid
currency markets or capital restrictions in
foreign countries

–

The share price of the investment may not
move with a fluctuation in the underlying
currency of the investment

Matching the currency of the debt
funding relating to the investment
ie. The investment is a USD based
investment and a portion of this is
funded with a USD loan and a cross
currency swap

–

Excessive volatility in exchange rates resulting
in higher interest charges in ZAR – impact
distributions when paid

–

–

Excessive volatility in exchange rates resulting
in higher capital balance owing in ZAR – impact
distributions when become realised at maturity

Matching the currency of the debt
funding relating to the investment
ie. The investment is a USD based
investment and a portion of this is
funded with a USD loan and a cross
currency swap

–

The underlying investment funded by the
foreign loan may be of a different value to the
loan at date of settlement (share price has not
moved with currency movements)
–

Gearing monitored by management on
a monthly basis.

–

Existing gearing level is considered on
assessing of funding of new acquisitions

–

Reporting gearing ratios quarterly to
the board

–

Careful assessment of the investment
strategy of Delta International before
Delta's initial investment ie. Delta
International targeting investment
friendly countries

–

Representation on Delta International
board

Currency risk - foreign loans

–
Non-compliance with
covenants

Africa risk

The underlying investment is illiquid

–

Increase of interest rates by financiers

–

Forced pay-down of loans required by financiers

–

Inability to raise further debt funding

–

Governments adopt policies that are to the
detriment of foreign investors, particularly
movement of dividends, capital, taxation and
land ownership

–

Default on shareholder funding

–

Returns below expectations
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Key risks

(continued)

Key risk

Impact

Mitigation measures

Investment risk –
investment at a cap rate
higher than the market
value and yielding less than
incremental funding cost

–

–

Stringent investment criteria

–

Acquisitions are considered by the
Investment Committee which are then
recommended to the Board

Decrease in market
capitalisation rates from
initial acquisition date

–

Detailed due diligence process

–

On-going refinement of investment/
growth strategy

–

Independent valuation

Destruction of investment
property

–

–

Properties all insured based on regular
assessment of replacement cost as well
as loss of income

–

Adequacy of insurance cover regularly
reviewed

–

70% of debt is fixed through fixed rate
loan contracts and interest rate swap;s

–

Negotiated favourable funding
arrangements

–

Avoiding concentration risk of maturity
of fixed rate contracts and interest rate
swaps

FINANCIAL

Interest rate risk - exposure
to volatile interest rate
cycles

Liquidity and refinancing risk

NPA building
Cape Town
26

Dilution in distributable income and possible
capital erosion

–

Breaching of loan to value covenants

–

Decreased NAV

–

Inefficient utilisation of existing funding facilities

–

–

Financial loss to the Company and reduced
asset value

Volatile interest rate movements will result in
increased borrowing costs, thereby reducing
distributable income

Insufficient cash resources to meet obligations
on due dates

–

Cash flow management

–

Multi banked approach

–

Inability to refinance debt on expiry

–

Diversified sources of funding

–

Inability to raise sufficient new funding for
investment opportunities and refurbishments

–

Monitoring economic environment

–

Maturity profile of debt evenly spread

–

Maintaining gearing ratio below 50%

–

Ensure availability of funding

Key risk

Impact

Mitigation measures

–

Erosion of rental income, increase in property
holding costs (finance costs, electricity
and municipal charges), increase in letting
commissions and tenant installation costs

–

Internal team focused on securing long
term lease renewals

–

Monthly lease expiry reports by sector
and geographical area

Discounting of new leases at below market
rentals

–

Strong focus on tenant relationships to
ensure retention

–

Alignment of refurbishments with lease
renewals

–

Existing vacancies on new acquisitions
are “zeroed out”

–

Credit checks

–

Conversion of C grade assets to A & B
grade

–

Early renewal negotiations

–

Maintain BEE status at all levels

–

Engage government to promote
transformation strategies

OPERATIONAL
Vacancies and high quantity
of leases expiring in any one
period

High concentration of
government leases and
single tenanted properties

–

Underperformance of
Property Managers and
skills shortages. Inadequate
utilities management

–

Performance dependent on experienced and
skilled staff

–

Performance driven contracts with
Property Managers

–

Reduced net income growth

–

–

Delays in recovering amounts from tenants due
to errors made by Council

Increased supervision by Delta
asset management team, monthly
management meetings and reports

–

Increased vacancies and arrears

–

Property inspections

Poor condition of buildings

–

Asset manager oversight of utility
management

–

Insourced property manager on
strategic assets

–

Specialist node property managers
appointed

–

Negotiating medium-term contracts with
suppliers

–

Challenge municipal valuations

–

Focus on cost efficiencies

–

Initiatives to reduce general cost
consumption

–

Focus on electricity-saving initiatives

–

Review of recoveries from tenants

–

Cost inflation arising from
utilities, local councils
(rates) and soft services
(security, cleaning etc.)

Arrears and bad debts

Information technology (IT)
failure

Retention of key staff

Absence of a properly
structured succession plan

–

Possible increased vacancies or shorter leases
if government leasing policies change

LEADERSHIP AND
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–

Reduction of property margins, and erosion of
distributable income growth

–

Failure to recover amounts owing

–

Negative impact on Company’s cash flow

–

Large write-offs/bad debts

–

Cost/income ratio

–

Upfront due diligence on outstanding
debtors prior to acquisition of properties

–

Vigilant credit control by Property
Manager

–

Continued engagement with tenants

–

Tight lease agreements and rigorous
tenant credit checks

–

Deposits and personal sureties

–

Diversification by tenant
and geographical spread

–

Impaired operational ability

–

–

Impact on the Company’s reputation in the
event that the data is not recovered promptly

Daily back-ups of information at an offsite storage facility

–

Support of appropriately skilled IT
personnel

–

Loss of key management impact adversely on
the Company’s ability to implement its strategic
objectives

–

Lack of continuity results in inconsistency and
poor tenant relationships

–

Decline in investor confidence, damaged
morale of remaining employees and reduced
growth prospects for the company with the
loss of key management
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–

Virtualised server environment

–

Retention strategy which encompasses
performance incentives (short term and
long term), remuneration benchmarking,
performance evaluation and personal
development plans

–

Rotation of responsibilities within the
business

–

Key succession planning
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Corporate governance

Delta remains fully committed to the principles of the Code
of Corporate Practices and Conduct set out in King III,
compliance with relevant laws, regulations and best practice
connected with corporate governance and responsible
corporate citizenship. Delta will look to adopt the principles
of King IV once it is finalised.

The charter specifically outlines the Board’s primary function
as determining the Company’s strategy, purpose, values and
stakeholders relevant to the Company’s activities. It requires
the Board to represent and promote the legitimate interests
of the Company and its stakeholders in a manner that is
both ethical and sustainable.

The Directors continue to conduct the enterprise with
integrity and in accordance with generally acceptable
corporate governance practices. This process includes
timely, relevant and meaningful reporting to shareholders
and other stakeholders, providing a proper and objective
perspective of the Company and its activities.

The information needs of the Board are reviewed annually
and directors have unrestricted access to all Company
information, records, documents and property to enable
them to discharge their responsibilities sufficiently.

The mechanisms and policies that are in place and which
are appropriate to the Company’s business are in keeping
with the Board’s commitment to best practices in corporate
governance and ensuring compliance with King III and
relevant laws, regulations and best practice connected with
corporate governance and responsible corporate citizenship.
The Board reviews these from time to time.
The formal steps taken by the directors are summarised
below:

Board of directors
The Board acknowledges that they are ultimately responsible
for the day-to-day management of the Company’s business,
the Company’s strategy and key policies. Delta’s Board
is also responsible for approving financial objectives and
targets. The Board, as a whole, continues to act as the
focal point for and custodian of the Company’s corporate
governance, ensuring that Delta is a responsible corporate
citizen in light of the impact its operations might have on the
environment and the society in which it operates.
The Board acknowledges the importance of identifying
and managing the Company’s risks and the Audit, Risk
and Compliance Committee together with the Executive
Directors were tasked with and have determined the
Company’s risks, the Board has determined their levels of
tolerance associated with these risks and together with
management have ensured that these risks are managed
on an ongoing basis.
The Board believes that the risk management processes
that are in place effectively assist in managing the
Company’s risks. A risk assessment identifying the various
risks together with the associated mitigating measures
appear on pages 25 to 27 of this Integrated Report.
The Board’s charter ensures compliance with the principles
of the King III Report and legislation, as well as South
African accepted standards of best practice. This charter
sets out the Board’s responsibilities for the adoption of
strategic plans, monitoring of operational performance and
management, determination of policy and processes which
ensure the integrity of the Company’s risk management
and internal controls, communication policy and director
selection, orientation and evaluation.
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Efficient and timely methods of informing and briefing Board
members prior to Board meetings have been developed
and are in place and in this regard key risk areas, key
performance areas and non-financial aspects relevant to the
Company have been identified and continue to be monitored.
Directors are afforded information in respect of key
performance indicators, variance reports and industry trends.
Board meetings are held at least quarterly, with additional
meetings convened when circumstances necessitate.
Board appointments are conducted in a formal and
transparent manner by the Board as a whole. They are
free from any dominance of any one particular shareholder.
Meetings of the Board are formally minuted, these include
any meetings at which appointment of directors are
discussed and/or confirmed.
The Board consists of three Executive Directors and six NonExecutive Directors, five of whom are considered independent.
The Board has ensured that there is an appropriate balance
of power and authority on the Board, such that no one
individual or block of individuals can dominate the Board’s
decision-taking. The Non-Executive Directors are individuals
of calibre and credibility and have the necessary skills and
experience to bring judgement to bear independent of
management, on issues of strategy, performance, resources,
transformation, diversity, employment equity, standards of
conduct and evaluation of performance.
The Chairman, JB Magwaza, is a Non-Executive Director
whose role continues to be separate from that of the
CEO, Sandile Nomvete. The Chairman is not considered
to be independent in terms of King III, given that he has
a shareholding in Delta and is a shareholder of the asset
manager. Nooraya Khan has therefore been appointed
as Lead Independent Non-Executive Director. The matter
of the Chairman’s “non-independence” is being reviewed
with the cancellation of the asset management contract
with MPI PAM.
The responsibilities of the Chairman and CEO, and those of
other Executive and Non-Executive Directors, remain clearly
separated to ensure a balance of power and prevent any
one director from exercising unfettered powers of decisionmaking. The Chairman continues to provide leadership to
the Board in all deliberations ensuring independent input,
and oversees its efficient operation. The CEO, COO and
CFO continue to be responsible for proposing, updating,
implementing and maintaining the strategic direction of

The Board in conjunction with the Company’s Sponsor have
established a formal orientation programme which enables
any new incoming directors to familiarise themselves with
the Company’s operations, senior management and its
business environment, and to induct them in their fiduciary
duties and responsibilities. New directors with no or limited
Board experience will receive development and education
to inform them of their duties, responsibilities, powers and
potential liabilities.
The Board appraises the Chairman’s performance on an
annual basis.
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee, which has
been appointed by the Board, appraises the performance of
the CEO, COO and CFO at least annually.
All directors will be subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election by shareholders at least once every three years
in accordance with the MOI.
The Board continues with its practice of annually reviewing
its overall performance to identify areas for improvement in
the discharge of its functions.
The current size and composition of the Board and its
various committees are considered appropriate for the size
of the Company. A brief curriculum vitae of each director is
set out on pages 20 and 21 of this Integrated Report.
The Board’s policy for detailing the manner in which
a director’s interest in transactions is determined
and the interested director’s involvement in the decisionmaking process is circulated annually to the Board. The
Board are reminded at each Investment Committee and
Board meeting of their ongoing obligations in terms of
declaring any interests.
The Board continues to set the strategic objectives of the
Company and determine the investment and performance
criteria as well as assuming responsibility for the proper
management, control, compliance and ethical behaviour
of the businesses under its direction.
The Board has a number of committees to give detailed
attention to certain of its responsibilities and which operate
within defined, written terms of reference. The delegated
responsibilities in terms of certain functions to the Audit,
Risk and Compliance Committee, the Remuneration and
Nomination Committee, the Transformation, Social, Ethics
and Sustainability Committee and the Investment Committee,
remain unchanged. The Board is conscious of the fact that
such delegation of duties is not an abdication of the Board
members’ responsibilities. The various committees’ terms
of reference are reviewed annually.
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External advisors and Executive Directors who are
not members of specific committees are invited to
attend committee meetings by invitation, if deemed
appropriate by the relevant Committees.
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Delta as well as ensuring controlled operations. In this
regard, they are assisted by the senior management of
the asset manager.

The Board has considered the independence of the
Non-Executive Directors and believe they are independent.

Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (AR&C
Committee) comprises Nooraya Khan (Chairman),
Ian Macleod and Paul Simpson.
The AR&C Committee’s primary objectives remain
unchanged and are set out in the Companies Act and in
addition is to provide the Board with additional assurance
regarding the efficacy and reliability of the financial
information used by the directors to assist them in the
discharge of their duties.
The AR&C Committee has and will continue to provide
satisfaction to the Board that adequate and appropriate
financial and operating controls are in place, that significant
business, financial and other risks have been identified and
are being suitably managed, and that satisfactory standards
of governance, reporting and compliance are in operation.
This Committee is appointed by the Shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting.
Refer to the AR&C Committee report on pages 54 and 55.

Remuneration and Nomination Committee
The Board’s Remuneration and Nomination Committee
(R&N Committee) comprises JB Magwaza (Chairman),
Dumo Motau and Jorge Da Costa. Nooray Khan as LID
remains an invitee on this Committee until such time as the
new Board appointments are finalised and the Committee’s
composition is addressed.
The R&N Committee continues to be responsible for
reviewing the Board composition and structures, including
the size and composition of the various Board committees
and considering whether there is an appropriate split
between executive, non-executive and independent
directors. This Committee also assists in the identification
and nomination of new directors and is responsible for
the appropriate induction and training of directors and
conducting annual performance reviews of the Board and
various Board committees. The R&N Committee is also
responsible for ensuring the proper and effective functioning
of the Board and assists the Chairman in this regard.
The Committee further has the responsibility and authority
to consider and make recommendations to the Board on,
inter alia, the Remuneration Policy of the Company, the
payment of performance bonuses, executive remuneration,
short-, medium- and long-term incentive schemes and
employee retention schemes.
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Corporate governance

(continued)

The R&N Committee uses external market surveys and
benchmarks to determine Executive Directors’ remuneration
and benefits as well as Non-Executive Directors’ base fees
and attendance fees. Delta’s Remuneration philosophy is
to structure remuneration packages in such a way that
long- and short-term incentives are aimed at achieving
business objectives and the delivery of shareholder value.
The Committee took cognisance of the shareholder vote
on the non-binding resolution at the last AGM and is in the
process of reviewing certain of the Remuneration matters,
some of the details of which are included in the Remuneration
Report and in the resolutions proposed in the notice of the
AGM. The R&N Committee anticipates finalising all these
changes in the 2016 financial year.
The R&N Committee met four times prior to the end of the
financial year.
Refer to the R&N Committee report on pages 42 to 48.

Investment Committee
The Board’s Investment Committee (the Committee)
comprises Jorge Da Costa (Chairman), Nooraya Khan,
Ian Macleod and Paul Simpson. The Committee continues to
be constituted so as to ensure independence, objectivity and
industry expertise.
The Committee’s role continues to be to recommend
appropriate investment strategies and guidelines to the
Board to ensure that Delta’s investments are in line with
the Group’s Investment Policy, overall strategy and vision as
approved by the Board.
The Committee also recommends and effects acquisitions
and disposals within the approved investment policy and
authority limits, and ensures that appropriate due diligence
procedures are followed when acquiring or disposing
of assets.
The Committee’s intention is to meet at least four times
a year to consider acquisitions and disposal of assets in
line with the Group’s overall strategy and recommends
investment strategies and guidelines to the Board to
ensure appropriate investment of shareholder funds.
The Committee met nine times prior to the end of the
financial year.

Transformation, Social, Ethics and
Sustainability Committee
The Board’s Transformation, Social, Ethics and Sustainability
Committee (the Committee) comprises Dumo Motau
(Chairman), JB Magwaza, Bronwyn Corbett and
Sandra Mqina.
The Committee continues to monitor the Company’s
activities, having regard to any relevant legislation, other
legal requirements and prevailing codes of best practice,
in respect of social and economic development, good
corporate citizenship (including the promotion of equality,
prevention of unfair discrimination, the environment, health
and public safety, and the impact of the Company’s activities
and of its services), stakeholder relationships and labour and
employment issues.
This Committee has formalised the required ethical
standards in dealings with all stakeholder groups, including
suppliers, tenants, business partners, government,
communities and society at large.
Delta continues to be committed to promoting the highest
standards of ethical behaviour amongst all persons involved
in the Group’s operations and continues to adopt a Code of
Conduct and Ethics Policy for the Company. The Company
has zero tolerance for the committing or concealment of
fraudulent acts by employees, contractors or suppliers.
All employees are inducted into the code and policy and are
expected to subscribe to and fully comply. Any contravention
will be dealt with through formal disciplinary procedures.
The Committee further advises the Board on relevant
aspects that may have a significant impact on the longterm sustainability of the Company and which influence the
Company’s triple bottom line reporting.
The Committee also draws to the attention of the Board,
matters within its mandate and reports to the shareholders
at the Company’s AGM on such matters.
In order to carry out its functions, the Committee is entitled
to request information from any directors or employees
of the Company, attend and be heard at shareholders’
meetings, and receives notices in respect of such meetings.
Delta has outsourced its asset management and property
management services. The Board has ensured that these
managers have adopted appropriately aligned corporate
citizenship policies.
The Board has considered the impact of its property holding
business on the environment, society and the economy.
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Attendance at meetings during the financial year

Attendees:
JB Magwaza (Chair)*
Sandile Nomvete (CEO)
Bronwyn Corbett (CFO/COO)
Paul Simpson#
Jorge Da Costa#
Nooraya Khan# LID
Dumo Motau#
Ian Macleod#
Sandra Mqina
#
*
LI
I
y

6(7)
7(7)
l
7(7)
l
6(7)
y
6(7)
7(7) Chair
2(2)
2(2)
y

5(5)
5(5)
5(5)
5(5)
1(1)

Investment
Committee

I
I
y
Chair
y
y

9(9)
9(9)
8(9)
8(9)
9(9)

Transformation,
Remuneration
Social, Ethics
and Nomination and Sustainability
Committee
Committee

Chair
I
I

4(4)
4(4)
4(4)

y

4(4)

y

0(0)

y
I
y

2(2)
2(2)
2(2)

Chair
Chair

1(1)
1(1)

4(4)
y

2(2)

Independent Non-Executive.
Non-Executive.
Lead Independent Director.
Invited to attend.
Member of the Committee.

Dumo Motau – appointed to the Board on
05 November 2014, appointed to the Remuneration
and Nomination Committee and as Chairman of the
Transformation, Social, Ethics and Sustainability Committee
on 26 February 2015.
Ian Macleod – appointed to the Board, the Audit, Risk and
Compliance Committee and the Investment Committee on
05 November 2014.
Nooraya Khan – resigned off the Transformation, Social,
Ethics and Sustainability Committee on 26 February 2015.
Ipeleng Mkhari – resigned on 12 September 2014, she
attended all Board and Committee meetings whilst a
director.
Karl Schmidt – retired 02 October 2014, he attended all
Board and Committee meetings whilst a director.
Refer to the Sustainability report on page 38 and the
Transformation report on page 39.

Directors’ dealings, professional advice and
conflicts of interest
The Company’s policy of prohibiting dealings by directors
and certain other managers in periods immediately
preceding the announcement of its interim and year-end
financial results, any period while the Company is trading
under cautionary announcement and at any other time
deemed necessary by the Board, remain in place. The policy
continues to be managed by the Company Secretary with
the persons authorised to clear directors for trading in open
periods being the Chairman and in his absence (or in the
case of any potential conflict) the Lead Independent Director.
The Board has established a procedure for directors,
in furtherance of their duties, to take independent
professional advice, if necessary, at the Company’s expense.
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All directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary.
The Board has also established a procedure for the
directors to guard against any potential conflicts of interest.
Directors are required on an annual basis to submit written
declarations of interests and directorships to the Company
Secretary. At each meeting of the Investment Committee
and the Board, directors confirm any changes to their
interests. Should there be any potential and/or deemed
conflicts they are immediately addressed and appropriate
action is taken.

Director’s interest in contracts
During the year under review a matter was brought to the
Board’s attention around alleged misconduct of a director
of Delta. The Board reviewed the allegations and agreed to
the performance of a governance review by an independent
legal advisor (Bowman Gilfillan). The Board assessed
the outcome of that review and in consultation with the
Company’s Sponsors and the JSE, concluded that Delta had
no reporting obligation under section 34 of Prevention and
Combating of Corrupt Activities Act No 12 of 2004 (PACCA)
due to the fact that the amount was not deemed material.
The recommendation from the governance review, being
an undisclosed conflict of interest was that a disciplinary
process be followed. The Board took the appropriate
disciplinary action.
The Company’s Auditors, BDO, took independent legal
advice on the matter in order to determine as to whether
it was deemed a Reportable Irregularity as per the
Auditing Professions Act, No 26 of 2005 (APA) and
thereby triggering the processes in section 45 of the
APA. The opinion received confirmed that the matter
was a Reportable Irregularity and as such section 45
of the APA was triggered.
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Corporate governance

(continued)

The Auditors accordingly reported in the Company’s results
announcement that “a director of the company did not
declare his personal financial interest in a transaction as
required by section 75 of the Companies Act. We have
reason to believe that the director has contravened section
75 of the Companies Act and his common law duty as
agent of the Company to avoid a conflict of interest”. They
confirmed that they were satisfied that the matter had been
adequately resolved.
As at the date of this report the Board is comfortable they
have adequately discharged their responsibilities and that
this matter has been appropriately dealt with.
In light of the above, the Board has reviewed their various
governance documents and are comfortable that the various
policies and processes address the requisite obligations and
duties of the directors. A formal ongoing information sharing
program is in the process of being finalised for the Board.

Directors’ Interest in contracts
The Company has entered into the following contracts,
in which certain directors have a material interest:

Asset Management
MPI PAM, a company owned by JB Magwaza and entities
controlled by Sandile Nomvete and Ipeleng Mkhari, is the
appointed asset manager of Delta. The fee payable by Delta
to MPI PAM for all asset management and operational
management services is a monthly fee of 1/12 of 0.45%
of the aggregate of the market capitalisation and the
borrowings of Delta (Enterprise Value), where the Enterprise
Value is less than R4 billion. Where the Enterprise Value is
equal to or more than R4 billion but less than R5 billion, the
fee shall equal an amount 1/12 of 0.40% of the Enterprise
Value. Where the Enterprise Value is equal to or more than
R5 billion, the fee shall equal an amount 1/12 of 0.35%
of the Enterprise Value.
This contract has however been cancelled and
these interests are no longer applicable, effective
01 September 2015.

The Company Secretary
Paula Nel, a suitably qualified, competent and experienced
Company Secretary has been appointed and appropriately
empowered to fulfil duties and provide assistance to the
Board. The Company Secretary is not a director of the
Company and has an arm’s length relationship with the
Board, who can also remove her from office.
The Company Secretary continues to provide the Board as
a whole and directors individually with detailed guidance as
to how their responsibilities should be properly discharged
in the best interests of the Company. She also provides
a central source of guidance and advice to the Board,
and within the Company, on matters of ethics and good
corporate governance. The Company Secretary is subjected
to an annual evaluation by the Board.
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The Board is satisfied with the expertise, experience,
competence and qualifications of the Company Secretary
and confirms that the relationship between the Board and
the Company Secretary remains at arm’s length.

Special resolutions
AGM 02 October 2014
Special resolution number 1
Approval of remuneration payable to Non-Executive Directors
for the financial year ending 28 February 2015.
Special resolution number 2
Granting general authority to repurchase issued shares.
Special resolution number 3
Granting of financial assistance in terms of section 45 of the
Companies Act of South Africa.
Shareholders meeting 02 October 2014
Special resolution number 1
Delinking of Delta no par value shares and Delta debentures
Special resolution number 2
Cancellation of Delta debentures and the termination of the
debenture trust deed
Special resolution number 3
Capitalisation of Delta debentures to form part of Delta’s
stated capital account
Special resolution number 4
Amendment of Delta’s existing MOI
Debenture holders meeting 02 October 2014
Special resolution number 1
Amendment of the debenture trust deed
Special resolution number 2
Delinking of the Delta no par value shares and
Delta debentures
Special resolution number 3
Cancellation of the Delta debentures and the termination of
the debenture trust deed
Special resolution number 4
Capitalisation of Delta debentures to form part of Delta’s
stated capital account

Legal and compliance
The Board ensures that all legal and legislation-related
matters are addressed at each Board meeting and,
specifically, that all new legislation which affects the
Company is discussed in detail.
Delta continues to expand the checklist of requirements to
incorporate all the requirements of the King III Report and
the Companies Act, amongst others, and continues to strive
for full compliance.
The Board endorses the Code of Corporate Practices and
Conduct as contained and recommended in King III and the
JSE Listings Requirements.

Management is satisfied that the proper governance
structures exist and are operational within the Fund, and it
is their intention to implement, on a prioritised basis, the
procedural recommendations that have emanated from
the King III Report as well as legislative changes. They have
completed the King III Compliance Checklist included as
Annexure A to this report.
For the 2015 financial year, with the exception of those
items outlined below, management hereby confirms that the
Fund has complied with King III.

Note 1
The Chairman of the Board is required to be an Independent
Non‐Executive Director. JB Magwaza was appointed
Non‐Executive Chairman on listing 02 November 2012 and
his shareholding in the Fund is not considered material so
he is deemed to be independent. In this respect, however,
he is classified as non-independent due to his interest in
MPI PAM. The Board is of the view that his experience and
business skills would far outweigh any perceived lack of

independence. In addition Nooraya Khan is appointed Lead
Independent Director. The classification of the Chairman’s
“non-independence” is to be revisited with the cancellation of
the MPI PAM asset management contract.

Note 2
On finalisation of the Integrated Report a full Board
evaluation as well as the various Committee evaluations are
completed at the meetings in June/July.

Note 3
Compliance with laws, codes, rules and standards – based
on the compliance “universe” that has been identified and
approved by the Board, management have established
the various levels of compliance and are in the process of
formally identifying various policies and procedures that are
in place to ensure this ongoing compliance. The Board does
have an understanding of the relevance and implications
of non-compliance. Compliance with the JSE Listings
Requirements, Companies Act and Tax Act are in place.

Note 4
As the Chairman is deemed non-independent, the LID is a
permanent invitee to the Committee. The Board is in the
process of considering further Board appointments, following
which the composition of the Committee will be revisited to
ensure compliance.

Block G
Pretoria
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The Board strives to ensure that the interests of all the
Fund’s stakeholders are properly protected and that
adherence to the principles of good corporate governance
espoused by King III remains a commitment of the Group. It
is the intention of all directors that the principles of integrity
and the highest ethical standards are upheld by all who serve
the Fund and its stakeholders.

LEADERSHIP AND GOVERNANCE

King III Compliance review

ANNEXURE A
King III checklist
Key: √ Compliant # partially compliant ‡ under review
Ethical leadership and corporate citizenship

Note

Effective leadership based on an ethical foundation

√

Fund is seen as a responsible corporate citizen

√

Effective management of the Company’s ethics

√

Assurance statement on ethics in Integrated Report

√

Board and directors
The Board is the focal point for and the custodian of corporate governance

√

Board appreciates that strategy, risk, performance and sustainability are inseparable

√

Directors act in the best interest of the Company

√

The Chairman of the Board is an independent non‐executive director

1

The CEO has been appointed

√

Framework for the delegation of authority has been established

√

The Board comprises a balance of power, with a majority of non‐executive independent directors

√

Directors are appointed through a formal process

√

Formal induction and ongoing training of directors is conducted

√

The Board is assisted by a competent, suitably qualified and experienced Company Secretary

√

Regular performance evaluation of the Board, its committees and the individual directors

2

A governance framework has been agreed between the Group and the Subsidiary Boards

N/A

Appointment of well‐structured committees and an oversight of key functions

√

Directors and executives are remunerated fairly and responsibly

√

Remuneration of directors and certain senior executives is disclosed

√

The Company’s Remuneration Policy is approved by its shareholders

√

√

√

Audit Committee [Audit, Risk and Compliance (AR&C) Committee]
Effective and independent

2

Members are suitably skilled and experienced independent, Non‐Executive Directors

√

Chaired by an independent Non‐Executive Director

√

Oversees integrated reporting

√

Ensure a combined assurance model is applied to optimise assurance activities

3

Satisfies itself of the expertise, resources and experience of the Company’s finance function

√

Oversees Internal Audit

√

Recommends the appointment of the external auditors

√

Integral to the risk management process

√

Oversees the external audit process

√

Reports to the Board and shareholders on how it has discharged its duties

√
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The governance of risk

Note

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and setting levels of risk tolerance

√

The AR&C Committee assists the Board in carrying out its risk responsibilities

√

The Board delegates the risk management plan to management (including design, implementation and
monitoring)

√

The Board ensures that risk assessments and monitoring are performed on a continual basis

√

Frameworks and methodologies are implemented to increase the probability of anticipating unpredictable
risks

√

Ensures management considers and implements appropriate risk responses

√

Ensures continual risk monitoring by management

√

The Board receives assurance on the effectiveness of the risk management process

√

Ensures sufficient, timeously risk disclosure to stakeholders

√

The governance of information technology (IT)
The Board is responsible for IT governance

√

IT is aligned with the performance and sustainability objectives of the Company

√

Management is responsible for the implementation of an IT governance framework

√

The Board monitors and evaluates significant IT investment and expenditure

√

IT is an integral part of the Company’s risk management

√

IT assets are managed effectively

√

The AR&C Committee assists the Board in carrying out its IT responsibilities

√

Compliance with laws, codes, rules and standards
The Board ensures that the Company complies with applicable laws

√

The Board and directors have a working understanding of the relevance and implications of non‐compliance

3

Compliance risk forms an integral part of the Company’s risk management process

√

The Board has delegated to management the implementation of an effective compliance framework and
processes

√

#

Internal audit
Ensure effective risk-based internal audit

√

The internal audit function is independent of management

√

Internal Audit provides a written assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal
control and risk management

√

AR&C Committee oversees internal audit

√

Internal audit is strategically positioned to achieve its objectives

√

Remuneration and Nomination Committee
The Chairman of the Committee is an independent non‐executive director
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King III compliance review

(continued)

Governing stakeholder relationships

Note

Appreciates that stakeholders’ perceptions affect a Company’s reputation

√

Delegates management to proactively deal with stakeholder relationships

√

Strives for an appropriate balance between the various stakeholder groupings

√

Ensures equitable treatment of shareholders

√

Transparent and effective communication with stakeholders is essential

√

Ensures disputes are resolved effectively and timeously

√

Integrated reporting and disclosure
The Board ensures the integrity of the Company’s Integrated Report

√

Sustainability reporting and disclosure is integrated with the Company’s financial reporting

√

Sustainability reporting and disclosure is independently assured

√

Stakeholder engagement
Delta is fully committed to the principles of the Code of
Corporate Practices and Conduct set out in King III. Delta
has adopted a stakeholder-inclusive approach to corporate
governance.
In so doing, the directors recognise the need to conduct the
enterprise with integrity and in accordance with generally
acceptable corporate practices. This includes timely,
relevant and meaningful reporting to shareholders and other
stakeholders, providing a proper and objective perspective of the
Company and its activities.
The directors have, accordingly, established mechanisms and
policies appropriate to the Company’s business in keeping with
its commitment to best practices in corporate governance in
order to ensure compliance with King III. The Board will review
these from time to time.
The directors recognise that creating wealth and delivering value
to all stakeholders are prerequisites for sustainability of the
business as a going concern.
Delta is committed to reporting openly on the key issues
affecting the Company’s operations, its corporate governance
practices and any other information which may have a material
effect on the decisions of stakeholders. The directors are
cognisant that stakeholder perception may have an impact on
the reputation of the Company and, as such, the Board, as
the ultimate custodian of corporate reputation and stakeholder
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relationships, considers a blend of shareholder and stakeholder
interests in the context of its overarching duty to act in the best
interests of the Company.
Management engages with analysts and shareholders on a
regular basis to ascertain expectations and perceptions of the
Company. They also take particular responsibility for managing
the relationship with the Department of Public Works, as
government is a major tenant in Delta’s commercial property
portfolio.
Delta is a member of SAPOA and the IPD.
The Company manages its capital to ensure that it will
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
the stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt equity
balance. The capital structure of the Company consists of equity
attributable to equity holders, comprising issued capital and
retained earnings.

Engagement

Shareholders and investors

•

Annual general meetings

•

Annual and interim reports

•

Results presentations

•

Continuous one-on-one meetings with investors and analysts

•

Roadshows

•

Media announcements

•

SENS

•

Website updates

•

Compliant and transparent reporting

•

One-on-one meetings between management and funders

•

Cash flow and solvency forecasts

•

Report to financial stakeholders

•

Monitoring of key financial ratios

•

Interest rates fixed between three and five years through fixed rate contracts

•

Property visits

•

Ongoing negotiations with bankers and financiers to secure better rates and conditions

•

Consideration of alternative sources of capital by the Board and corporate advisors

Banks and financiers

Tenants

Suppliers/service providers
Employees

Media

•

Integrated Report

•

Government – management liaises regularly with the Department of Public Works

•

Regular site visits

•

Formal communication via email and letters

•

Management meetings with senior staff of all major tenants

•

Supplier performance is monitored regularly

•

Tenders are awarded based on price and quality

•

Performance and development reviews

•

Direct communication

•

Open door policy by CEO, COO and CFO

•

Flat reporting structure

•

Press releases

•

Television interviews

•

One-on-one meetings

•

Invitation to presentations

Regulatory bodies

•

Regular contact with JSE and SARS

National government

•

Engaging with government at national, provincial, council and local levels

•

Regulatory submissions

•

Corporate social investment

•

Constructive and transparent engagement

•

Memberships of SAPOA and IPD

•

Relationships

•

Events

Communities
Industry bodies
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Sustainability

Inner city rejuvenation
As a sovereign underpinned fund, Delta
continues to entrench its position as a
landlord of choice in nodes attractive to
government and empowerment sensitive
tenants.
Infrastructure upgrades continue to
support inner city resurgence, and
Delta’s efforts in engaging other major
landlords, tenants and stakeholders
around infrastructure development such
as parking, security and cleanliness are
bearing fruit.

KwaZulu-Natal (Durban CBD)
The strategy involves key tenants who,
as a result of the rejuvenation, have
returned to the CBD or have extended
their leases. One such example is Delta’s
R156.0 million parking development
at the CMH building located at
192 West Street, Durban CBD.
The upgrade involves creating an extra
three levels of parking in the building,
totalling 450 bays once complete. In
addition to serving the needs of CMH,
these additional facilities will also alleviate
parking pressure for key tenants in
adjacent buildings owned by Delta, which
are connected to CMH by means of
a walkway.
CMH has equally invested significantly
in the node and consolidated its brand
new, state-of-the-art Datcentre dealership
in the West Street building, which also
houses its First Car Rental Durban branch
and administrative head office. Their
lease has subsequently been extended
to 15 years on completion of the project
which is expected around October 2015.
Negotiations with the Durban council
regarding its involvement in environmental
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management and security continues.
Delta plans on launching an exciting
educational awareness campaign around
its role in the Durban CBD rejuvenation.
Although this would constitute a marketing
drive and therefore forms part of the
marketing budget, the Fund believes that
increased awareness will support the
sustainability of the node going forward.

Apart from the CMH building discussed
above, the following capital projects with
an environmental impact were in progress
during the year under review:

NPA building, 115 Buitengracht
Street, Cape Town
•

Air conditioning refurbishment

•

Installation of solar panels

Tshwane
(City of Pretoria CBD)

•

General and tenant refurbishment to
interior and exterior

Delta’s engagement with other significant
landlords in the CBD regarding common
areas and various assets are progressing
and is expected to be formalised in the
current financial year.

88 Field Street, Durban

Johannesburg CBD
As mentioned in the prior year’s report,
Delta acquired a number of single
tenanted assets in the Johannesburg CBD
during that year. Some of these assets
had existing strategic alliances with
regard to inner city rejuvenation, safety
and security in place. During the year
under review, Delta continued building on
these alliances and expanded it to other
assets in the node.

Environmental management
A number of refurbishments are under
way, with specific focus on energy
optimisation such as more efficient air
conditioning systems, lifts and escalators
as well as the installation of solar
panels at the NPA building, located at
115 Buitengracht Street in Cape Town.
Additional refurbishment principles include
the use of natural light and air circulation,
water reticulation and energy efficient
lighting, where possible.

•

Refurbishment of six lifts

•

Air conditioning refurbishment

•

General and tenant refurbishment to
interior and exterior

Embassy building, Durban CBD
•

Phase 1 of refurbishment to four lifts

Corporate social initiatives
During the year under review, Delta
formalised its Social Economic
Development Strategy (SED Strategy).
The CSI committee, consisting of Nooraya
Khan (Chairman, resigned October 2014),
JB Magwaza, Sandra Mqina, Dumo
Motau (appointed Chairman October
2014) and Bronwyn Corbett, continues
to monitor the Company’s activities in this
regard and is responsible for formalising
the required ethical standards and policies
in dealing with all stakeholder groups and
society at large.
Delta’s focus remains on the areas where
it believes it can make the biggest impact,
being education, women empowerment
and enterprise development of Level 1
to 4 B-BBEE contributors.

Transformation

Focus

on the lives of rape victims and their families. Emotional
support is provided, through counselling with the intention of
empowering all those affected by rape. The Foundation also
educates and raises awareness in the community on issues
of rape.

The total SED spend in the year under review amounted to
approximately R1.5 million (FY2014: R0.8 million).
During the year under review, Delta continued with its strategic
partnerships in specific focus areas including education,
women empowerment in the property sector and the support
of various charities and drives co-opting staff, suppliers and
other stakeholders.
In some instances hampers, cash or goods were donated, and in
other instances contributions were made in the form of time and
company/staff participation.

During the year under review, Delta contributed a total of
R30 000 to the Foundation’s fund raising ball and hosted
a motivational talk by Jes Foord for female staff and other
invitees from the property sector.

Alison motivational talk (R12 000)
•

Education and women empowerment
Ndukwenhle High School media centres update
•

In January 2014, Delta furnished a media centres at the
school and provided additional security monitoring for
the students. We are very pleased to report that the media
centre has seen the students excel further with their studies.
The school was also awarded the certificate for Most
Improved School and achieved an Outstanding Performance
and with the attainment of second position in Mathematics
2014 in the Umlazi District.

Alison speaks of the brutally cruel torture to which she
was subjected and how she has overcome the challenge of
that experience by applying her own ABC -– Attitude, Belief
and Choice.
Delta contributed R12 000 and hosted a motivational talk
by Alison for female staff and other female invitees from the
property sector.

Women’s Property Network (WPN) bursary and “Meet
the CEO” (R510 973)
•

Delta continued its sponsorship of the WPN Education Trust
during the year under review. The Trust has been in existence
since 2008 and its primary goal is the promotion of the role
women play in the property sector.

Property charter career insights (R15 000)
•

The Property Charter Career Week’s objectives is to create
interest about property to high school learners and create a
one-stop shop for learners to learn more about the industry
and also share with them the various available career options
in the property sector and to create a platform where the
learners have an opportunity to understand more about
the property sector by engaging with the professionals in
the industry.

•

The target is grade 10 and 11 learners from township high
schools.

•

Delta contributed towards the transport costs for the event.

•

Delta also had one of its senior asset managers as a speaker
at the career week.

The Trust identifies and supports female students, (mostly
from disadvantaged backgrounds) who are studying towards
property related qualifications through bursaries.
Through Delta’s involvement the Trust’s support has been
expanded to include mentorship programmes, including the
“Meet the CEO” programme, allowing bursary students to
obtain practical on-the-job-experience.
During the review period, a total in excess of R500 000 was
pledged to the Trust for Bursaries.

Jes Foord Foundation (JFF) motivational talk and ball
(R30 000)
•

The Jes Foord Foundation was formed by rape survivor
Jes Foord. Her vision and mission is to create centres that
will assist in reducing the debilitating effect that rape has
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Alison has been making appearances on the professional
speaking circuit for several years. Her aim to ‘make a
difference’ has been overwhelming as she has spoken to
countless people which include large business corporations,
women and social groups as well as several schools. She
has addressed international audiences in over 20 different
countries including the USA, Australia, Europe, Asia and
Africa.

Nokuphila school (R50 000)
•

The school is situated on the border of Thembisa and Ivory
Park in Gauteng. Children are admitted to the school based
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inner city resurgence,
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engaging other major
landlords, tenants and
stakeholders around
infrastructure
development
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Transformation

(continued)

on their vulnerability and the willingness of the children’s
caregivers to participate in the life of the school.
•

During the year under review, Delta donated school
suitcases, stationery and miscellaneous items to each child,
to the total value of R50 000.

In-house learnerships and job shadowing (R2 400)
•

Delta had an opportunity to host two students on a job
shadowing/learner/vac work opportunities.

•

The aim is to expose them to the working environment, give
them more information about the different careers within the
industry and ideas on which classes they should take at high
school level in order to follow specific property careers.

•

The two students that were hosted were in the legal and
finance departments within Delta and one of them being our
own bursary recipient through WPN.

Christmas hampers for Nokuphila School (R10 000)
•

Love Trust is a non-profit organisation established in early
2009 to serve vulnerable children and their communities.

•

One of their flagship projects is Nokuphila School, which
was mentioned earlier in the report.

•

Combined with generous support and donations, we were
able to bless the school with supplies that they desperately
needed as well as a cash cheque of nearly R30 000 and
each and every child (221 in total) received a gift for
themselves to take home for Christmas.

Conquistar Foundation (R32 652)
•

The Foundation was formed in August 2013 with the
objective to enhance the quality of life for all.

•

In October 2014, the Foundation held its annual golf day
which was sponsored by Improvon. The day was a huge
success and the foundation is now in a position to assist
individuals in the community.

•

The Foundation has set up a process that individuals can
apply for assistance whether it is financial, medical or any
other aid that we might be able to help. There are certain
criteria requirements that need to be provided, not only
does this processes identify the needs of the person but also
provides us a clear indication about what is required from the
Foundation.

Charity
During the year under review, Delta co-opted staff, suppliers and
other stakeholders to support various charitable causes. These
included donations in the form of goods, time or funding as well
as mass participation events in which staff participated for a
broader cause:

Easter hampers for Afrika Tikkun (R6 000)
•

•

Afrika Tikkun provides essential services that strengthen
families and develop children from “Cradle to Career”. They
aim to give underprivileged children a solid start in life, by
identifying certain core needs. The essentials that Afrika
Tikkun provides address the educational, health and social
needs of children as they are growing and developing, giving
them the opportunity to grow into well-rounded adults who
are equipped to positively contribute to society.
The Delta team and service providers collected over
4 480 Easter eggs and 280 soft toys which allowed the
team to make up 280 Easter hampers for the Afrika Tikkun
Early Development Centre. Delta also hosted a party with
the children at their centre in Diepsloot.

Discovery 702 Walk the Talk (R51 590) and Casual
Day (R400)
•

Bandanna Day (R1 350)
•

Standard Bank Charity Golf Day (in aid of Women
and Men Against Child Abuse) (R30 500)
•

Delta participates in this annual event, which is arranged by
Standard Bank.

The New Forest Congregation Church is a spiritually dynamic,
community oriented church that is sensitive to the needs of
the disadvantage members of the community.

•

The church has been involved in outreach activities for
the past six years and seeks to instil positive values of life,
empower vulnerable members of the community and nurture
feelings of hope, mutual love and respect.

•
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The projects are ongoing and inclusive of the local community
at Montclair, Woodlands, Yellowood Park as well as
neighbouring townships in KwaZulu-Natal.

In aid of The Sunflower Fund, which aims to educate and
recruit a viable source of well-informed potential bone
marrow and stem cell donors who are ethnically diverse, in
an effort to save the lives of those needing a transplant when
suffering from life-threatening blood disorders. It strives to
maintain the associated donor records of the South African
Bone Marrow Registry.

Osizweni Community Garden (R35 000)
•

Osizweni community care centre supports 284 poor
households where there are orphans and vulnerable children
infected and/or affected by HIV and Aids in Ennerdale and
surrounding areas. The need for a base from which to
operate and to consolidate the work in the community is
critical. Children remain in their shacks in the predominantly
informal settlement communities, without the pain of being
institutionalised or placed in a children’s home.

•

Osizweni Centre also serves as a job creating centre for the
community members where 20 local people are employed to
run the centre. Different local government departments also
recruit from the centre, hence creating more jobs for the
beneficiaries.

New Forest Church Social Outreach Project
(R500 000)
•

In aid of various charities and charity bonds, as well as an
awareness of South Africa’s road to democracy and persons
with disabilities.

•
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There is a community food garden where the orphans’
guardians get training to start their own home food gardens.
A total of 200 households have been supported and provided
with tools from the Department of Agriculture to start
individual home food gardens.

Transformation
Subsequent to the 2015 financial year-end, Delta received
shareholder approval to appoint a new asset management
company.
In an industry first, the new asset management company will by
wholly-owned by a trust to be established for the benefit of its
black employees. The new asset management company will also
employ the staff of the previous incumbent.
None of the existing shareholders of the current service provider
will be beneficiaries of the trust, Delta will look to ensure that
the new asset management company trust complies with the
requirements of the Department of Public Works for purposes
of its leases with the Fund.
Delta believes that the new asset manager will retain the
corporate memory required to manage Delta’s growing
portfolio, whilst providing job certainty for staff. In addition, the
appointment of the new asset management company is unique in
the sector and makes Delta’s vision of being a leader in broadbased empowerment and transformation in the sector tangible.

Procurement and enterprise development
As mentioned in its previous reports, Delta procures from
suppliers with a Level 1 to Level 4 B-BBEE contribution rating,
micro-enterprises, 100% black-owned or majority female-owned
businesses.
These targets are reported and monitored on a monthly basis.
As highlighted under “Transformation” above, Delta remains
supportive and committed to the Department of Public Works’
(DPW’s) Incubator programme, established to create an
enabling environment within which selected existing contracting
enterprises can develop sustainability, through steady access to
work opportunities and support of growing enterprises through
a structured mentorship-centred enterprise development
programme.
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Remuneration and Nomination
Committee report
Letter from the Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee
Dear Shareholder,
It is with pleasure that I present to you Delta’s remuneration report for the year ended 28 February 2015.
This report sets out Delta’s Remuneration Policy (Part 1), which continues to evolve since our listing in November 2012, as well as the
remuneration awarded (Part 2) for the current year under review to Sandile Nomvete as CEO of the Fund and Bronwyn Corbett as the
CFO and COO of the Fund. Part 1 of this report will be put to a non-binding advisory vote at the 2015 AGM.
As in the previous year, the only staff members in the direct employ of Delta were the CEO and CFO. All asset management staff are
employed by the asset management company, MPI PAM. The asset management company’s performance continues to be closely
monitored by Delta.
I am pleased to announce the appointment of Greg Booyens as CFO with effect from 01 July 2015. This appointment was necessary
in light of the continued growth of the Fund and to balance the portfolios of the executives, allowing Bronwyn Corbett to concentrate on
the COO/CIO roles.
The 2014 non-binding vote on the Remuneration Policy did not carry the support of a majority of shareholders voting at the AGM.
Delta is sensitive to the views of its shareholders and consequently the Committee embarked on a process to update its Remuneration
Policy and short-term incentive plan as well as to make improvements to the contents disclosed in this remuneration report. The
Committee has consulted various stakeholders and taken their input into account in making these improvements. As we alluded to in
the previous year’s remuneration report, we are also reviewing proposals to introduce a long-term incentive plan for the forthcoming
financial year.
This year’s remuneration report has therefore been designed to disclose Delta’s updated remuneration approach for the forthcoming
financial year and the remuneration outcomes for the two executives in a transparent yet easy to understand manner. In particular, we
will endeavour to provide improved disclosure of the performance criteria that determine the short-term incentive awards.
The Remuneration Committee approved and recommended this remuneration report to the Board on 29 June 2015.

JB Magwaza
Chairperson
17 July 2015

Mayor’s Walk
Pietermaritzburg
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Part 1: The Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee

•

•

remuneration of the executives and the staff of its asset
manager is competitive and stimulates sustainable
performance and behaviours that create shared value over
the long term; and
the Board composition and structures are appropriate,
including the size and composition of the various Board
committees and considering whether there is an appropriate
split between executive, non-executive and independent
directors.

The terms of reference of the Committee is reviewed annually by
the Board and is available on the company’s website at
www.deltafund.co.za.
Concerning remuneration matters specifically, the Committee
endeavours to ensure that:
•

through its oversight role, the remuneration practices of
staff of the Fund and of its asset manager are applied
consistently in accordance with the Remuneration Policy and
they are compliant with the laws, governance principles and
regulations of South Africa;

•

quality staff are retained and developed within the Fund and
its asset manager;

•

remuneration is regularly benchmarked against other
property funds listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange;

•

variable remuneration is linked to performance and the
Remuneration Policy is structured in such a way as to ensure
this link is ongoing. This link will be continuously reviewed,
necessitating transparent and continuous improvements to
the design of the variable remuneration plans; and

•

employees are responsibly and fairly remunerated across the
Fund and its asset manager and equal opportunity is afforded
to all employees.

The members of the Remuneration and Committee for the year
under review were:
JB Magwaza (appointed on 02 October 2014 as Chairman)
Dumo Motau (Independent – appointed on 26 February 2015]
Jorge da Costa (Independent)
Karl Schmidt (retired on 02 October 2014)
Nooraya Khan (Lead Independent)#
#

as permanent invitee until such time as an additional board
member(s) is appointed to enable the committee to be constituted
in compliance with King III.

By invitation:
Sandile Nomvete
Bronwyn Corbett
Paula Nel (Company Secretary)
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The objective of the Remuneration Policy
The purpose of the policy is to create a framework for managing
and controlling remuneration, ensuring that Delta is able to
effectively attract and retain the talent required to achieve the
desired business results.
The policy sets out Delta’s approach to remunerating all
employees, including the asset manager, across all elements of
remuneration, including guaranteed and variable pay. This policy
and its application is reviewed regularly.

Remuneration philosophy
Remuneration plays a key role in:
•

facilitating the attraction, motivation and retention of all
staff; and

•

reinforcing the alignment of individual staff goals with Delta’s
business objectives.

The following guiding principles underpin the performance-based
remuneration philosophy which will apply to all staff:
Total remuneration: Delta adopts both guaranteed and variable
pay to reward its staff. The variable pay currently comprises
a short-term incentive (STI) plan. It is anticipated that in the
forthcoming financial year a long term incentive (LTI) plan will
be introduced. The total remuneration will be comprised of an
appropriate balance of these reward elements. In the context
of a relatively newly established company embarking on a high
growth phase, the mix of these elements will be weighted more
heavily towards variable pay.
Market competitive: Fixed remuneration will be targeted at the
market median and total remuneration will be targeted between
the industry specific market median and the 75th percentile
for outperformance. The opportunity to earn remuneration at
an outperformance level supports delivering higher reward to
individuals only when the company achieves higher than target
(expected) returns. The primary peer group for purposes of
benchmarking pay will comprise other similar-sized property
funds listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. Benchmarking
is used only as a guide to determining market competiveness of
remuneration levels.
Performance linked: Delta’s performance-based pay philosophy is
designed to ensure that the executives have an element of their
total remuneration tied to Delta’s performance through variable
pay. Variable remuneration will therefore be linked to pre-defined
performance measures. Each year the Committee will consider
the performance criteria set to ensure that they are appropriate
and challenging in the context of the prevailing business
environment and reinforce the business strategy.
The performance metrics in the incentive plans will be limited
in number and individual metrics will be tailored to maximise
accountability and will include non-financial measures.
Delta embraces defensible differentiation in pay whereby a
greater proportion of reward is distributed to the highest
performers.
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Under its terms of reference to assist the Board, the
Remuneration and Nominations Committee’s (Committee) dual
objectives are to ensure that:

The Committee met four times during the year. Refer to
page 31 for a schedule of meeting attendance.
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Remuneration and Nomination
Committee report (continued)
Flexibility: The adopted remuneration structures must be able to
adapt and evolve with changing business and human resource
needs.

Sustainability: The Remuneration Policy and practices are
designed to support long-term value creation for all stakeholders
as well as compliance with regulatory changes.

Affordability: Total remuneration costs need to be affordable at
an individual corporate entity level and justifiable to employees
and stakeholders.

Changes to remuneration

Simplicity and transparency: The reward philosophy, principles
and structures are to be openly communicated, to internal
and external stakeholders, with the annual reward opportunity
and alignment to individual performance being communicated
to the individual. Remuneration structures must not be overly
complex to communicate, administer and understand. Open
communication assists in the engagement of employees by
supporting an environment of trust and stakeholder confidence
regarding remuneration issues.
Remuneration
elements
Guaranteed package

The Committee commissioned a review by external consultants,
Ernst & Young, of the Remuneration Policy and its approach to
incentivising its staff. The primary objective of this review was to
ensure that it continues to create shared value for the Company
and its stakeholders over the long term and fairly and responsibly
incentivise employees who contribute to the success of the
Company.
The following table summarises the key initiatives and changes to
the remuneration elements in the past year and the changes and
initiatives for the forthcoming year:

2015 financial year (the reporting year)

2016 (the coming financial year)

The Committee commissioned a job grading exercise by
external consultants to establish the relative job worth of
all jobs within Delta and the asset manager. This will
provide a foundation for an improved pay structure and
will facilitate market benchmarking at all job levels.

Completion of the job grading and pay structure
exercise.

As part of its ongoing activities, the Committee:

Benefits
STI Plan

•

reviewed benchmarking exercises on remuneration
levels against the market; and

•

approved salary increases.

Ongoing review, with no significant changes.
The STI awards for the current financial year were
dependent on the achievement of Delta’s corporate
objectives and minimum standards of personal
performance according to the individual’s performance
appraisal scores.
The Committee also commissioned a review by external
consultants of the STI Plan and the performance criteria
to be implemented in the 2016 financial year.

Ongoing review to ensure competitive offerings.
With effect from the 2016 financial year:
• “performance” will be defined more clearly in
two parts: a “Corporate Performance Factor”
and an “Individual Performance Factor”.
Further details are set out in section below
explaining the STI Plan.
•

awards under the STI Plan will have a cap of
137.2% of Guaranteed Package.

Forecast distribution will act as a ‘gatekeeper’
to STI awards. In other words, the forecast
distribution will be the overriding performance
measure that must be achieved before
STI awards may be made.
There will be continued engagement with
shareholders.
LTI Plan

The Committee has continued to review proposals to
introduce an LTI Plan.

It is anticipated that LTI Plans will be implemented
subject to the approval of shareholders.
There will be continued engagement with
shareholders.
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Remuneration elements
The following table sets out the key elements of Delta’s remuneration structure:

Guaranteed
package

Delta applies the cost-toCompany remuneration
approach, also referred to as
‘guaranteed package’. This is
the non-variable element of total
remuneration and consists of the
base salary and contributions to
compulsory employer benefits
(medical scheme, Group risk
cover (death and disability) and
retirement funding).
The value of guaranteed
package reflects the individual’s
competencies and skills and is
reviewed annually in January
effective from March each year.

Policy

Strategic intent

Increases are determined with reference
to projected consumer price inflation,
affordability within the legal entity, skills
scarcity, internal value (position in the job
hierarchy), individual performance and
external value (relative positioning to the
market).

To reward
employees for
completion of
their base role
requirements and
competencies.

Benchmarking is conducted every two
years and Delta endeavours to pay at or
around the industry specific median for
on-target performance. Benchmarking
will be conducted using national
executive remuneration surveys, such
as PE Corporate Services as well as the
reports of peer group companies.

Performance
linkage
Individual
performance and
competence.

To attract
and retain key
employees.

Increases are discretionary.
Benefits

Benefits include participation
in the Company’s medical aid
scheme and pension plan.

Participation in the medical scheme is
compulsory unless the employee provides
proof that he or she is a dependent of an
alternative registered scheme.
Participation in the Company’s pension
plan, a defined contribution plan, is
compulsory. Monthly contributions equate
to 12% of Guaranteed Package.

To enhance the
employee value
proposition.

None.

To retain key
employees.

Normal retirement age for the executive
is 65 years.
STI Plan

LTI Plan

A short-term incentive to reward
executives on achieving and
exceeding their personal and
company annual performance
targets.

To encourage
superior
performance
by rewarding
key/strategic
employees
To receive the payment the executive must
against the
be in the employ of the Company at the
achievement of
time of payment, and must not be under
their KPIs.
notice of termination.
To attract,
Joiners starting on or after 01 March
motivate and
will only participate in the plan the
retain strategic
following year.
employees who
are accountable
STI awards will be paid annually between
for, and
June and September following the end of
contribute to,
the performance year. Awards are at the
the achievement
sole discretion of the Committee,
of key shortterm business
performance
measures.
Performance is assessed taking into
account specific annual performance
criteria (Key Performance Indicators –
(KPIs)), both at a corporate level and an
individual level.

The STI plan is
a key driver of
the Company’s
strategy. This is
demonstrated
through the
careful selection
of performance
criteria – KPIs
that are aligned
to the Company’s
strategy.
The performance
metrics are
consistent with
long-term value
creation.

Under review.
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Remuneration
element
Definition
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Remuneration and Nomination
Committee report (continued)
Guaranteed package
After a review of the performance of the executives, as well as prevailing market conditions and the factors specified in the
remuneration elements table above, the executives were awarded an increase in their cost-to-company package of 8%, effective
on 01 March 2015.

Short-term Incentive (STI) Plan
As in the previous year, the STI awards for the current financial year were dependent on the achievement of Delta’s corporate
objectives and the achievement of a minimum personal performance rating of three out of a potential maximum rating of five.
The corporate objectives for the current year were as follows:
•

Achieve target distribution

•

Yield enhancing acquisitions

•

Loan to value target

•

Distribution growth

•

Cost to income ratio

•

Vacancy rate

•

Debtors outstanding

Each corporate objective was weighted and a weighted rating out of 5 was determined. The rating was then applied to the guaranteed
package to result in an STI award as follows:
•

Performance rating of 3 equates to 30% of annual guaranteed package

•

Performance rating of 4 equates to 50% of annual guaranteed package

•

Performance rating of 5 equates to 70% of annual guaranteed package

With effect from the 2016 financial year, STI awards will be linked to both an Individual Performance factor (IPF) and a Corporate
Performance Factor (CPF).
The IPF will be determined from the personal appraisal rating as indicated below:
PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL RATING

DESCRIPTION

INDIVIDUAL PERFORMANCE FACTOR (IPF)

1

Poor performance

0%

2

Below average performance

0%

3

Satisfactory performance

4

Excellent performance

Up to 100%

5

Outstanding performance

Up to 140%

0%

Individual performance must therefore exceed the minimum standard, which is a performance rating above three (3) to be eligible for
an STI award.
The STI plan is a key driver of the company’s strategy. This is demonstrated through the careful selection of corporate performance
indicators that are aligned to the company’s strategy. These corporate KPIs will be regularly reviewed and approved each year by the
Committee for ratification by the Board. Achievement against these KPIs will determine the CPF.
For 2016, the corporate KPIs, the budgeted and Board approved forecast distribution will be the primary indicator of corporate
performance for the STI plan. This target must be met before any STI awards can be made.
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Loan to Value and Debtors: The secondary indicators of
corporate performance are budgeted Loan to Value and Debtors.
Performance below the budgeted values of these measures will
serve to reduce the CPF by up to 30%.
At the end of the financial year the committee will assess the
actual achievement against the corporate KPIs, based on audited
results, which will determine the overall CPF.

The actual STI award will be determined by the following formula:

Individual STI award = [Guaranteed package] X [STI target (70% of guaranteed package)] X [CPF] X [IPF]
The targeted STI award for the executives will be 70% of
guaranteed package. With the IPF and the CPF each at a
maximum possible percentage of 140%, the maximum STI is
capped at 137.2% of the guaranteed package.
The Committee retains the discretion to review and moderate any
STI awards to avoid unexpected outcomes. The Board approves
the STI awards, taking into account the recommendations made
by the Committee. Awards under the STI plan are not guaranteed
and management reserves the right to amend the design of the
plan from time to time.

Long-term Incentive Plan
No long-term incentives were paid in the 2014 financial year.
However, to balance the mix of elements in total remuneration
elements, and to provide a broader retention incentive for all
employees, the Committee is considering a long-term incentive
plan for implementation in 2016 which will be subject to the
ratification of the Board and shareholder approval.

Executive Director contracts
The Executive Directors do not have fixed-term contracts
with the Company. A three-month notice period is required
for the Executive Directors for the termination of services.
The employment contracts of the Executive Directors contain
a restraint of trade clause with a period of one year. There
is no provision in the contracts for loss of office payments,
other than those required by employment law.

Non-Executive Directors’ fees
The Committee has requested a benchmarking study for nonexecutive director fees, with assistance from the executive team
and external advisors. This will inform proposals on non-executive
director fees, and fee structure, for the 2016 financial year.

As disclosed in Part 2 of this remuneration report, both the
Executive Directors have significant shareholdings in Delta.
The direct and indirect holdings are governed by lock-in
agreements which restrict the right of the Executive Directors
to freely dispose of their holdings. The lock in is over a
four-year period commencing on the date of listing, being
02 November 2012.
These holdings serve to align the executive director’s interests
with the interests of the shareholders and also act as an effective
retention mechanism.
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Forecast distribution: This KPI will act as a ‘gatekeeper’.
Where performance meets this forecast (minimum level of
performance), the CPF will equate to 100%. A performance
below the forecast will not deliver an STI award (CPF = 0%).
A stretch target for forecast distribution will also be set by the
Board. Where this performance is at the stretch target, the
CPF will equate to a maximum of 140%. Where the forecast
distribution is between the forecast and stretch target, a pro
rata award will be made available on a straight-line basis.
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Remuneration and Nomination
Committee report (continued)
Part 2: Remuneration in 2015
Executive Directors
The remuneration and benefits approved for the Executive Directors in respect of the 2015 financial year were as follows:

Salary Other benefits Pension Paid
(R’000)
(R’000)
(R’000)

STI
(R’000)

Total
2015
(R’000)

Total
2014
(R’000)

Sandile Nomvete

3 481

166

227

–

3 874

5 064

Bronwyn Corbett

3 192

116

–

–

3 308

4 043

6 673

282

227

–

7 182

9 107

Indirect

Total as at
28 February
2015

Total as
at February
2014

* Comprises insurance premiums
The Directors’ beneficial shareholdings in the Company were as follows:
Beneficial
Direct
Executive Directors
Bronwyn Corbett

113 957

4 591 629

4 705 586

4 390 437

Sandile Nomvete

–

18 882 039

18 882 039

18 238 337

2 035 201

–

2 035 201

1 965 820

–

–

–

12 158 465

24 000

–

24 000

–

2 173 158

23 473 668

25 646 826

36 753 059

Non-Executive Directors
JB Magwaza
Ipeleng Mkhari
Paul Simpson

Non-Executive Directors’ fees
The table below sets out the current shareholder approved fees for the Non-Executive Directors.
Total
2015
(R’000)

Total
2014
(R’000)

JB Magwaza

311

Jorge Da Costa

274

253

Nooraya Khan

336

297

Ipeleng Mkhari

111

193

Karl Schmidt

171

269

Paul Simpson

256

237

Dumo Motau

52

–

Ian Macleod

76

–

1 587

1 537

48
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Samora House
Durban
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Annual financial
statements
The reports and statements set out below
comprise the group annual financial statements
presented to the shareholders:
Directors’ responsibilities and approval

53

Declaration by the Group
Company Secretary

54

Audit, Risk and Compliance
Committee report

54

Directors’ report

56

Report of the independent auditors

64

Statement of financial position

65

Statement of comprehensive income

66

Statement of changes in equity

67

Statement of cash flows

69

Notes to the group annual
financial statements

70

Shareholder analysis

110

Shareholder diary

111

Distribution details

111

Published: 17 July 2015

These annual financial statements have
been audited in compliance with the
applicable requirements of the Companies
Act of South Africa.

Preparer: Bronwyn Corbett (CFO)
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Directors’ responsibilities
and approval

The consolidated and separate annual financial statements
are prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the
Companies Act of South Africa and are based upon
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied
and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements
and estimates.
The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately
responsible for the system of internal financial control
established by the Group and place considerable importance
on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable
the directors to meet these responsibilities, the Board
of directors sets standards for internal control aimed
at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective
manner. The standards include the proper delegation of
responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties
to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are
monitored throughout the Group and all employees are
required to maintain the highest ethical standards in
ensuring the Group’s business is conducted in a manner
that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach.
The focus of risk management in the Group is on identifying,
assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of
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risk across the Group. While operating risk cannot be
fully eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise it by
ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems
and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within
predetermined procedures and constraints.
The directors are of the opinion, based on the information
and explanations given by management, that the system
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the
financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the
Group annual financial statements. However, any system of
internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss.
The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast
for the year to 29 February 2016 and, in the light of this
review and the current financial position, they are satisfied
that the Group has or has access to adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
The external auditors are responsible for independently
auditing and reporting on the Group’s annual financial
statements. The Group annual financial statements have
been examined by the Group’s external auditors and their
report is presented on page 64.
The Group annual financial statements set out on
pages 65 to 109, which have been prepared on the goingconcern basis, were approved by the Board of directors on
17 July 2015 and were signed on its behalf by:

Sandile Nomvete
CEO

Bronwyn Corbett
CFO
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The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act
of South Africa to maintain adequate accounting records and
are responsible for the content and integrity of the Group
annual financial statements and related financial information
included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure
that the Group annual financial statements fairly present
the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the financial
year and the results of its operations and cash flows for
the period then ended, in conformity with International
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the
Companies Act of South Africa. The external auditors are
engaged to express an independent opinion on the Group
annual financial statements.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Declaration by the Group
Company Secretary
In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act of South Africa, as amended, I certify that the Group has lodged with the
Commissioner all such returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act and that all such returns are true,
correct and up to date.

Paula Nel
Company Secretary
17 July 2015

Audit, Risk and Compliance
Committee report
The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee is an
independent statutory committee and, in addition to having
specific statutory responsibilities to the shareholders in
terms of the Companies Act, it also assists the Board
through advising and making submissions on financial
reporting, oversight of the risk management process and
internal financial controls, the external and internal audit
functions as well as the statutory and regulatory compliance
of the Company.

Terms of reference
The Committee has adopted a formal charter which has
been approved by the board and has been incorporated
in the board charter.

The external auditors have unrestricted access to the
Committee.
The Committee met five times prior to the end of the
financial year. This being in accordance with its charter,
which requires that the Committee meet a minimum of four
times prior to the end of the financial year.

Statutory duties
In the execution of its statutory duties relating to
the financial year under review, the Audit, Risk and
Compliance Committee:
•

nominated and recommended BDO for appointment,
as external auditors of the Company under section
90 of the Companies Act, a registered auditor who,
in the opinion of the Committee, is independent;

The Committee consists of three non-executive directors,
all of whom are independent.

•

determined the fees to be paid to the auditors and the
auditor’s terms of engagement;

At 28 February 2015 and at the date of this report the
Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee comprised the
following directors:

•

ensured that the appointment of the auditor complied
with the provision of the Companies Act, and any other
legislation relating to the appointment of auditors;

•

determined the nature and extent of any non-audit
services that the auditor may provide to the Company
or Group;

•

pre-approved any proposed agreement with the auditor
for the provision of non-audit services to the Company
or Group;

•

prepared a report, which has been included in the
annual financial statements of the Company for the
financial year under review;

•

received and dealt appropriately with any concerns or
complaints, whether from within or outside the Company,

Composition and meetings

Director

Period served

Nooraya Khan
(Chairman)

02 November 2012 – current
(Chairman since 02 October 2014)

Paul Simpson

02 November 2012 – current

Ian Macleod

05 November 2014 – current

The CEO, the COO, the CFO, Senior Financial Management
of the Asset Manager and representatives from the external
auditors attend the Committee meetings by invitation only.
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•

or on its own initiative, in relation to the matters as set
out in the Companies Act; and

to the appointed external auditors for non-audit services as
opposed to audit.

made submissions to the board on any matter
concerning the Company’s accounting policies, financial
control, records and reporting.

Finance function

The Committee has fulfilled its statutory responsibilities for
the year under review.

Delegated duties

•

Oversight over the risk management function by
reviewing and approving the key risks facing the Group

•

Reviewed the scope and report provided by the internal
auditors

•

Reviewed the effectiveness of the internal financial
controls

•

Assisted the board in its review of the Group’s risk
management and compliance policies

•

Reviewed the expertise and experience of the CFO, and
the finance function.

The external auditor has expressed an unqualified opinion
on the annual financial statements for the year ended
28 February 2015.
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In addition to its statutory duties, the Audit, Risk and
Compliance Committee also performed the following duties:

The Committee has reviewed the consolidated and separate
ﬁnancial statements of the Group, and is satisﬁed that they
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

We are satisfied that Bronwyn Corbett, the CFO for the
financial year ended February 2015, has the appropriate
expertise and experience to meet her responsibilities in
that position as required by the JSE. It is also noted that
Greg Booyens previously the Senior Financial Manager
was appointed as CFO on 01 July 2015 and although his
date of appointment falls outside of the financial period
under review, the Committee is comfortable that he
has the appropriate expertise and experience to meet
the responsibilities of the role of the CFO as required by
the JSE.
We are satisfied with:

The Committee has fulfilled its delegated duties for the year
under review.

•

the expertise and adequacy of resources within the
finance function;

Regulatory compliance

•

the experience of the senior financial management staff.

The Committee has complied with all the applicable
regulatory and legal responsibilities.

In making these assessments we have obtained feedback
from the external auditors.

External audit

Based on the processes and assurances obtained we
believe that the accounting practices are effective.

Based on processes followed by the Committee and
assurances received from the external auditor, nothing has
come to our attention with regards to the independence of
the external auditor.
Based on our satisfaction with the results of the activities
outlined above we have recommended to the board that
BDO should be re-appointed for the financial year ending
29 February 2016.

Internal audit
The Committee approved the appointment of Grant
Thornton for internal audit services for the Group.

Terms of engagement and fees paid to
external auditor
The Committee, in consultation, with executive
management, agreed to the engagement letter, terms,
audit plan and budgeted audit fees for the financial year
ended 28 February 2015. The Committee considered the
fee to be fair and appropriate.
Information relating to non-audit services provided by the
appointed external auditors of the Company has been
disclosed in the notes to the annual financial statements.
Separate disclosures have been made of the amounts paid
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Going concern
The Committee through its review of the 2016 budget
and discussions with executive management reported to
the board that it supports management’s view that the
Company will continue to operate as a going concern for the
foreseeable future.

Integrated report
The Committee has reviewed and commented on the
financial statements and the disclosure of sustainability
issues included in this Integrated Report to ensure that they
are reliable and do not conflict with the financial information
disclosed in this Integrated Report. This Integrated Report
was recommended to the board for approval.
On behalf of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee:

N Khan
Chairman
17 July 2015
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Nature of business
Delta is a JSE main board listed REIT. Its primary focus is on
long-term investment in quality, rental generating properties
situated in strategic nodes attractive to national government
and tenants requiring empowered landlords. The Fund is
black managed and a level 2 B-BBEE contributor, qualifying
for long-term government leases in terms of the Department
of Public Work’s B-BBEE policy.

Capital structure

Strategy
Delta is a leading empowerment player in the listed property
sector, has demonstrated its ability to redevelop CBD nodes
and manage government tenanted assets and supports its
growth through the inherent recessionary hedge and tenure
provided by sovereign leases.
Delta’s strategy is to achieve above industry average
distributions and capital growth through a portfolio
comprising predominantly domestic and foreign based
sovereign underpinned properties, with the balance of the
portfolio exposed to non-government offices, retail, industrial
and purpose-specific properties under long-term leases.
Delta also intends to hold 25% in Delta International to
maintain its exposure to the high growth opportunities on the
African continent.

Distributable earnings and commentary
on results

Delta had acquired development rights over land adjacent to
the Beacon Hill property for a consideration of R15.5 million.
These development rights never came to fruition and were
impaired in the current financial year.
The loss from discontinued operations of R45.1 million and
the non-controlling interest of R19.4 million relates to the
consolidation of Delta International. This loss is largely driven
by the unrealised forex loss which is due to the depreciation
of the USD against the Moroccan Dirham. The conversion
of Delta International’s consolidated USD net income into
the Fund’s reporting currency (Rands) of R68.3 million was
positive due to the strength of the USD against the Rand.
The NAV per share was R10.02 at year-end
(2014: R9.28 – restated after adjusting for distribution
payable). The increase in NAV was predominantly as a result
of an increase in the independent valuation of the investment
property portfolio.

Prior period restatement
The restatements have arisen from the JSE pro-active
monitoring process and based on the advice the JSE
received from the FRIP.
In 2015 the following restatements were identified relating
to the 2014 financial statements:
•

The Group accounted for antecedent interest as income
in profit or loss rather than adding the antecedent
interest to the debentures’ initial carrying amount, and
subsequently reducing the liability when the cash flows
of the debenture interest distributions are recognised on
the next distribution date

•

The consideration payable in the form of linked units
on acquisition of investment property was previously
accounted for as deferred consideration instead of
apportioning the amount between the liability and equity
components. In addition, a non-cash transaction relating
to the deferred consideration was included within
the financing activities and included in the amount of
acquisition of investment property within the investing
activities

•

The debentures and the liability component of the
deferred consideration was excluded from the noncurrent liabilities and total liabilities line items in the
statement of financial position

•

The Group recognised debentures at nominal value
instead of fair value. As a result, the premium or
discount to the nominal value was not amortised over
the expected life of the debentures.

Total distributions for the year ended February 2015
increased by 15.66% to 84.07 cents per share (February
2014: 72.69 cents per share). The dividend for the final six
months of the financial year was 44.06 cents per share, an
increase of 9.66% against the comparable six month period.
Property operating expenses were well contained with the
cost-to-income ratio marginally lower at 10.16% (February
2014: 10.77% – restated on net basis). In line with industry
practice the Fund has changed its method of calculating the
cost-to-income ratio from a gross basis to a net basis.
Distributable income includes once-off fees earned by Delta
of R6.2 million for the commitment on its investment in
Delta International and R6.3 million for leasing commission
charged to Somnipoint in respect of leases concluded on
Somnipoint’s ABSA Towers building.
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To align the Company’s capital structure with the REIT
standard in South Africa and to comply with JSE Listings
Requirements for REITs, Delta converted its linked unit
capital structure into an all share capital structure
within the scheme of arrangement framework provided
for in terms of section 114 of the Companies Act of
South Africa. The implementation date of the scheme
was 15 December 2014 resulting in a R2 322 million
increase in share capital.

The increase in administration expenses from R48.1 million
for the year ended 28 February 2014 to R51.0 million at
28 February 2015 is in line with the increase in the size of
the portfolio.
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The effect of the restatements are as follows:
R’000

2014

2013

35 270

–

Statement of comprehensive income
Decrease in antecedent interest income
Decrease in debenture interest

(35 270)

Increase in amortisation of debenture premium

–

(376 969)

(41 163)

(493 937)

(189 676)

Statement of financial position
Increase in non-current liabilities and total liabilities
Decrease in unitholders interests

433 937

Increase in debentures
Decrease in share capital

189 676

(2 076 085)

(746 403)

2 438 392

787 566

Decrease in deferred consideration

55 825

Increase in retained earnings

(418 132)

–
(41 163)

Effect of changes in statement of cash flows
Increase in net cash flows from investing activities

55 825

–

Decrease in net cash flows from financial activities

(55 825)

–

Effect on EPS and HEPS
While the prior period restatements have no impact on the distributions to shareholders the impact on
basic and diluted earnings and headline earnings is as follows:
Feb 2014

Feb 2014

Before

Restated

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents)

195.58

294.73

Basic and diluted headline earnings per share (cents)

106.00

205.14

Property portfolio
Acquisitions
R737.3 million worth of direct property acquisitions transferred during the year. These were acquired at an aggregate yield of
11.06% adding a total GLA of 94 918m2.

Property name

Purchase
price
GLA
R’000

Acquisition
yield Sector

Servamus

13 716 118 000

10.50

Delta Towers
The Marine
Auditor General
Polokwane
Die Meent

40 694 291 000
24 384 196 200
2 130
50 500

11.00
11.00
10.33

3 705

19 500

16.99

Regents Place

10 289

62 126

11.32

94 918 737 326
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Location

Transfer/effective
date

Office –
Government
Office – Other
Office – Other
Office – Other

Durban, KwaZulu-Natal

Office –
Government
Office –
Government

Potchefstroom, North West

24 November 2014

Pretoria, Gauteng

09 December 2014

Durban, KwaZulu-Natal
Durban, KwaZulu-Natal
Polokwane, Limpopo Province

24 April 2014
26 September 2014
26 September 2014
13 October 2014

Property extensions and refurbishments
As at
28 February 2015
R’000
Capital improvement in respect of investment property
–

Opening balance – 01 March 2014

–

Refurbishments and renovations capitalised in the period

–

New approvals

182 685
(148 134)
444 901
479 452
ANNUAL FINANCIAL
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These commitments will be financed by a combination of available cash resources and debt financing facilities.
Specific on-going and completed projects include:
SARS Bellville, Cape Town
The total refurbishment of the SARS Bellville building was completed during the year at a total cost R3.2 million.
SARS Randburg, Johannesburg
The construction of an additional 213 parking bays at the SARS Randburg building was completed during the year at a cost of
R15.9 million. There are now 397 parking bays which has improved the parking ratio to 4.1 per 100 m2.
NPA Cape Town, Cape Town
The total refurbishment of this building was completed during the year at a cost of R24 million and included specific tenant
requirements, air conditioning and external painting. This building has now re-established itself as one of the iconic buildings on
Buitengracht Street. A new 10-year lease was concluded with the tenant, the National Prosecuting Authority.
Commission House, Pretoria
The total refurbishment and extension of Commission House is currently under way which will increase the buildings total GLA
from 6 617.52m2 to 10 630.20m2. The total approved cost of the project is R71.3 million. The completion date is expected
to be December 2015.
CMH House, Durban
Redevelopment of the building to accommodate a CMH show room and 450 parking bays has commenced and is expected
to be completed by October 2015. The total approved cost of the project is R156.6 million. CMH has signed a new 15-year
lease commencing on completion of the redevelopment.

Lettings and vacancies
The lease expiry profile of the portfolio at 28 February 2015 was as follows:
GLA

Revenue

%

%

7.1

-–

29 February 16

17.7

19.0

28 February 17

21.0

24.9

28 February 18

22.1

21.2

28 February 19

8.2

11.4

29 February 20

7.8

7.7

16.1

15.8

100.0

100.0

Vacant

> 29 February 20
Total

During the year leases in respect of 93 682 m2 were renewed, and brought forward or acquired vacancies of 8 148 m2
were filled.
The weighted average escalation rate across the portfolio was 7.97% at year-end and the weighted average rental per m2 for
the full portfolio was R95.84.
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Vacancies in the Delta portfolio at 28 February 2015 amounted to 7.1% of gross lettable area compared with 4.6% at
28 February 2014. The increase from 28 February 2014 is primarily due to the vacancies acquired with the Marine Building
and Delta Towers which were not paid for and once tenanted will increase the forward yield of the Fund.

Investment in Delta International
On 22 May 2014 the Company acquired 89.01% of Delta International for R8.7 million. Delta International is a listed
property investment company offering investors direct access to high growth opportunities in African real estate (excluding
South Africa). At acquisition date the net assets of Delta International amounted to R8.8 million. The excess of net assets
over the consideration paid has been recognised as a gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss.
During the year Delta International concluded a capital raise in which the Company participated, resulting in Delta’s interest
being diluted. At 28 February 2015, the Company held 23 415 200 shares in Delta International for an aggregate purchase
consideration of R501.3 million. Delays to Delta International’s capital raising programme resulted in Delta temporarily
holding 52.41% of Delta International’s issued share capital. Delta’s stated intention was to hold approximately 25% of
Delta International. A further capital raising exercise commenced before 28 February 2015 culminated in Delta International
raising USD39.0 million in April 2015, effectively diluting Delta’s shareholding to 35%. At the date of this report, Delta’s
investment in Delta International further reduced to 31.8%. Delta expects to be diluted further in the year ahead. The level
of shareholding that existed at year-end together with the post year-end dilution has resulted in Delta International being
consolidated as a disposal group at 28 February 2015. Going forward Delta International will be accounted for as an associate
based on the fact that the Delta Board of directors has relinquished its control over the activities of Delta International.
The following table summarises the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

Assets

R’000

Cash balances

7 101

Loans receivable

2 874
9 975

Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Identifiable assets and liabilities before non-controlling interest
Non-controlling interest
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
Purchase consideration
Gain from bargain purchase
Purchase consideration
Cash acquired
Cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary

(34)
9 941
(1 094)
8 847
(8 720)
127
(8 720)
–
(8 720)

Borrowings and hedging
During the past 12 months Delta increased the utilisation of its debt facilities on current and new facilities from R3.2 billion
to R4.5 billion, to execute on several key acquisitions, including The Marine and Delta Towers buildings as well as Delta’s
investment in Delta International. The resultant increase in the LTV from 47.5% to 49.8% was deemed by management to be
an interim measure until further capital was raised. From August 2014, Delta saw liquidity in the DCM market dry up mainly
as a result of the collapse of African Bank, and thus maturing commercial paper was replaced with vanilla funding. Despite
these challenges, Delta has managed to maintain a highly competitive weighted average cost of debt funding of 8.10% and a
fixed:floating ratio of 70%. The weighted average expiry of fixed debt is 2.36 years, and the weighted average expiry of Delta’s
total facilities is 2.37 years. The post-year-end issuance of a R100 million secured bond in March 2015 and the raising of
R735.1 million of equity, assisted Delta to settle bridging facilities with Standard Bank of R406 million, and thereby reduced
the LTV to 46.7% (as at May 2015) with the weighted average expiry profile extending to 2.51 years. Delta will continue to
utilise the DMTN programme and other sources of funding to maintain a low cost of debt going forward.
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Debt facilities at 28 February 2015:
Available
Facilities of
R’000

Financier

Facilities*
R’000

Fixed : Floating
%

Average rate
%

2 544 025
1 196 619
126 332
89 400
690 000

2 357 406
1 194 809
140 076
89 400
690 000

71 : 29
–
–
–
–

8.20
7.96
4.24
8.10
7.55

Total

4 646 376

4 471 691

44 : 56

7.94

* Excludes accrued interest and swaps. Includes facilities that have been hedged through fixed rate addendum agreements.

DMTN Programme
Instrument

Book runner
Rand Merchant Bank
Standard Bank
Rand Merchant Bank
Nedbank Capital
Standard Bank

DLTC 09
DLT 02U
DLTC 10
DLTB 02
DLTB 03

Total

Nominal amount
R’000
102
50
51
362
125

000
000
000
000
000

Expiry
05 August
06 November
03 February
09 December
09 October

15
15
16
16
17

Rate
%
6.66
7.46
7.51
7.61
8.18

690 000

Weighted average rate:

7.55

* WACC calculation excludes the swap entered info DLTB 02, which is included under swap contracts.

Summary of swap contracts:
Nominal amount
Financier
Standard Bank
Standard Bank
Standard Bank

Nedbank Capital
Nedbank Capital

Type

Inception

R’000

Expiry

Rate
%

Vanilla JIBAR I
Vanilla JIBAR I
Vanilla JIBAR I
to LIBOR

9 April 14
9 April 14
16 February 15

160 000
350 000
125 000

9 April 17
9 April 19
09 October 17

7.27
7.80
32

Vanilla JIBAR I
Vanilla JIBAR I

9 June 14
27 February 15

Total
Overall fixed: floating ratio and total WACC

/USD10 748

362 000
350 000

9 December 16
28 February 18

(USD LIBOR)
Cross
Currency
Swap
8.58
6.81

1 347 000
70 : 30

8.10

Non-current assets held-for-sale
During the year the Group took the decision to dispose of the Richmond Forum Building to reduce vacancies on the Group’s
portfolio and utilise the funds to reduce the Group’s gearing levels. The property will be disposed of within 12 months of the
current financial period and is disclosed as part of the “Office-other” segment in these financial statements.
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Nedbank
Standard Bank
Bank of China
Sanlam
DMTN Programme
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Directors’ Interest
The interest of the Directors in the shares of the Company were as follows:
As at 28 February 2015:

Director
Executive Directors
Bronwyn Corbett
Sandile Nomvete
Non-Executive Directors
JB Magwaza
Paul Simpson

Beneficial
Direct
Indirect

Total

113 957
–

4 591 629
18 882 039

4 705 586
18 882 039

2 035 201
24 000

–
–

2 035 201
24 000

2 173 158

23 473 668

25 646 826

As at 28 February 2014:
Director
Executive Directors
Bronwyn Corbett
Sandile Nomvete
Non-Executive Directors
JB Magwaza
Ipeleng Mkhari

Beneficial
Direct

Indirect

Total

50 957
_

4 339 480
18 238 337

4 390 437
18 238 337

1 965 820
_

_
12 158 465

1 965 820
12 158 465

2 016 777

34 736 282

36 753 059

Changes to the Directors interests in contracts between 28 February 2015 and the date of approval of the Annual Financial
Statements, 17 July 2015, are as follows:
As at 17 July 2015:

Director
Executive Directors
Bronwyn Corbett
Sandile Nomvete
Non-Executive Directors
JB Magwaza
Paul Simpson
Nooraya Khan

Beneficial
Direct
Indirect

Total

122 253
–

5 092 214
18 882 039

5 214 467
18 882 039

2 035 201
24 000
50 000

–
–
–

2 035 201
24 000
50 000

2 231 454

23 974 253

26 205 707

Directors’ interests in contracts
The Company has entered into the following contracts, in which certain Directors have a material interest:

Asset Management
MPI PAM a company owned by JB Magwaza and entities controlled by Sandile Nomvete and Ipeleng Mkhari, is the appointed
asset manager of Delta. The fee payable by Delta to MPI PAM for all asset management and operational management
services is a monthly fee of 1/12 of 0.45% of the aggregate of the market capitalisation and the borrowings of
Delta (Enterprise Value), where the Enterprise Value is less than R4 billion. Where the Enterprise Value is equal to or more
than R4 billion but less than R5 billion, the fee shall equal an amount 1/12 of 0.40% of the Enterprise Value. Where the
Enterprise Value is equal to or more than R5 billion, the fee shall equal an amount 1/12 of 0.35% of the Enterprise Value.
This contract has been cancelled with effect from 01 September 2015.
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Property Management
With effect from 01 June 2014, Delta had cancelled its Property Management agreements with MPS. Management of the
properties previously managed by MPS, is now undertaken by MPI PAM, Delta’s appointed asset manager, on a cost recovery
basis. This contract has been cancelled with effect from 31 August 2015.

Executive Directors’ service contracts
The Executive Directors have service contracts with the Company. A three-month notice period is required for the CEO and
CFO/COO.

Directorate
The directors of the Company during the year and to the date of this Report are as follows:
Office

Designation

Sandile Nomvete
Bronwyn Corbett
JB Magwaza
Jorge Da Costa
Nooraya Khan
Ipeleng Mkhari
Karl Schmidt
Paul Simpson
Dumo Motau
Ian Macleod

CEO
CFO, COO
Chairman

Executive
Executive
Non-Executive
Independent Non-Executive
Lead Independent Non-Executive
Non-Executive
Independent Non-Executive
Independent Non-Executive
Independent Non-Executive
Independent Non-Executive
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Directors

Changes

Resigned 12 September 2014
Retired 02 October 2014
Appointed 05 November 2014
Appointed 05 November 2014

Events after the reporting period
Post-year-end Delta has raised R735.1 million via vendor placements (of which R503.0 million came from the March 2015
capital raise) through the issue of 82 376 138 new Delta shares. The proceeds have been used to pay down existing debt
facilities and to fund new acquisitions.
Furthermore, Delta has concluded the transfer of four properties for a total purchase consideration of R492.3 million.
These acquisitions have been funded through a combination of new debt facilities and proceeds from new shares issued
post-year-end.
On 10 June 2015 the shareholders voted in favour of the cancellation of the existing Manco Agreement and the entering
into a new Management Agreement with Delta Property Asset Management (DPAM). The effective date has been agreed as
01 September 2015.
The dividend relating to the 28 February 2015 year end was paid on 15 June 2015.
Delta’s shareholding in Delta International reduced from 52.41% to 35%.
Per the SENS announcement dated 02 June 2015, Delta has entered into various agreements with Orthotouch Limited
for the acquisition of 15 property letting enterprises together with their related immovable properties for a purchase
consideration of R507 million. The Purchase Consideration will be settled through a combination of debt funding (vendor
loan of R202.8 million) and the issue of additional Delta shares to the vendor (R304.2 million).

Going concern
The directors are of the opinion that the Group has adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future
and that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Group’s financial statements. The directors have
satisfied themselves that the Group is in a sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to
meet its foreseeable cash requirements.

Prospects
While South Africa has entered a period which is anticipated to deliver low economic growth, the Board and management
remain positive that Delta’s defensive portfolio is well positioned for any downturn. Delta will continue to pursue empowermentsensitive opportunities. Management remains committed to reducing the level of gearing in the Fund and intends to lower this
to 40% by February 2016.
On the assumption that trading conditions and the macroeconomic environment remains stable with no major tenant and
corporate defaults, management anticipates combined distribution growth of 8% for the year ahead. This forecast has not
been reviewed or reported on by the Group’s auditors.
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Report of the independent auditors

To the shareholders of Delta Property Fund Limited
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Delta Property Fund Limited, as set out on pages 65 to 109,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 28 February 2015, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial
statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate
financial position of Delta Property Fund Limited as at 28 February 2015, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and
its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and
the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Other reports required by the Companies Act of South Africa
As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2015, we have read
the Directors’ report, Audit, Risk and Compliance Committees’ report and the Company Secretary’s declaration for the purpose of
identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial
statements. These reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not identified
material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. However, we have not
audited these reports and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with our responsibilities in terms of sections 44(2) and 44(3) of the Auditing Profession Act, we report that we have
identified an unlawful act or omission committed by a person responsible for the management of Delta Property Fund Limited which
constitutes a reportable irregularity in terms of the Auditing Profession Act, and have reported such matter to the Independent
Regulatory Board for Auditors. Particulars of the reportable irregularity are that a director of the company did not declare his
personal financial interest in a transaction as required by 75 of the Companies Act. We have reason to believe that the director
has contravened section 75 of the Companies Act and his common law duty as agent of the company to avoid a conflict of interest.
As at the date of this report we are satisfied that the matter has been adequately addressed by the Board.

BDO South Africa Incorporated

22 Wellington Road

H Bhaga Muljee

Parktown

Director

Johannesburg

Registered auditor

2193

17 July 2015
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Statement of financial position
as at 28 February 2015

GROUP

R’000

COMPANY

2015

2014
Restated

2013
Restated

2015

2014
Restated

2013
Restated

8 393 900

6 965 730

2 119 112

7 955 200

6 605 930

1 896 996

Notes

Assets
Non-current assets
Investment property
3

8 213 035

6 853 449

2 070 053

7 785 035

6 500 051

1 850 311

Straight-line rental income accrual

4

180 865

112 281

49 059

170 165

105 879

46 685

5
7
8
9
10

2 923
–
–
–
–

3 555
–
–
333 637
4 573

279
–
–
–
–

2 923
62 273
322 974
–
–

3 555
–
324 040
333 637
4 427

–
7 100
220 097
–
–

8 396 823

7 307 495

2 119 391

8 343 370

7 271 589

2 124 193

–
1 153
284 036
60 730

26 862
–
121 837
82 179

25 917
–
39 410
56 828

–
–
284 805
59 075

26 862
–
117 199
81 453

25 917
–
38 586
53 788

Property, plant and equipment
Investment in subsidiaries
Loans to subsidiaries
Investments
Deferred tax
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Other financial assets
Current tax receivable
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

11
12
13

Total current assets
Assets classified as held-for-sale
Non-current asset held-for-sale

345 919

230 878

122 155

343 880

225 514

118 291

14, 30 2 110 030
14
26 500

–
–

–
–

–
527 550

–
–

–
–

10 879 272

7 538 373

2 241 546

9 214 800

7 497 103

2 242 484

2 778 064
27 185
1 815 732

317 544
–
924 311

144 666
–
162 607

2 784 035
–
1 798 507

317 544
–
884 066

144 666
–
170 543

4 620 981
453 190

1 241 855
–

307 273
–

4 582 542
–

1 201 610
–

315 209
–

5 074 171

1 241 855

307 273

4 582 542

1 201 610

315 209

–
3 652 300
–
19
20 990

2 570 022
2 981 312
–
–
–

936 079
832 450
–
57 207
–

–
3 652 300
3 488
–
20 990

2 570 022
2 981 312
3 954
–
–

936 079
832 450
–
52 180
–

3 673 309

5 551 334

1 825 736

3 676 778

5 555 288

1 820 709

Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Foreign currency translation reserve
Retained income

15

Non-controlling interests

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Debentures and debenture premium
Interest-bearing borrowings
Loans from subsidiaries
Deferred tax
Derivative financial instruments

16
17
8
10
18

Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings
Trade and other payables
Current tax payable
Shareholders for distribution
Other financial liabilities
Bank overdraft

856 265
103 163
–
–
–
21

216
83
6
172
266

430
256
142
578
656
122

33 992
35 477
–
39 068
–
–

856 265
99 215
–
–
–
–

216
78
5
172
266

430
743
798
578
656
–

33 992
33 506
–
39 068
–
–

959 449

745 184

108 537

955 480

740 205

106 566

14, 30 1 172 343

–

–

–

–

–

Total liabilities

5 805 101

6 296 518

1 934 273

4 632 258

6 295 493

1 927 275

Total equity and liabilities

10 879 272

7 538 373

2 241 546

9 214 800

7 497 103

2 242 484

Total current liabilities
Liabilities associated with disposal
group held-for-sale

17
19

20
13
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Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 28 February 2015

GROUP

R’000
Revenue
Contractual rental income
Straight-line rental income accrual

Net property rental and related income
Other income

9
26

Gain from bargain purchase
Administration expenses
Foreign exchange loss

30

Net operating profit
Fair value adjustments

22
24

Profit from operations
Finance costs
Interest received
Amortisation of debenture premium
Cancellation fee
Impairment of development right
Dividend in specie from subsidiary
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries

25
26
26

7
7

Profit before debenture interest and taxation
Debenture interest
Profit before taxation
Taxation

2014
Restated

2015

2014
Restated

940 623
68 584

594 209
59 814

901 442
64 286

558 938
59 194

654 023
(151 520)

965 728
(240 525)

618 132
(147 494)

764 884
34 015

502 503
12 300

725 203
68 001

470 638
12 300

13 590
–
20 425
–

10 144
2 156
–
–

13 556
–
20 425
34 020

10 144
2 156
–
–

127
(51 008)
(12 366)

–
(48 090)
–

–
(63 191)
–

–
(39 149)
–

1 009 207
(244 323)

Property operating expenses

Other income
Distributable income from investments
Profit on disposal of listed investments
Dividend received

2015
Notes
21

COMPANY

735 652
458 985
1 194
(316
3
264
(41
(15

637
380)
965
883
200)
582)
–
–

1 090 323
(177 044)

466 713
261 256
727
(151
5
376

969
149)
954
969
–
–
–
–

959 743
(254 046)

730 013
445 835
1 175
(316
26
264
(41
(15

848
594)
923
883
200)
582)
–
–

1 094 278
(177 044)

443 789
221 022
664
(148
23
376

811
675)
839
969
–
–
585 580
(585 763)
916 761
(254 046)

913 279
(2 211)

705 697
56 007

917 234
(2 793)

662 715
50 808

Profit from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations

911 068
(45 070)

761 704
–

914 441
–

713 523
–

Profit for the year

865 998

761 704

914 441

713 523

27

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Translation of foreign entities*

63 813

–

–

–

Total comprehensive income for the year

929 811

761 704

914 441

713 523

Profit for the year attributable to:
Equity shareholders of Delta Property Fund Limited
Non-controlling interests

885 420
(19 422)

761 704
–

914 441
–

713 523
–

865 998

761 704

914 441

713 523

912 605
17 206

761 704
–

914 441
–

713 523
–

929 811

761 704

914 441

713 523

28

237.02

294.73

28

242.74

294.73

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity shareholders of Delta Property Fund Limited
Non-controlling interests

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents)
Basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing
operations
*

There are no tax effects recognised on these items.
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 28 February 2015

R’000

Foreign
currency
translation Non-controlling
reserve (FCTR)
interest

Retained
income

Share capital

162 607

144 666

–

–

307 273

121 444

932 232

–

–

1 053 676

Total

GROUP
Restated balance at 01 March 2013
Previously reported
Prior period errors
Recognition of debenture premium

–

–

–

–

41 163

Issue of linked units – issued as consideration for
investment property

879 851

–

–

879 851

Issue of linked units – rights issue

863 095

–

–

863 095

Issue of linked units – cash

179 367

–

–

179 367

41 163

(787 566)

(787 566)

Capital issue expenses

–

(27 859)

–

–

(27 859)

Cum distribution – distribution number 01*

–

(44 837)

–

–

(44 837)

Cum distribution – distribution number 03*

–

(25 913)

–

–

(25 913)

Profit for the year

384 735

–

–

–

384 735

Restated balance at 01 March 2014

924 311

317 544

–

–

1 241 855

506 179

2 755 936

–

–

3 262 115

–

–

–

–

–

–

Previously reported
Prior period errors
Recognition of debenture premium 2013

–

Amortisation of debenture premium 2013

41 163

Recognition of debenture premium 2014

–

Amortisation of debenture premium 2014

(787 566)
–
(1 657 736)

(787 566)
41 163
(1 657 736)

376 969

–

–

–

376 969

–

6 910

–

–

6 910

Issue of linked units – issued as consideration for
investment property

–

161 966

–

–

161 966

Non-controlling interest on acquisition of disposal
group

–

–

–

457 747

457 747

Capital issue expenses

–

(14 139)

–

–

(14 139)

Cum distribution – distribution number 03*

–

(5 836)

–

–

(5 836)

Cum distribution – distribution number 04 and 05*

–

(3 425)

–

–

Issue of linked units – issued as consideration for
investment property relating to prior year

Profit for the year

–

REIT conversion

–

2 321 954

–

–

2 321 954

Other comprehensive income for the year

–

–

27 185

36 628

63 813

6 001

–

–

(6 001)

–

–

–

(15 762)

1 815 732

2 778 064

27 185

Transfer between equity holders
Dividends paid
Balance at 28 February 2015
*

–

(19 422)

(3 425)

885 420

453 190

865 998

–
(15 762)
5 074 171

Details of distributions 01 – 05 as announced on SENS.
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Statement of changes in equity

(continued)

for the year ended 28 February 2015

R’000

Foreign
currency
translation Non-controlling
reserve (FCTR)
interest

Retained
income

Share capital

170 543

144 666

–

–

315 209

129 380

932 232

–

–

1 061 612

Total

COMPANY
Restated balance at 01 March 2013
Previously reported
Prior period errors
Recognition of debenture premium

–

–

41 163

–

–

–

41 163

Issue of linked units – issued as consideration for
investment property

–

879 851

–

–

879 851

Issue of linked units – rights issue

–

863 095

–

–

863 095

Issue of linked units – cash

–

179 367

–

–

179 367

Capital issue expenses

–

(27 859)

–

–

(27 859)

Cum distribution – distribution number 01*

–

(44 837)

–

–

(44 837)

Cum distribution – distribution number 03*

–

(25 913)

–

–

Amortisation of debenture premium

–

(787 566)

(787 566)

(25 913)

Profit for the year

336 554

–

–

–

336 554

Restated balance at 01 March 2014

884 066

317 544

–

–

1 201 610

465 934

2 755 936

–

–

3 221 870

–

–

–

–

–

–

Previously reported
Prior period errors
Recognition of debenture premium 2013
Amortisation of debenture premium 2013
Recognition of debenture premium 2014
Amortisation of debenture premium 2014

–
41 163
–

(787 566)
–
(1 657 736)

(787 566)
41 163
(1 657 736)

376 969

–

–

–

376 969

–

6 910

–

–

6 910

Issue of linked units – issued as consideration for
investment property

–

161 966

–

–

161 966

Capital issue expenses

–

(8 168)

–

–

(8 168)

Cum distribution – distribution number 03*

–

(5 836)

–

–

(5 836)

–

(3 425)

Issue of linked units – issued as consideration for
investment property relating to prior year

Cum distribution – distribution number 04 and 05*
Profit for the year
REIT conversion
Balance at 28 February 2015
*

Details of distributions 01 – 05 as announced on SENS.
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–

–

914 441

–

–

–

914 441

(3 425)

–

2 321 954

–

–

2 321 954

1 798 507

2 784 035

–

–

4 582 542

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 28 February 2015

GROUP

R’000
Cash generated from operations

29

Finance costs
Taxation (paid)/received

2015

2014
Restated

2015

2014
Restated

483 116

377 871

440 567

359 510

3 965

5 954

26 923

Notes

Interest received

(315 593)
31

Dividends received
Net cash from operating activities

COMPANY

(4 914)

(151 149)
370

(315 807)
(4 164)

23 839
(148 675)
–

–

–

18 248

–

166 574

233 046

165 767

234 674

3

(572 108)

(4 421 950)

(510 710)

(3 742 262)

3

(148 134)

(41 790)

(148 079)

(41 784)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

5

(1 027)

(4 410)

(1 027)

(4 647)

Payments of other financial assets
Proceeds from disposal/(acquisition) of listed securities

9

Loans advanced to subsidiaries
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary

–

(945)

–

(945)

348 809

(348 889)

348 809

(348 889)
(103 943)

–
30

(8 720)

–

–

–

–

–

–

14 141

Accrued distribution on acquisition of listed securities

–

14 141

Investment in subsidiaries

–

–

Net cash from investing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares

(381 180)
15, 16

Capital issue expenses
Debenture interest paid

32

Proceeds from loans from subsidiaries
Proceeds from Interest-bearing borrowings
(Repayment of)/proceeds from other financial liabilities
Changes in shareholding of subsidiary

33

Net cash from financing activities

Cash at the beginning of the year
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2 226 574

(578 663)

(382 000)

(4 806 992)

–

2 226 574

(8 168)

(27 859)

(8 168)

(27 859)

(349 622)

(200 642)

(349 622)

(200 642)

–

–

600

3 954

1 310 036

2 331 300

1 310 036

2 331 300

(266 656)

266 656

(266 656)

266 656

(492 335)

–

(492 335)

–

193 255

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents

Total cash at end of the year

–

(4 803 843)

(70 993)

4 596 029

193 855

4 599 983

(21 351)

25 232

(22 378)

27 665

82 060

56 828

81 453

53 788

60 709

82 060

59 075

81 453
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Acquisition of investment property
Refurbishment and renovations capitalised

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Group
annual financial statements
1.

Accounting policies
1.1 Presentation of group annual financial statements
The consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations committee of the IASB. The consolidated and separate financial statements comply
with the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting
Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, the JSE Listings Requirements and the
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.
The financial statements are prepared on the historic cost basis, except for investment property and certain financial
instruments which are carried at fair value, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below.
The financial statements are prepared on a going-concern basis. They are presented in Rand and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand (R’000) except where otherwise indicated.

1.2 Consolidation
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated Group annual financial statements incorporate the annual financial statements of the Company and all
entities, which are controlled by the Company.
The Company controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The results of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated Group annual financial statements from the effective date
of acquisition to the effective date of disposal. On acquisition the Group recognises the subsidiary’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities at fair value, except for assets classified as held-for-sale, which are recognised at fair
value less costs to sell.
Adjustments are made when necessary to the Group annual financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with those of the Group.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.
Transactions which result in changes in ownership levels, where the Group has control of the subsidiary both before
and after the transaction are regarded as equity transactions and are recognised directly in the statement of changes
in equity.

Business combinations
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. The cost of the business
combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity
instruments issued. Costs directly attributable to the business combination are expensed as incurred, except the costs to
issue debt which are amortised as part of the effective interest and costs to issue equity which are included in equity.
The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities which meet the recognition conditions of IFRS 3
Business combinations are recognised at their fair values at acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal
group) that are classified as held-for-sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current assets held-for-sale and discontinued
operations, which are recognised at fair value less costs to sell.
Contingent liabilities are only included in the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree where there is a present
obligation at acquisition date.
On acquisition, the Group assesses the classification of the acquiree’s assets and liabilities and reclassifies them where
the classification is inappropriate for Group purposes. This excludes lease agreements and insurance contracts, whose
classification remains as per their inception date.
Non-controlling interest in the acquiree is initially recognised at either fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. Subsequent changes in the acquiree’s equity is attributed to noncontrolling interest. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interest, even if this results in the noncontrolling interest having a deficit balance.
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Accounting policies
1.2 Consolidation

(continued)

(continued)

Investment in subsidiaries
Group and Company annual financial statements
The Group annual financial statements include those of the holding company and its subsidiaries. The results of the
subsidiary are included from the date control of the subsidiary is obtained (i.e. effective date of acquisition) until the date
that control of the subsidiary is lost (i.e. disposal date).

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
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Company annual financial statements
In the Company’s separate annual financial statements, investment in subsidiary is carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment.

1.3 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
In preparing the Group annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts represented in the Group annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of
available information and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the
future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the Group annual financial statements. Significant
judgements include:

Trade receivables and loans and receivables
Management identifies impairments of trade receivables on an ongoing basis. Impairment adjustments are raised against
trade receivables when collectibility is considered doubtful. Management believes that all trade receivables that are
doubtful have been adequately provided for. For information, refer to notes 8, 11 and 12.

Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair
values, due to their short-term nature.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk arising from its financing
activities. In accordance with its treasury policy, the entity does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. However, as the hedge relationship is not designated as a hedge for accounting purposes, the
derivatives are accounted for as trading instruments. Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised and
subsequently measured at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in profit
or loss. The Group held interest rate swap and currency swap instruments. The fair value of interest rate swaps is the
estimated amount that the entity would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the reporting date, taking into account
current interest rates and the current creditworthiness of the swap counterparties. The fair value of cross currency
swaps are based on the projected present value of net future cash payments and receipts, which fluctuate based on
changes in market interest rates and the Dollar/Rand exchange rate.

Taxation
The Group exercises judgement in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation.
The Group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred income
tax assets requires the Group to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. Estimates
of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each
jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the
Group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period could be impacted.

Investment property
The valuation of investment properties requires judgement in determination of the future cash flows and appropriate
discount rates. For more information refer to note 3.
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Accounting policies

(continued)

(continued)

1.3 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

(continued)

Investment property acquisitions
The directors have exercised their judgement in determining whether the acquisition of investment property is the
acquisition of an asset or a group of assets or a business combination within the scope of IFRS 3 Business Combinations.
In the current period the acquisitions were treated as asset acquisitions in terms of IAS 40 Investment Property, as
the directors believe that there were no adequate processes identified with these properties to warrant classification
as businesses.

Classification of Delta International as a temporary subsidiary held for sale
The directors have classified the Group’s interest in Delta International as a subsidiary held-for-sale on acquisition. At the
time of the initial investment the Group’s objective was to immediately relinquish control and thereafter retain a minority
interest. The subsequent capital raising exercise held in April 2015 diluted the Group`s shareholding in Delta International
to 35% in accordance with this objective. The directors have concluded that Delta International meets the criteria to be
classified as a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Refer to notes 14 and 30.

1.4 Investment property
Investment property consists of land and buildings and installed equipment held to earn rental income for the long term
and subsequent capital appreciation. Investment property is recognised as an asset when, and only when, it is probable
that the future economic benefits that are associated with the investment property will flow to the company, and the cost
of the investment property can be measured reliably.
Investment property is initially recognised at cost. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement.
Costs include costs incurred initially and costs incurred subsequently to add to, or to replace a part of a property. If a
replacement part is recognised in the carrying amount of the investment property, the carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised.

Fair value
Investment properties are valued annually and adjusted to fair value as at statement of financial position date. Independent
valuations are obtained on a rotational basis, ensuring that every property is valued by an independent valuer once in every
three years. The directors value the remaining properties annually. Valuations are done on the open market value basis
and the valuers use either the discounted cash flow method or the capitalisation of net income method or a combination
of the methods.
Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is included in profit or loss for the period in which the fair value
adjustments arises.

1.5 Property, plant and equipment
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
•

it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company; and

•

the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.
Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred
subsequently to add to or, replace part of it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of
property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated
residual value.
Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term.
Item
Leasehold improvements
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment
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Average useful life
3
6
3

1.

Accounting policies (continued)
1.5 Property, plant and equipment

(continued)

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.
If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.
The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of
another asset.
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or
loss when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.
ANNUAL FINANCIAL
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1.6 Financial instruments
Classification
The Group classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:
•

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

•

Loans and receivables.

•

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred and takes place at initial
recognition. Classification is reassessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated as at
fair value through profit or loss, which shall not be classified out of the fair value through profit and loss category.

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.
The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial
liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.
Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value.
For financial instruments which are not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are included in the initial
measurement of the instrument.
Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value, with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value being included in profit or loss for the period.
Net gains or losses on the financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss exclude dividends and interest.
Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss as part of other income when the Group’s right to receive payment is
established.
Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, less
accumulated impairment losses.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method.

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that
is created or retained by the entity is recognised as a separate asset or liability.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligations specified in the contract are discharged, cancelled or expired.
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(continued)

Accounting policies (continued)
1.6 Financial instruments

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets
At each reporting date the Group assesses all financial assets to determine whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset has been impaired.
For amounts due to the Group, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy and default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Listed property securities
Listed property securities are classified as at fair value through profit or loss and are subsequently measured at fair value,
which includes the accrual for distributions receivable. No deduction is made for transaction costs which may be incurred
on sale or disposal.

Loans to/(from) group companies
These include loans to and from subsidiaries and related parties and are recognised initially at fair value plus direct
transaction costs.
Loans to group companies are classified as loans and receivables.
Loans from group companies are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are measured on initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised
in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor,
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss within operating expenses. When a trade receivable
is uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against operating expenses in profit or loss.
Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These
are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Cash and cash equivalents are classified
as loans and receivables.

Bank overdraft and borrowings
Bank overdraft and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method.

Derivative instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk arising from its financing
activities and to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk. In accordance with its treasury policy, the entity does not
hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. The hedge relationship is not designated as a hedge
for accounting purposes, the derivatives are accounted for as trading instruments. Derivative financial instruments are
initially recognised and subsequently measured at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
The Group holds interest rate and cross-currency swaps.
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Debentures and debenture premium
Debentures are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. The debenture
premium is amortised over the period which the debentures will be repaid. The portion reported in profit or loss for the
amortisation of the debentures is removed for distribution purposes. Debentures are designated as financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost.

1.7 Tax
Current tax assets and liabilities
ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in
respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.
Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to
(recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects
neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).
A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not
recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction,
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).
A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Tax expenses
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to
the extent that the tax arises from:
•

a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income; or

•

a business combination.

1.8 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease
is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Operating leases – lessor
Operating lease income is recognised as an income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between
the amounts recognised as income and the contractual amounts received are recognised as an operating lease asset.
This asset is not discounted.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.
Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in profit or loss.

Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease
liability. This liability is not discounted.
Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.
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Accounting policies (continued)
1.9 Impairment of assets
The Group assesses at the end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.
If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.
If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs is determined.
The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value
in use.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.
An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior
periods for assets may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts
of those assets are estimated.
The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.
A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

1.10 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. External costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown as
a deduction in equity from the proceeds.

1.11 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid
vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the period
in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.
The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase
their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.
The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive
obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

1.12 Revenue
Revenue from letting of investment property in terms of rental agreements comprises gross rental income and recoveries
of operating costs, net of value added taxation. Rental income is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the rental agreement.
Interest earned on cash invested with financial institutions is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.
Dividends are recognised, in profit or loss, when the Company’s right to receive payment has been established.

1.13 Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred as the Group has no qualifying
assets.

1.14 Operating segment
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues
and incur expenses. The operating results are reviewed regularly by executive management to make decisions about and
to assess the performance of the segment. Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief operating decision-makers identified as executive directors.
On a primary basis the operations are arranged into five business segments: retail, office government, office other,
industrial and administration and corporate.
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Accounting policies (continued)
1.15 Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held-for-sale
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held-for-sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly
probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be
committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the
date of classification.
Non-current assets held-for-sale (or disposal group) are measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell.

Subsidiaries acquired exclusively with a view to resale are classified as disposal groups held-for-sale and accounted for as
discontinued operations.
Discontinued operations are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as a single line which
comprises the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation along with the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
remeasurement to fair value less costs to sell or on disposal of the assets or disposal groups constituting discontinued
operations.

1.16 Share-based payments arrangements
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value of the
goods or services received.

1.17 Translation of foreign currencies
Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated Group annual financial statements are presented in Rand which is the Group functional and presentation
currency.

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of group entities at exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting
date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.
The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between the amortised cost in the functional
currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised
cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are
recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign operations
Items included in each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The results and financial position of all the Group entities that
have a functional currency different from that of the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency
as follows:
•

assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate;

•

income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates; and

•

all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity until such foreign entity is
disposed of at which time such translation difference is recognised in profit or loss.
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(continued)

New Standards and Interpretations
2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective
The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are
mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 March 2015 or later periods:

Standard/Interpretation:

Effective date:
Years beginning on or after

IFRS 8 – Annual improvements for 2010 – 2012 cycle
Amendments to some disclosure requirements regarding the judgements made
by management in applying the aggregation criteria, as well as those to certain
reconciliations.

01 July 2014

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments
Amendments to the measurement requirements for all contingent consideration assets
and liabilities included under IFRS 9.

01 July 2014

A finalised version of IFRS 9 has been issued which replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
• Recognition and Measurement. The completed standard comprises guidance on
Classification and Measurement, Impairment Hedge Accounting and Derecognition:

01 January 2018

–

IFRS 9 introduces a new approach to the classification of financial assets, which
is driven by the business model in which the asset is held and their cash flow
characteristics. A new business model was introduced which does allow certain
financial assets to be categorised as “fair value through other comprehensive
income” in certain circumstances. The requirements for financial liabilities are
mostly carried forward unchanged from IAS 39. However, some changes were
made to the fair value option for financial liabilities to address the issue of own
credit risk.

–

The new model introduces a single impairment model being applied to all financial
instruments, as well as an “expected credit loss” model for the measurement of
financial assets.

–

IFRS 9 contains a new model for hedge accounting that aligns the accounting
treatment with the risk management activities of an entity, in addition enhanced
disclosures will provide better information about risk management and the effect
of hedge accounting on the financial statements.

–

IFRS 9 carries forward the derecognition requirements of financial assets and
liabilities from IAS 39.

IFRS 13 – Annual improvements for 2010 – 2012 cycle
Fair Value Measurement: Short-term receivables and payables:

01 July 2014

Amendments to clarify the measurement requirements for those short-term receivables
and payables.
IFRS 13 – Annual improvements for 2011 – 2013 cycle
Fair Value Measurement: Scope of paragraph 52 (portfolio exception):

01 July 2014

Amendments to clarify that the portfolio exception applies to all contracts within the scope
of, and accounted for in accordance with, IAS 39 or IFRS 9.
IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers
New standard that requires entities to recognise revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This core
principle is achieved through a five step methodology that is required to be applied to all
contracts with customers.
The new standard will also result in enhanced disclosures about revenue, provide guidance
for transactions that were not previously addressed comprehensively and improve
guidance for multiple element arrangements.
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New Standards and Interpretations (continued)
2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

(continued)

Standard/Interpretation:

Effective date:
Years beginning on or after
01 January 2016

IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment
Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 to clarify the basis for the calculation of depreciation
and amortisation, as being the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic
benefits of an asset.

01 January 2016

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements
Disclosure Initiative: Amendments designed to encourage entities to apply professional
judgement in determining what information to disclose in their financial statements.
For example, the amendments make clear that materiality applies to the whole of financial
statements and that the inclusion of immaterial information can inhibit the usefulness
of financial disclosures. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that entities should use
professional judgement in determining where and in what order information is presented
in the financial disclosures.

Amendment to both IAS 16 and IAS 38 establishing the principle for the basis of
depreciation and amortisation as being the expected pattern of consumption of the future
economic benefits of an asset. Clarifying that revenue is generally presumed to be an
inappropriate basis for measuring the consumption of economic benefits in such assets.
Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 which defines bearer plants and includes bearer
plants in the scope of IAS 16 Property, plant and Equipment, rather than IAS 41 allowing
such assets to be accounted for after initial recognition in accordance with IAS 16.
IAS 24 – Annual improvements for 2010 – 2012 cycle
Amendments to the definitions and disclosure requirements for key management
personnel.

01 July 2014

IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Amendments to IAS 27 will allow entities to use the equity method to account for
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial
statements.

01 January 2016

IAS 40 – Investment Property
Annual Improvements 2011 – 2013 Cycle: Amendments to clarify the interrelationship
between IFRS 3 and IAS 40 when classifying property as investment property or owner
occupied property.

01 July 2014

All standards and interpretations will be adopted at their effective dates.
Management has not yet determined the extent to which the improvements and
amendments to the standards will impact the Company’s consolidated and separate
annual financial statements.
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GROUP

R’000

3.

COMPANY

2015

2014

2015

2014

7 727 811

6 589 621

7 312 961

6 275 762

485 224

263 828

472 074

224 289

8 213 035

6 853 449

7 785 035

6 500 051

Investment property
Net carrying value
Cost

Fair value surplus

Movement for the year
Investment property at the beginning of the year

6 853 449

2 070 053

6 500 051

1 850 311

Acquisitions

752 728

4 477 778

691 331

4 383 667

Fair value adjustments

485 224

263 828

472 074

224 289

Non-current asset held-for-sale (note 14)
Capital expenditure and tenant installations

(26 500)

–

(26 500)

–

148 134

41 790

148 079

41 784

8 213 035

6 853 449

7 785 035

6 500 051

8 213 035

6 853 449

7 785 035

6 500 051

180 865

112 281

170 165

105 879

8 393 900

6 965 730

7 955 200

6 605 930

Reconciliation to valuations
Investment property carrying amount
Straight-line rental income accrual

Investment property pledged as security
The investment property has been encumbered as security for Interest-bearing borrowings (refer to note 17) as follows:
•

Investment property with a market value of R2.17 billion (2014: R1.62 billion) is mortgaged to the Standard Bank of
South Africa Limited to secure borrowing facilities amounting to R1.2 billion (2014: R1.0 billion).

•

Investment property with a market value of R5.05 billion (2014: R4.45 billion) is mortgaged to Nedbank Limited to secure
borrowing facilities amounting to R2.52 billion (2014: R2.08 billion).

•

Investment property with a market value of R0.2 billion (2014: R0.1 billion) is mortgaged to Sanlam Limited to secure
borrowing facilities amounting to R0.09 billion (2014: R0.4 billion).

•

Investment property with a market value of R1.0 billion (2014: R0.8 billion) is held as security in respect of secured floating
rate notes amounting to R0.7 billion (2014: R0.4 billion).

•

Investment property with a market value of R0.6 billion (2014: R nil) is held as security by Bank of China for borrowing
facilities in respect of a second continuous mortgage bond amounting to R0.14 billion (2014: R nil).

Full details of investment property owned by the Group is contained in the register of investment property which is open for
inspection by shareholders at the registered office of the Group.
In terms of the accounting policy, investment property is valued annually. Independent valuations are obtained on a rotational
basis, ensuring that every property is valued by an independent valuer once in every three years. The directors value the
remaining properties annually on an open-market basis. During the year under review, all investment property was valued by
external valuers. The independent valuations were performed by Ace Valuers Proprietary Limited, LDM Valuations Solutions
Proprietary Limited, Valuations DNA Proprietary Limited and Quadrant Properties Proprietary Limited, all of whom are registered
valuers in terms of section 19 of the Property Valuers Professional Act No. 47 of 2000.
The valuations were performed using the discounted cash flow and income capitalisation methodology. These methods are based
on open market values with consideration given to the future earnings potential and applying an appropriate discount rate to the
property. The Group’s discount rate range applied for valuations performed on the discounted cash flow method ranged between
14% and 16% and for valuations performed on the income capitalisation methodology, the capitalisation rate applied ranged
between 9% and 12%.
Commitments in respect of tenant installations and extensions are set out in note 34.
The fair value adjustments on investment property are included in profit or loss. Refer to note 24.
The Group’s investment properties have been ranked as per the fair value hierarchy below. Details of the fair value hierarchy are
set out in note 40.
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R’000

3.

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Investment property (continued)
Investment property at valuation
28 February 2015

–

–

8 420 400

8 420 400

28 February 2014

–

–

6 965 730

6 965 730

Changes in discount rates attributable to changes in market conditions can have a significant impact on property valuations.
A 0.25% basis point increase in the average discount rate will decrease the value of investment property by R218.4 million
(2.59%).

GROUP

R’000

4.

2015

2014

2015

2014

112 281

49 059

105 879

46 685

68 584

63 222

64 286

59 194

180 865

112 281

170 165

105 879

1 826

2 462

1 826

2 462

Straight-line rental income accrual
Balance at the beginning of the year
Movement for the year
Balance at the end of the year

5.

COMPANY

Property, plant and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Cost

4 208

3 474

4 208

3 474

Accumulated depreciation

(2 382)

(1 012)

(2 382)

(1 012)

Computer equipment
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Furniture and fittings
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

266

112

396

150

(130)

(38)

266

112

396

150

(130)

(38)

831

981

831

981

1 185

1 138

1 185

1 138

(354)

(157)

(354)

(157)

Movement for the year
Balance at beginning of the year

3 555

279

3 555

–

Acquisitions

1 027

4 647

1 027

4 647
3 359

Leasehold improvements

734

3 359

734

Computer equipment

246

150

246

150

Furniture and fittings

47

1 138

47

1 138

Depreciation
Leasehold improvements

(1 659)

(1 134)

(1 659)

(1 092)
(897)

(1 370)

(939)

(1 370)

Computer equipment

(92)

(38)

(92)

(38)

Furniture and fittings

(197)

(157)

(197)

(157)

Disposals
Leasehold improvements

–

(237)

–

–

–

(237)

–

–

2 923

3 555

2 923
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R’000

6.

Cost

Impairment Carrying value

Intangible assets
GROUP 2015
Development right

15 582

(15 582)

–

15 582

(15 582)

–

COMPANY 2015
Development right

R’000

Opening
balance

Additions

Impairment
loss

–

15 582

(15 582)

–

–

15 582

(15 582)

–

Total

GROUP 2015

Reconciliation of intangible assets
Development right
COMPANY 2015
Development right

Other information
Delta had acquired development rights over land adjacent to the Beacon Hill property for a consideration of R15.5 million.
These development rights never came to fruition and were impaired in the current financial year.
GROUP
% holding
2015

% holding
2014

2015

2014

Choice Decisions 300

100

100

7 100

7 100

Hestitrix

100

100

–

–

Hendisa Investments

100

100

176 620

176 620

K2014000273

100

100

–

–

Atterbury Parkdev

100

100

137 081

137 081

Phamog Properties

100

100

264 962

264 962

277 Vermeulen Street

100

–

62 273

R’000

7.

COMPANY

Investments in subsidiaries
Name of company

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries

(585 763)

–
(585 763)

62 273

–

During the year Delta acquired 100% of the share capital of 277 Vermeulen Street.
In the prior year, Delta acquired 100% of the share capital of Hendisa Investments, Atterbury Parkdev, Phamog Properties and
K2014000273.
In the prior year, Hendisa Investments, Atterbury Parkdev, Choice Decisions and Phamog Properties disposed of their respective
investment properties to Delta by utilising the corporate rules set out in part III of the Income Tax Act and specifically undertaking
“Reorganisation Transaction(s)” as contemplated in section 23K of the Income Tax Act by distributing the relevant investment
properties as in specie distributions to Delta prior to their anticipated liquidation.
The following subsidiaries are required to be liquidated in terms of section 47 of the Income Tax Act within three years of the
date of declaration of the dividend in specie:
•

Choice Decisions;

•

Hendisa Investments;

•

Atterbury Parkdev Consortium; and

•

Phamog Properties.

Delta is in the process of deregistering these subsidiaries and this process will be completed within the three year period
stipulated in the Income Tax Act.
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GROUP

R’000

8.

COMPANY

2015

2014

2015

Choice Decisions 300

–

–

Hestitrix

–

–

Hendisa Investments

–

–

31

K2014000273

–

–

122 953

2014

Loans to/(from) subsidiaries
(1 401)
197 364

(1 416)
196 748
(10)
127 292

Atterbury Parkdev

–

–

(1 717)

277 Vermeulen Street

–

–

2 626

Phamog Properties

–

–

–

–

319 486

320 086

Non-current assets

–

–

322 974

324 040

Non-current liabilities

–

–

–

–

319 486

320 086

–

333 637

–

333 637

–

333 637

–

333 637

–
(368)

The loans are secured by investment property held in the
subsidiaries (where applicable), bear interest at a fixed rate
of 7.5%. These loans are repayable within 30 years from
November 2012.
In the opinion of the directors, the carrying value of loans to
subsidiaries approximate fair value as the interest rates on
these loans approximate the interest rates on borrowings,
which in the current year under review amounted to an
average inclusive interest rate of 7.5% (2014: 7.5%)
(refer to note 17).

9.

(3 488)

(3 954)

Investments
Fair value through profit or loss
Ascension
Non-current assets
Fair value through profit or loss
Movement for the period Ascension: AIA units
Holding (%)
Price (Rand) on date of disposal
Opening balance
Net cost
Accrued distribution

–

9.07

–

9.07

4.65

4.69

4.65

4.69

131 328

–

131 328

–

–

116 221

–

116 221

–

Fair value adjustment

(1 120)

Proceeds on disposal

(133 288)

Profit on disposal

772

–

14 335

(1 120)

–

(133 288)

772
14 335
–

3 080

–

3 080

–

–

131 328

–

131 328

Ascension: AIB units
Holding (%)
Price on date of disposal
Opening balance
Net cost
Accrued distribution

–

21.94

–

21.94

2.40

2.45

2.40

2.45

202 309

–

202 309

–

–

218 527

–

218 527

–

Fair value adjustment

(4 129)

Proceeds on disposal

(215 522)

Profit on disposal
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1 384
(17 602)
–

–
(4 129)
(215 522)

1 384
(17 602)
–

17 342

–

17 342

–

–

202 309

–

202 309
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GROUP

R’000

9.

2015

COMPANY
2014

2015

2014

333 637

–

333 637

–

–

334 748

–

334 748

Investments (continued)
Combined
Opening balance
Net cost
Accrued distribution

–

Fair value adjustment

(5 249)

Proceeds on disposal

(348 809)

Profit on disposal

2 156
(3 267)
–

–

2 156

(5 249)

(3 267)

(348 809)

–

20 421

–

20 421

–

–

333 637

–

333 637

The investment in Ascension was accounted for as an investment rather than equity accounted, since Delta does not exercise
significant influence over the financial and operating decisions of Ascension as they have no board representation.
The fair value of the investment is based on the closing unit price as reflected on the JSE. On 22 July 2014, the Company
disposed of its investment in Ascension for a total consideration of R348 809 389, resulting in an accounting profit
of R20 421 004.
GROUP

R’000

COMPANY

2015

2014

2015

2014

–

4 384

–

4 238

10. Deferred tax
Deferred tax (liability)/asset
Income received in advance
Prepayments
Provision for bad debts

(19)
–
(19)

(106)

–

(106)

295

–

295

4 573

–

4 427

Reconciliation of deferred tax (liability)/asset
At beginning of the year

4 573

(57 207)

4 427

(52 180)

Unutilised tax losses

–

1 254

–

Capital allowances

–

1 122

–

–

Change in fair value of investment property

–

44 225

–

41 648

Income received in advance
Prepayments
Provision for bad debts
Straight-line rental income accrual

(4 384)
87
(295)
–
(19)

1 483

(4 238)

(106)

106

295

(295)

–

1 698
(106)
295

13 507

–

13 072

4 573

–

4 427

Delta has been approved as a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT), with effect from 01 March 2014, resulting in capital
gains taxation no longer being applicable on the sale of investment property in terms of section 25BB of the Income Tax Act.
The deferred tax rate applied to investment property at the sale rate will therefore be 0%. Consequently, no deferred tax was
raised on deferred capital gains of investment property.
Deferred tax assets have been recognised on deductible temporary differences where management, having reviewed the Group’s
projections, believe that there will be taxable income in future to utilise these temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised for certain Companies in the Group with tax losses amounting to R16.2 million
(2014: R16.5 million).
There is no regulatory expiry date for unused tax losses.
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GROUP

R’000

COMPANY

2015

2014

2015

2014

Mesidox Proprietary Limited
The loan is unsecured and bears interest at the prime interest
rate plus 1%. The loan was settled during the year.

–

15 582

–

15 582

Motseng Property Investments Proprietary Limited
The loan is unsecured and bears interest at the prime interest
rate plus 1%. The loan was settled during the year.

–

11 280

–

11 280

–

26 862

–

26 862

–

26 862

–

26 682

61 793

34 093

65 189

34 033

11. Other financial assets
Related companies

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:
Less than 180 days past due

12. Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables
Allowances for credit losses

(1 128)
60 665

Amounts due from vendors

(1 403)
32 690

(1 128)
64 061

(1 403)
32 630

6 004

5 906

4 631

6 545

61 954

59 215

60 821

58 637

126 771

7 187

126 772

7 042

49

141

–

–

28 593

16 698

28 520

12 345

284 036

121 837

284 805

117 199

30 days

16 336

7 070

16 336

7 042

60 days

5 125

3 222

5 125

3 222

90 days

12 956

248

12 956

248

34 417

10 540

34 417

10 512

Accrued income
Deposits paid
Value added taxation
Other receivables

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
Trade and other receivables are generally collected within
30 days of invoice, once a property has been fully integrated,
which represents normal terms. A provision is made for
all debtors where legal action has been taken. All other
debtors older than 30 days which are past due but not
impaired, are considered fully collectable based on historic
payment behaviour and extensive analysis of the individual
circumstances in respect of each amount.
At 28 February 2015, trade receivables of R34.4 million
(2014: R10.5 million) for the Group and R34.4 million
(2014: R10.5 million) for the Company were past due but
not impaired.
Ageing of trade receivables past due but not impaired

Trade receivables
None of the financial assets that are fully performing have been renegotiated in the last year.
Trade and other receivables impaired
As of 28 February 2015, trade and other receivables of the Group and Company of R1.1 million (2014: R1.4 million) were
impaired and provided for.
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GROUP

R’000

2015

COMPANY
2014

2015

2014

12. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Movement on the impairment of trade receivables
Opening balance
Bad debts written off
Allowance for credit losses

(1 403)

–

(1 403)

1 403

–

1 403

–
–

(1 128)

(1 403)

(1 128)

(1 403)

(1 128)

(1 403)

(1 128)

(1 403)

13. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Bank balances
Short-term deposits
Bank overdraft

Current assets
Current liabilities

60 546

21 199

58 941

20 473

184

60 980

134

60 980

–

–

(21)

(122)

60 709

82 057

59 075

81 453

60 730

82 179

59 075

81 453

–

–

59 075

81 453

(21)
60 709

(122)
82 057

The Company has an overdraft facility of R30 million
(2014: R30 million) in place with the Standard Bank of
South Africa Limited, which was subsequently increased to
R40 million, effective 30 March 2015. At 28 February 2015,
R36 million of the cash on hand has been encumbered to
Standard Bank of South Africa in favour of Delta International.

14. Non-current assets held-for-sale
Richmond Forum Building
This building was valued by Quadrant Properties Proprietary
Limited as at 28 February 2015 at R26.5 million being the
fair value of the investment property. The Company took the
decision to dispose off this building to reduce vacancies on the
Group’s portfolio and utilise the funds to reduce the Group’s
gearing levels. The property will be disposed within 12 months
of the current financial period and is disclosed as part of the
“Office other” segment in these financial statements.
Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets held-for-sale
Investment property
Investment in subsidiary (Delta International)

26 500

–

26 500

–

–

–

501 050

–

2 110 030

–

–

–

2 136 530

–

527 550

–

1 172 343

–

–

–

Assets of disposal groups
Delta International*

Liabilities associated with disposal group held-for-sale
Delta International*
* Refer to note 30.
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GROUP

R’000

COMPANY

2015

2014

2015

2014

2 778 064

317 544

2 784 035

317 544

Balance at the beginning of the year

317 544

144 666

317 544

144 666

Issue of linked units – issued as consideration for investment
property

15. Share capital
Authorised
3 000 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value
(2014: 3 000 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value)
Issued
458 409 836 ordinary shares of no par value
(2014: 429 510 825 ordinary shares of no par value)

161 966

879 851

161 966

879 851

Issue of linked units – rights issue

–

863 095

–

863 095

Issue of linked units – cash

–

179 367

–

Recognition of debenture premium 2014

–

Issue of linked units – issued as consideration for investment
property relating to prior year

–

Antecedent interest accrued distribution 01*

–

(44 837)

–

(25 913)

Antecedent interest accrued distribution 02* and
distribution 03*
Capital issue expenses
Antecedent interest accrued distribution 03*
Antecedent interest accrued distribution 04* and
distribution 05*

(14 139)

(1 657 736)
6 910

(27 859)

(5 836)

–

(3 425)

–

–
–

179 367
(1 657 736)
6 910

–

(44 837)

–

(25 913)

(8 169)

(27 859)

(5 836)

–

(3 425)

–

REIT conversion

2 321 954

–

2 321 954

–

Balance at the end of the year

2 778 064

317 544

2 784 035

317 544

Issued

2 778 064

317 544

2 784 035

317 544

* Details of distributions 01 – 05 as announced on SENS.

The unissued shares are under the control of the directors. This authority remains in force until the next annual general meeting
of the Company.
During the year under review, the process to convert Delta to a REIT was successfully completed and Delta’s linked units was
delinked on the JSE. The new financial instruments were listed on the JSE on 15 December 2014 and in the future will trade
as shares in the Company.
Accordingly, Delta’s debentures were reallocated to share capital during the current year.
The fair value of shares issued as consideration for investment property acquired was determined by reference to the market
value of the property.
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GROUP

R’000

COMPANY

2015

2014

2015

2014

–

2 570 022

–

2 570 022

2 570 022

936 079

2 570 022

936 079

16 815

2 010 912

16 815

2 010 912

16. Debentures and debenture premium
Authorised
R nil (2014:3 000 000 000) variable rate, subordinated
debentures of R1.15 each.
Issued
R nil (2014: 429 510 825) debentures
Movement for the year
Balance at the beginning of the year
Debentures issued during the year
Amortisation of debenture premium
REIT conversion
Balance at the end of the year

(264 883)
(2 321 954)
–

(376 969)
–
2 570 022

(264 883)
(2 321 954)
–

(376 969)
–
2 570 022

During the year under review, the process to convert Delta to a REIT was successfully completed and Delta’s linked units were
delinked on the JSE. The new financial instruments were listed on the JSE on 15 December 2014 and in the future will trade as
shares in the Company.

88

R’000
Facility

GROUP
Bank

Nominal interest rate

Maturity

COMPANY

2015

2014

2015

2014

17. Interest-bearing borrowings
3 month Jibar + 0.45%

May 14

–

190 778

–

190 778

Prime – 1.34%

Mar 15

405 578

8 006

405 578

8 006

150 250 Nedbank

3 month Jibar + 2.00%

July 15

154 374

–

154 374

–

102 000 Commercial paper

3 month Jibar + 0.55%

Aug 15

102 479

–

102 479

–

50 000 Commercial paper

3 month Jibar + 1.35%

Nov 15

50 206

–

50 206

–

3 month Jibar + 2.00%

Jan 16

59 788

–

59 788

–

3 month Jibar + 1.40%

Feb 16

51 257

–

51 257

–

180 000 Nedbank

3 month Jibar + 1.88%

May 16

180 226

180 189

180 226

180 189

200 000 Nedbank

212 000 Nedbank
51 000 Commercial paper

3 month Jibar + 1.88%

May 16

197 109

180 248

197 109

180 248

85 400 Standard Bank

3 month Jibar + 1.65%

May 16

85 437

86 930

85 437

86 930

93 000 Standard Bank

Prime – 1.50%

May 16

92 717

75 468

92 717

75 468

43 275 Standard Bank

3 month Jibar + 1.65%

Sep 16

43 842

43 778

43 842

43 778

46 366 Standard Bank
362 000 3 year bond

Prime – 1.50%

Sep 16

46 575

44 397

46 575

44 397

3 month Jibar + 1.50%

Dec 16

365 982

365 182

365 982

365 182

13 100 Sanlam

3 month Jibar + 1.90%.

Feb 17

13 326

13 100

13 326

13 100

32 800 Standard Bank

3 month Jibar + 1.90%

Feb 17

32 814

32 807

32 814

32 807

3 month Jibar + 1.90%

Feb 17

55 094

55 081

55 094

55 081

Jul 17

140 076

–

140 076

–
–

55 070 Standard Bank
126 000 Bank of China

LIBOR + 3.50%

86 200 Standard Bank

3 month Jibar + 1.65%

Sep 17

87 302

–

87 302

14 970 Standard Bank

3 month Jibar + 1.90%

Sep 17

15 167

–

15 167

–

3 month Jibar + 1.85%

Sep 17

184 207

181 635

184 207

181 635
–

180 000 Nedbank

3 month Jibar + 1.90%

Sep 17

9 741

–

9 741

125 000 Commercial paper

9 600 Sanlam

3 month Jibar + 2.07%

Oct 17

126 048

–

126 048

–

350 000 Nedbank

3 month Jibar + 2.20%

Nov 17

352 040

351 965

352 040

351 965

11 550 Standard Bank

3 month Jibar + 1.65%

Nov 17

11 555

–

11 555

–

13 100 Sanlam

3 month Jibar + 2.00%

Dec 17

13 329

13 226

13 329

13 226

32 800 Standard Bank

3 month Jibar + 2.00%

Dec 17

33 238

33 159

33 238

33 159

31 625 Nedbank

3 month Jibar + 1.75%

Jan 18

32 126

31 818

32 126

31 818

270 000 Nedbank

3 month Jibar + 2.02%

May 18

271 572

271 514

271 572

271 514

128 000 Standard Bank

3 month Jibar + 1.75%

May 18

128 157

130 454

128 157

130 454

80 000 Nedbank

3 month Jibar + 1.96%

Jul 18

81 587

81 147

81 587

81 147

100 000 Nedbank

3 month Jibar + 1.96%

Aug 18

102 409

101 729

102 409

101 729

65 000 Standard Bank

3 month Jibar + 1.85%

Sep 18

65 780

65 683

65 780

65 683

32 000 Standard Bank

3 month Jibar + 2.00%

Sep 18

31 921

–

31 921

–

20 200 Sanlam

3 month Jibar + 2.00%

Sep 18

20 500

–

20 500

–

100 000 Nedbank

3 month Jibar + 1.75%

Oct 18

69 260

–

69 260

–

3 month Jibar + 2.10%

Dec 18

33 375

33 418

33 375

33 418
13 401

32 930 Standard Bank
13 200 Sanlam

3 month Jibar + 2.10%

Dec 18

13 434

13 401

13 434

55 600 Nedbank

3 month Jibar + 1.75%

Jan 19

56 676

–

56 676

–

134 400 Nedbank

3 month Jibar + 1.75%

Jan 19

137 573

135 219

137 573

135 219

31 400 Standard Bank

3 month Jibar + 2.10%

Sep 19

31 825

–

31 825

–

20 200 Sanlam

3 month Jibar + 2.10%

Sep 19

20 504

–

20 504

–

350 000 Nedbank

3 month Jibar + 1.85%

Nov 19

351 977

351 930

351 977

351 930

150 000 Standard Bank

3 month Jibar + 1.85%

Nov 19

150 872

125 480

150 872

125 480

Debt structuring fees

(490)
4 508 565

–
3 197 742

(490)
4 508 565

–
3 197 742

At year-end, the Group’s unutilised loan facilities amounted to R155.0 million, the gearing ratio was 49.8%
(2014: 46.3% – restated to include cash. Refer to note 39) and the weighted average cost of debt as at year-end was 8.1%
(2014: 7.5%). The interest-bearing borrowings are secured over investment property with a carrying value of R8.4 billion
(2014: R7.0 billion) – refer to note 3 and listed securities with a fair value of R nil (2014: R0.3 billion) – refer to note 9.
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GROUP

R’000

COMPANY

2015

2014

2015

2014

3 652 300

2 981 312

3 652 300

2 981 312

856 265

216 430

856 265

216 430

4 508 565

3 197 742

4 508 565

3 197 742

17. Interest-bearing borrowings (continued)
Non-current liabilities
At amortised cost
Current liabilities
At amortised cost

18. Derivative financial instruments
Standard Bank – Interest rate swaps

13 853

–

13 853

–

Standard Bank – Foreign currency swap

2 482

–

2 482

–

Nedbank – Interest rate swaps

4 655

–

4 655

–

20 990

–

20 990

–

Refer to note 40 for further details on the classification of the
financial instrument.

19. Trade and other payables
8 644

21 918

8 246

21 901

Income received in advance

Trade payables

46 565

19 984

46 565

19 390

Accrued expenses

27 404

29 400

26 596

25 942

815

845

680

610

Tenant deposits

9 387

6 093

9 298

6 053

Value added taxation

9 225

4 564

6 723

4 394

Other payables

1 123

452

1 107

453

103 163

83 256

99 215

78 743

Karimu portfolio

–

131 709

–

131 709

Grindrod

–

134 947

–

134 947

–

266 656

–

266 656

Contractual rental income

774 870

496 094

743 701

468 953

Recoveries

165 753

98 115

157 741

89 985

940 623

594 209

901 442

558 938

Accrual for audit fees

20. Other financial liabilities
Vendors

Other financial liabilities comprise loans from Vendors. The loan
to Karimu portfolio is unsecured, interest free and was settled
during the current year. The loan to Grindrod is unsecured
bears interest at prime plus 1% and was settled during the
current year.

21. Revenue

Revenue comprises gross rentals and recoveries.
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GROUP

R’000

COMPANY

2015

2014

2015

2014

–

–

–

8 599

2 450

1 317

2 450

1 317

22. Operating profit
Operating profit for the year is stated after accounting
for the following:
Income from subsidiaries and listed investments
Management fees
Operating lease charges
Recognised on a straight-line basis
Charges
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment

1 659

1 134

1 659

1 092

Directors’ fees

8 769

10 644

8 769

10 644

Asset management fees

25 563

21 106

25 563

21 106

Property management fees

20 349

14 250

18 921

13 460

Allowances for credit losses

1 128

1 403

1 128

1 403

12 366

–

12 366

–

Audit fees – current year

976

845

821

610

Audit fees – other services

182

509

182

505

55

–

55

–

317

207

317

207

Unrealised loss on exchange differences

Tax and secretarial services
Internal audit fees

23. Directors’ emoluments
Fees paid to executive directors

2015 – Fees paid R’000

Salary

Other
benefits* Pension paid

Total

Sandile Nomvete

3 481

166

227

3 874

Bronwyn Corbett

3 192

116

–

3 308

6 673

282

227

7 182

Pension paid

Performance
bonus

Total

Other
benefits*

2014 – R’000

Salary

Sandile Nomvete

2 278

136

150

2 500

5 064

Bronwyn Corbett

1 952

91

–

2 000

4 043

4 230

227

150

4 500

9 107

*

Other benefits comprise of insurance premiums and travel allowance.

Fees paid to non-executive directors
2015 – R’000

Directors’ fees

Total

JB Magwaza

311

311

Jorge Da Costa

274

274

Nooraya Khan

336

336

Ipeleng Mkhari

111

111

Karl Schmidt

171

171

Paul Simpson

256

256

Dumo Motau

52

52

Ian Macleod

76

76

1 587

1 587
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23. Directors’ emoluments (continued)
Fees paid to Non-Executive Directors (continued)
2014 – R’000

Directors’ fees

Total

JB Magwaza

288

288

Jorge Da Costa

253

253

Nooraya Khan

297

297

Ipeleng Mkhari

193

193

Karl Schmidt

269

269

Paul Simpson

237

237

1 537

1 537

GROUP

R’000

COMPANY

2015

2014

2015

2014

485 224

264 523

472 074

224 289

24. Fair value adjustments
Unrealised gain on revaluation of investment property
Unrealised loss on investments
Unrealised loss on derivative financial instruments

(5 249)
(20 990)
458 985

(3 267)
–
261 256

(5 249)
(20 990)
445 835

(3 267)
–
221 022

25. Finance costs
Group companies
Interest-bearing borrowings
Other borrowings
Bank
South African Revenue Services

–

–

264

–

313 955

139 537

313 886

139 537

–

11 360

–

8 892

2 425

227

2 444

227

–

25

–

19

316 380

151 149

316 594

148 675

–

–

34 020

–

1 639

1 007

1 639

992

–

–

22 958

17 900

242

–

242

–

–

945

–

945

2 033

3 630

2 033

3 630

51

372

51

372

3 965

5 954

26 923

23 839

3 965

5 954

60 943

23 839

26. Investment revenue
Dividend revenue
Dividends received
Interest revenue
Bank
Group companies
Investments
Other financial assets
Short-term investments
Other
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GROUP

R’000

2015

COMPANY
2014

2015

2014

(747)

5 772

–

5 798

(1 634)

–

(1 634)

–

(2 381)

5 772

(1 634)

5 798

27. Taxation
Major components of the tax expense (income)
Current
Local income tax – current period
Local income tax – recognised in current tax for prior
periods

Originating and reversing temporary differences

4 592

(61 779)

4 427

(56 606)

2 211

(56 007)

2 793

(50 808)

Reconciliation of the tax expense
Reconciliation between accounting profit and
tax expense.
Accounting profit

913 279

705 697

917 234

662 716

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2014: 28%)

255 718

197 595

256 826

185 560

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income
Fair value adjustments – investment property
Fair value adjustments – listed property securities
Capital profit on listed securities
Impairment of investment in subsidiary
Dividends received – not taxable

(135 863)

1 470

(5 718)

–

(5 718)

–
5 109
(13 026)

Amortisation of debenture premium

(74 167)

Tax losses carried forward
Non-deductible expenditure
Straight-line rental income adjustment
Capital gains taxation rate adjustment
Deferred tax asset not recognised due to the entity
being a controlled company (s25BB)
Qualifying distribution

(132 181)

–

Non-taxable income

Utilisation of brought forward tax losses

(90 850)

1 470

–
(90)

–
(604)
–
(105 551)
250
(9 256)

–
9 526
(3 388)
(74 167)
–
–

(79 375)
–
–
164 014
(164 566)
–
(105 551)
–
(8 649)

92 546

12 515

73 961

12 480

(19 204)

(13 507)

(18 000)

(13 072)

–
972
(105 536)
2 211

(46 599)
–
–
(56 007)

–
–
(105 536)
2 793

(41 649)
–
–
(50 808)

The estimated tax loss available for set off against future taxable income is R16.2 million (2014: R16.5 million)
(Company: R nil; 2014: R nil).
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GROUP

R’000

2015

2014

28. Earnings, headline earnings and distributable earnings
Reconciliation of earnings, headline earnings and distributable earnings
Profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to equity shareholders

911 068

761 704

Debenture interest

177 044

254 046

1 088 112

1 015 750

Earnings
Loss for the year from discontinued operations attributable to equity shareholders
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders

(25 648)

–

1 062 464

1 015 750

1 088 112

1 015 750

Headline earnings – continuing operations
Attributable earnings from continuing operations
Change in fair value of investment property (net of deferred taxation)
Change in fair value of property
Deferred taxation
Gain from bargain purchase
Impairment of development right (net of taxation)
Impairment of development right
Tax effect

(485 224)

(308 748)

(485 224)

(264 523)

–

(44 225)

(127)
15 582

–

15 582

–

–

–

618 343

707 002

1 062 464

1 015 750

Headline earnings – continuing and discontinued operations
Attributable earnings from continuing and discontinued operations
Change in fair value of investment property (net of deferred taxation)
Change in fair value of property
Deferred taxation
Gain from bargain purchase
Impairment of development right (net of taxation)

(308 748)

(570 208)

(264 523)

27 370

(44 225)

(127)
15 582

–

15 582

–

–

–

27 419

–

Headline earnings from continuing and discontinued operations

562 500

707 002

Headline earnings from continuing operations

613 980

707 002

Impairment of development right
Tax effect
Non-controlling interest

Straight-line rental income accrual (net of deferred taxation)
Straight-line rental income accrual
Deferred taxation
Antecedent interest
Transaction costs
Cancellation fee
Deferred taxation – other adjustments
Fair value loss on investment in securities

(68 584)

(73 321)

(68 584)

(59 814)

–

35 270

–

1 048

41 200

(4 046)

5 249

3 267

Dividend received from subsidiary

18 247

Profit on disposal of listed investments
Accrued distribution from listed investments
Retained distributable earnings
Distributable earnings attributable to equity shareholders

–

4 592
20 990

Amortisation of debenture premium

(13 507)

3 425

Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange loss

94

(542 838)

12 366
(264 883)

–
(376 969)

(20 425)
11 905
–
382 425

(2 935)
289 316

GROUP

R’000

2015

2014

382 425

289 316

Interim

180 469

116 738

Final (declared after 28 February 2015)

201 956

172 578

28. Earnings, headline earnings and distributable earnings (continued)
Distributable earnings attributable to equity shareholders (continued)
Less: Distribution declared

451 042 442 359 083 615
458 409 836 429 510 825

Weighted average number of shares in issue

448 263 938 344 639 642

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents)
Basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic and diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations

242.74
(5.72)

294.73
–

237.02

294.73

137.94

205.14

Basic and diluted headline earnings per share (cents)
Basic and diluted headline earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic and diluted headline earnings per share from discontinued operations

(12.46)

–

125.48

205.14

The Fund has no dilutionary instruments in issue
Distribution per share (cents) – interim

40.01

32.51

Distribution per share (cents) – year end (declared after 28 February 2015)

44.06

40.18

Distribution per share (cents) – full year

84.07

72.69

The Fund has no dilutionary instruments in issue.
The comparative figures for earnings and headline earnings per share have been restated due to the effects of the prior period
restatements – refer to note 43
Antecedent interest is the element of accrued interest included in the price of shares issued at a market related price.
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GROUP

R’000

COMPANY

2015

2014

2015

2014

913 279

705 697

917 234

662 715

–

–

–

901 892

705 697

917 234

662 715

1 659

1 134

1 659

1 092

–

–

–

585 763

12 366

–

12 366

–

–

–

29. Cash generated from operations
Profit/(loss) before tax
From continuing operations
From discontinuing operations

(11 387)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries
Loss on foreign exchange
Dividend in specie from subsidiaries
Amortisation of debenture premium
Dividends received from subsidiaries
Interest received
Antecedent interest
Finance costs
Accrued distributable income from investments
Profit on disposal of listed securities

(264 883)
–
(3 965)
–
316 380
–

(376 969)
–
(5 954)
(25 913)
151 149
(2 156)

(264 883)

–
(585 580)
(376 969)

(34 020)
(26 923)
–
316 594
–

–
(23 839)
(25 913)
148 675
(2 156)

(20 421)

–

(20 425)

–

Fair value adjustment on derivative financial instruments

20 990

–

20 990

–

Cancellation fee – non-cash portion

11 200

–

11 200

–

Impairment of development right

15 582

–

15 582

Changes in fair value – investment property
Changes in fair value – investments
Straight-line rental income accrual
Debenture interest
Non-cash flow loss from discontinuing operations
Gain on bargain purchase

(485 224)
5 249
(68 584)

(263 828)
3 267
(63 222)

(472 074)
5 249
(64 286)

–
(224 289)
3 267
(59 194)

177 044

289 316

177 044

289 316

11 387

–

–

–

–

–

–

(127)

Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

(167 340)

(82 427)

(167 606)

(78 613)

19 911

47 774

12 866

45 235

483 116

377 868

440 567

359 510

30. Business combinations
Investment in Delta International
On 22 May 2014 the Company acquired 89.01% of Delta International Property Holdings Limited (Delta International) for
R8.7 million. Delta International is a listed property investment company offering investors direct access to high growth
opportunities in African real estate (excluding South Africa). At acquisition date the net assets of Delta International Property
Holdings Limited amounted to R8.8 million. The excess of net assets over the consideration paid has been recognised as a
gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss.
During the year Delta International concluded a capital raise in which the Company participated, resulting in Delta’s interest
being diluted. At 28 February 2015, the Company held 23 415 200 shares in Delta International for an aggregate purchase
consideration of R501.3 million. Delays to Delta International’s capital raising programme resulted in Delta temporarily
holding 52.41% of Delta International’s issued share capital. Delta’s stated intention was to hold approximately 25% of
Delta International. A further capital raising exercise commenced before 28 February 2015 culminated in Delta International
raising USD39.0 million in April 2015, effectively diluting Delta’s shareholding to 35%. Delta expects to be diluted further
in the year ahead. The level of shareholding that existed at year-end together with the post year-end dilution has resulted
in Delta International being consolidated as a disposal group at 28 February 2015. Going forward Delta International will
be accounted for as an associate based on the fact that the Delta Board has relinquished its control over the activities
of Delta International.
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30. Business combinations (continued)
The following table summarises the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:
GROUP

R’000

COMPANY
2014

2015

2014

7 101
2 874

–
–

–
–

–
–

9 975

–

–

–

(34)

–

–

–

Identifiable assets and liabilities before non-controlling
interest
Non-controlling interest

9 941
(1 094)

–
–

–
–

–
–

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
Purchase consideration

8 847
(8 720)

–
–

–
–

–
–

–

–

–

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
Assets
Cash balances
Loans receivables

Liabilities
Trade and other payables

Gain from bargain purchase

127

Purchase consideration
Cash acquired

(8 720)
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

Cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary

(8 720)

–

–

–

31. Tax (paid)/refunded
Balance at beginning of the year
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss
Balance at end of the year

(6 142)
2 381
(1 153)

–
(5 772)
6 142

(4 914)

370

(5 798)
1 634
–

–
(5 798)
5 798

(4 164)

–

32. Shareholders for distribution
Balance at beginning of the year
Antecedent interest accrued paid on distribution 01
Distribution – interim
Non-cash portion of distribution 03
Antecedent interest accrued distribution 03
Distribution – year-end
Balance at end of the year

(172 578)
–
(177 044)
–
–
–
–

(39
(44
(116
9
(35
(146
172

068)
837)
738)
357
270)
664)
578

(172 578)
–
(177 044)
–
–
–
–

(39
(44
(116
9
(35
(146
172

068)
837)
738)
357
270)
664)
578

(349 622)

(200 642)

(349 622)

(200 642)

Dividends are from capital profits.
GROUP AND
COMPANY

Date

Transaction

Percentage
Effective
acquired or
interest after
lost (%) transaction (%)

Purchase
consideration

33. Transactions with owners
Delta International
Delta International
Delta International

11 July 14
23 July 14
09 October 14

Non-controlling interest acquired
Additional shares acquired
Shares sold

Net cash flows from
changes in shareholding
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(46.00)
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99.31
53.32
52.41
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GROUP

R’000

COMPANY

2015

2014

2015

2014

432 197

137 103

432 197

137 103

47 255

45 582

47 255

45 582

497 452

182 685

497 452

182 685

34. Commitments
Capital commitments
Capital improvements in respect of investment property
– Approved and committed
– Approved not yet committed

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)
Minimum lease payments due
– within one year
– in second to fifth year inclusive

4 028

1 593

4 028

1 593

19 368

2 001

19 368

2 001

23 396

3 594

23 396

3 594

Operating leases – as lessor (income)
Minimum lease payments receivable
– Within one year
– In second to fifth year inclusive
– Later than five years

813 464

689 477

769 699

654 346

1 838 488

2 125 526

1 734 990

1 980 039

284 251

286 953

269 859

262 973

2 936 203

3 101 956

2 774 548

2 897 358

Minimum lease payments comprise contractual rental income due in terms of signed lease agreements on investment property.
These figures exclude the Straight-line rental income accrual adjustments.
The Group’s investment property is held to generate rental income. Rental of investment property is expected to generate
rental yields of 10.02% (2014: 9.9%) on an ongoing basis. Lease agreements are non-cancellable and have terms from 2 to
10 years. There are no contingent rentals.

35. Related parties
Parties are considered related if one party has the ability to exercise control or significant influence over the other party in
making financial or operational decisions.
Relationships
Subsidiaries

Hestitrix
Choice Decisions 300
Hendisa Investments
Atterbury Parkdev
Phamog Properties
K2014000273
277 Vermeulen Street Properties

Temporary subsidiary

Delta International

Members of key management

Sandile Nomvete – CEO
Bronwyn Corbett – CFO/COO

Common directors

Motseng Property Services
MPI Property Asset Management
Motseng Property Investments
Mesidox
Retail Property Strategies
Somnipoint
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GROUP

R’000

COMPANY

2015

2014

2015

6 824

10 450

6 645

2014

35. Related parties (continued)
Related party balances and transactions (continued)
Motseng Property Services
Property management fees paid
Amount owing included in trade and other payables
Settlement fee on contract cancellation

–

(1 212)

–

9 912
(1 195)

41 200

–

41 200

–

Asset management fees paid

25 563

21 106

25 563

21 106

Property management fees paid

13 689

–

13 408

–

4 289

2 129

4 289

2 129

MPI Property Asset Management

Amount owing included in trade and other payables
Amount owing included in trade and other receivables

–
1 170

(265)
–

–
1 170

(265)
–

Motseng Property Investments
Interest received

–

Amount receivable at year-end

–

(945)
11 280

–
–

(945)
11 280

Mesidox
Acquisition of development right
Amount receivable at year-end

(15 582)
–

–
15 582

(15 582)
–

–
15 582

Choice Decisions 300
Interest paid

–

–

Amount (payable)/receivable at year-end

–

–
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Acquisition of the Maneo building

–

–

–

Dividends received

–

–

–

Interest received

–

–

Management fees received

–

–

–

Amount receivable at year-end

–

–

197 364

196 748

Amount receivable at year-end

–

–

122 953

127 292

Interest received

–

–

Management fees received

–

–

Interest paid

–

–

Amount payable at year-end

–

–

Acquisition of the Temo Towers building

–

–

–

Acquisition of the Phomoko Towers building

–

–

–

241 750

Dividends received

–

–

(1)

(264 962)

(1 401)

–
(1 416)
28 379
(7 445)

Hestitrix
(13 999)

(14 485)
(2 828)

K2014000273
(8 957)
–

(28)
(839)

Phamog Properties
9
(370)

–
(368)
135 750

Atterbury Parkdev
Interest paid

–

–

Amount payable at year-end

–

–

Acquisition of the Harlequins building

–

–

Dividends received

–

–

152
(1 717)
–
(109)

–
(2 160)
136 000
(136 000)

Hendisa Investments
Amount payable at year-end

–

–

31

Management fees received

–

–

–

10
(4 932)

Interest received

–

–

(1)

Acquisition of the Hensa Towers building

–

–

–

291 725

Dividends received

–

–

–

(177 174)
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GROUP

R’000

COMPANY

2015

2014

2015

2014

212

393

212

393

Interest received

–

–

Amount (payable)/receivable at year-end

–

–

2 626

–

–

(6 342)

–

35. Related parties (continued)
Retail Property Solutions
Consultancy fees paid
277 Vermeulen Street
(1)

–

Somnipoint
Lease commission fees received

(6 342)

Deposit paid for commitment on acquisition of the
Pretoria Towers building

40 000

–

40 000

–

Delta International
Commitment fees received

(6 263)

–

(6 263)

–

Financial risk management
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, Interest-bearing liabilities, trade and other receivables,
trade and other payables, debentures and linked units for distribution. Exposure to market, credit and liquidity risk arises in the
normal course of business.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial commitments as and when they fall due. This risk is
managed by holding cash balances, overdraft facilities and a revolving loan facility and by regularly monitoring cash flows.
The Company will utilise undrawn facilities and cash on hand to meet its short-term funding requirements.
The non-current financial liabilities will be serviced through cash generated from operations and the restructuring of debt
instruments upon maturity.
The tables below set out the maturity analysis of the Group and Company’s financial assets and liabilities based on the
undiscounted contractual cash flows.

GROUP

R’000

Weighted
average
effective
interest
rate %

Less than
1 year

–

283 987

5.15

60 730
344 717

–

One to
five years

More than
five years

Total

–

–

283 987

–

–

60 730

–

344 717

36. Risk management
As at 28 February 2015
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings

100

8.10

856 265

3 652 300

–

4 508 565

Trade and other payables

–

47 082

–

–

47 082

Bank overdraft

–

21

–

–

21

Derivative financial instruments

–

–

20 990

–

20 990

903 368

3 673 290

–

4 576 658

GROUP (continued)

R’000

Weighted
average
effective
interest
rate %

Less than
1 year

One to
five years

More than
five years

Total

36. Risk management (continued)
As at 28 February 2014
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables

121 696

–

–

121 696

82 179

–

–

82 179

Other financial assets

–

26 862

–

–

26 862

Investments

–

–

333 637

–

333 637

230 737

333 637

–

564 374

As at 28 February 2014
Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings

7.50

216 430

2 981 312

–

3 197 742

Debentures and debenture premium

–

2 570 022

–

–

2 570 022

Unitholders for distribution

–

172 578

–

–

172 578

Trade and other payables

–

83 256

–

83 256

Bank overdraft

–

122

–

–

122

Other financial liabilities

–

266 656

–

–

266 656

3 309 064

2 981 312

6 290 376

284 805

COMPANY
As at 28 February 2015
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables

–

284 805

–

Cash and cash equivalents

5.15

59 075

–

59 075

Loans to subsidiaries

7.50

–

322 974

322 974

343 880

322 974

666 854

As at 28 February 2015
Financial liabilities
Loans from subsidiaries

–

–

3 488

–

3 488

8.10

856 265

3 652 300

–

4 508 565

Trade and other payables

–

45 636

–

–

45 636

Derivative financial instruments

–

–

20 990

–

20 990

901 901

3 676 778

–

4 578 679

Interest-bearing borrowings

As at 28 February 2014
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables

–

117 199

–

–

117 199

5.00

81 453

–

–

81 453

Other financial assets

–

26 862

–

–

26 862

Investments

–

–

333 637

–

333 637

Loan to subsidiaries

–

–

324 040

–

324 040

225 514

657 677

–

883 191

Cash and cash equivalents
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COMPANY

R’000

(continued)

Weighted
average
effective
interest
rate %

Less than
1 year

One to
five years

More than
five years

Total

36. Risk management (continued)
As at 28 February 2014
Financial liabilities
Loans from subsidiaries
Interest-bearing borrowings

–

–

3 954

–

–

7.50

216 430

2 981 312

–

3 197 742

Debentures and debenture premium

–

493 937

–

–

493 937

Unitholders for distribution

–

172 578

–

–

172 578

Trade and other payables

–

54 958

–

–

54 958

Other financial liabilities

–

266 656

–

–

266 656

1 204 559

2 985 266

–

4 189 825

After the conversion to a REIT in the current financial period, the debentures was settled in full.
Interest rate risk
The Group manages its exposure to changes in interest rates by fixing interest rates in respect of borrowings. The Group is
exposed to interest rate risk through its variable rate cash balances and interest bearing borrowings. At year end, interest
rates in respect of 69.9% (2014: 31.7%) of borrowings were fixed.
The average rate of interest for the year was 8.1% (2014: 7.5%) based on interest rates on the current borrowings.
An increase of 1% in the interest rate on floating rate borrowings will result in an increase to finance charges of R20.6 million
(2014: R27.6 million) post-tax per annum. This was based on calculating the effective interest rate of the Group and Company
and adding a 1% escalation to this effective interest rate.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations, and arises principally from trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans to subsidiaries,
other financial assets and investments in listed securities. There is no significant concentration of credit risk as exposure is
spread over a large number of counterparties.
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the
reporting date was:
GROUP

R’000

2015

COMPANY
2014

2015

2014

Financial instrument
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

60 730

82 179

59 075

81 453

283 987

121 696

284 805

117 199

Loans to subsidiaries

–

–

322 974

324 040

Other financial assets

–

26 862

–

26 862

Investments

–

333 637

–

–

Cash and cash equivalents
It is the Group policy to deposit short-term cash investments with reputable financial institutions.
Trade and other receivables
Credit risk arises from the risk that a tenant may default or not meet its obligations timeously. The financial position of the
tenants is monitored on an ongoing basis. Allowance is made for specific doubtful debts and credit risk is therefore limited to the
carrying amount of the financial assets at financial year-end.
Loans to subsidiaries
The credit risk on loans to subsidiaries is negligible due to the fact that the three subsidiaries being Hestritrix, K2014000273
and 277 Vermeulen Street Properties have properties which are currently generating rental income.
Other financial assets
Other financial assets comprise loans to related parties and the credit risk on these loans are monitored on an ongoing basis by
management. No other financial assets were impaired during the year (2014: Nil).
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36. Risk management (continued)
Listed securities
Listed securities in the prior year represented Delta’s investment in Ascension. The value of this investment was monitored
closely by management up to its disposal in July 2014.
Foreign exchange risk
The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk.
Currency exposure arising from the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations is managed primarily through borrowings
denominated in the relevant foreign currencies and a cross-currency swap.

GROUP

COMPANY

2015

2015

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

At 28 February 2015, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 1% against the US Dollar with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R12.0 million (2014: R nil) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains or losses on translation of US Dollar denominated borrowings.

Cross currency swap which relates to future commitments
Liabilities
Non-current, USD 12.0 million (2014: R nil) at a spot rate of R11.67

140 076 000

140 076 000

Forward exchange contracts which relate to future commitments
Amount in foreign currency purchased
USD 10 748 065 (R125 million)

Swap rate

Maturity date

1 USD = R11.63

24 July 2017

The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure, including commitments on an ongoing basis. The Company expects its foreign
exchange rate contracts to hedge foreign exchange exposure.
Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments in listed property securities held by the Group and
classified on the consolidated statement of financial position as at fair value through profit or loss. Equity investments are held
for strategic purposes and the Group does not actively trade these instruments. This exposure is no longer present at year end
as the investment was sold during the year.

37. Financial assets by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:
Loans and
receivables

Total

283 987

283 987

60 730

60 730

344 717

344 717

Loans and
receivables

Fair value
through profit
or loss

Total

26 862

–

26 862

121 696

–

121 696

R’000
GROUP – 2015
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

R’000

GROUP – 2014
Other financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
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–

82 179

–

333 637

333 637

230 737

333 637

564 374
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37. Financial assets by category (continued)
Loans and
receivables

Total

Loans to subsidiaries

322 974

322 974

Trade and other receivables

284 805

284 805

59 075

59 075

666 854

666 854

Loans and
receivables

Fair value
through profit
or loss

Total

Loans to subsidiaries

324 040

–

324 040

Other financial assets

26 862

–

26 862

117 199

–

117 199

R’000
COMPANY – 2015

Cash and cash equivalents

R’000
COMPANY – 2014

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

81 453

–

81 453

–

333 637

333 637

549 554

333 637

883 191

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

Total

4 508 565

4 508 565

47 082

47 082

21

21

4 555 668

4 555 668

3 197 742

3 197 742

Investments

38. Financial liabilities by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

R’000
GROUP – 2015
Interest-bearing borrowings
Trade and other payables
Bank overdraft

R’000
GROUP – 2014
Interest-bearing borrowings
Trade and other payables
Unitholders for distribution
Bank overdraft
Other financial liabilities
Debentures and debenture premium

104

58 708

58 708

172 578

172 578

122

122

266 656

266 656

2 570 022

2 570 022

6 265 828

6 265 828

38. Financial liabilities by category (continued)

R’000

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

Total

4 508 565

4 508 565

95 636

95 636

3 488

3 488

4 607 689

4 607 689

3 197 742

3 197 742

COMPANY – 2015
Interest-bearing borrowings
Trade and other payables
Loan from subsidiary

Interest-bearing borrowings
Trade and other payables
Unitholders for distribution
Other financial liabilities
Debentures and debenture premium

54 958

54 958

172 578

172 578

266 656

266 656

2 570 022

2 570 022

6 261 956

6 261 956

39. Capital management
The Group’s borrowings, excluding debentures, are limited to 50% of the value of the investment property portfolio
(including investment in listed securities) in terms of the existing debt covenants and to 65% in terms of the Memorandum
of Incorporation.
As at 28 February 2015, the unutilised borrowing capacity was as follows:
GROUP

R’000

COMPANY

2015

2014

2015

2014

8 393 900

6 965 730

7 955 200

6 605 930

26 500

–

26 500

–

502 986

–

501 262

–

Investment in listed company

–

333 637

–

333 637

Investment in subsidiary – 277 Vermeulen Street

–

–

62 273

–

Loans to subsidiaries

–

–

322 974

324 040

8 923 386

7 299 367

8 868 209

6 929 970

50% thereof

4 461 693

3 649 684

4 434 105

3 464 985

Total borrowings (net of bank balances)

4 447 856

3 382 341

4 449 466

3 116 289

13 837

267 343

49.8%

46.3%

Investment property
Non-current assets available for sale
Investment in subsidiary – Delta International

Unutilised borrowing capacity
Gearing

(15 362)
50.2%

348 696
45.0%

Management is committed to a gearing level for the Group of a maximum of 50% (2014: 50%). Total borrowings include both
Interest-bearing borrowings as well as other financial liabilities, and is reduced by bank balances, which is in line with REITs best
practice (refer to notes 13 and 17). The gearing ratios for February 2014 has been restated to include the impact of bank
balances which were not historically included in the calculation.

DELTA PROPERTY FUND Integrated Report 28 February 2015

105

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

COMPANY – 2014

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Group
annual financial statements

(continued)

40. Fair value hierarchy
The different levels have been defined as:
Level 1– fair value is determined from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 – fair value is determined through the use of valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 – fair value is determined through the use of valuation techniques using significant inputs.
28 FEBRUARY 2015 (R’000)

Level 1

Derivative financial instruments

–

28 February 2014 (R’000)
Listed property securities

Level 2
(20 990)

Level 3
–

Fair value
(20 990)

–

–

–

–

333 637

–

–

333 637

The derivative financial instruments comprise interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps. The valuation techniques used are
as follows:
Interest rate swaps
Future cash flows are discounted using the JIBAR swap curve.
Cross currency swap
Projected present value of net future cash payments and receipts which fluctuate based on changes in market interest rates and
the Dollar/Rand exchange rate.

41. Events after the reporting period
Post-year-end Delta has raised R735.1 million via vendor placements (of which R503 million came from the March capital raise)
through the issue of 82 376 138 new Delta shares. These proceeds have been used to pay down existing debt facilities and to
fund new acquisitions.
Furthermore, Delta has concluded the transfer of four properties for a total purchase consideration of R492.3 million.
These acquisitions have been funded through a combination of new debt facilities and proceeds from new shares issued postyear-end.

On 10 June 2015 the shareholders voted in favour of the cancellation of the existing management agreement
with MPI PAM and entering into a new management agreement with Delta Property Asset Management (DPAM).
The effective date has been agreed as 01 September 2015.
A final dividend of R201.96 million was declared on 22 May 2015 and R238.2 million (including cum distribution) was paid on
15 June 2015.
Delta’s shareholding in Delta International reduced from 52.41% to 31.8%.
Per the SENS announcement dated 02 June 2015, Delta has entered into various agreements with Orthotouch Limited for the
acquisition of 15 property letting enterprises together with their related immovable properties for a purchase consideration of
R507 million. The Purchase Consideration will be settled through a combination of debt funding (vendor loan of R202.8 million)
and the issue of additional Delta shares to the vendor (R304.2 million).

42. Going concern
The directors are of the opinion that the Group has adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future and
that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Group’s financial statements. The directors have satisfied
themselves that the Group is in a sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its
foreseeable cash requirements.
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43. Prior period restatement
The restatements have arisen from the JSE proactive monitoring process and based on the advice the JSE received from
the FRIP.
In 2015 the following restatements were made relating to the 2014 consolidated and Company financial statements:
The Group accounted for antecedent interest as income in profit or loss rather than adding the antecedent interest to the
debentures’ initial carrying amount, and subsequently reducing the liability when the cash flows of the debenture interest
distributions are recognised on the next distribution date

•

The consideration payable in the form of linked units on acquisition of investment property was previously accounted for
as deferred consideration instead of apportioning the amount between the liability and equity components. In addition, a
non-cash transaction relating to the deferred consideration was included within the financing activities and included in the
amount of acquisition of investment property within the investing activities

•

The debentures and the liability component of the deferred consideration was excluded from the non-current liabilities and
total liabilities line items in the statement of financial position

•

The Group recognised debentures on initial recognition at nominal value instead of fair value. As a result the premium or
discount to the nominal value was not amortised over the expected life of the debentures.
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•

The effect of the restatements are as follows:
GROUP AND COMPANY

R’000
Statement of comprehensive income
Decrease in antecedent interest income
Decrease in debenture interest
Increase in amortisation of debenture premium

2014

2013

35 270

–

(35 270)

–

(376 969)

(41 163)

(493 937)

(189 676)

Statement of financial position
Increase in non-current liabilities and total liabilities
Decrease in unitholders interest
Increase in debentures
Decrease in share capital
Decrease in deferred consideration
Increase in retained earnings

493 937

189 676

(2 076 085)

(746 403)

2 438 392

787 566

55 825
(418 132)

–
(41 163)

Effect of changes in statement of cash flows
Increase in net cash flows from investing activities

55 825

–

Decrease in net cash flows from financial activities

(55 825)

–

Effect on EPS and HEPS
While the prior period restatements have no impact on the distributions to unitholders
the impact on basic and diluted earnings and headline earnings is as follows:

Feb 2014
Before

Feb 2014
Restated

–

–

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents)

195.68

294.73

Headline/diluted headline earnings per share (cents)

106.00

205.14
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44. Segmental information
The Group has five reportable segments based on the type of property i.e. retail, office government, office other, industrial and
administration and corporate. Where a property has more than one tenant the segment is classified based on the majority
tenant type. For each strategic business segment, the entity’s Executive Directors review internal management reports on a
monthly basis. All segments are located in South Africa. There are no single major customers.
The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those applied in the Group. There were no inter segment sales during
the period.
The following summary describes the operations in each of the entity’s reportable segments:

R’000

Retail

Office
government

Office
other

Industrial

Admin and
corporate

Total

25 102

588 251

296 169

31 101

–

940 623

–
–

68 584
(244 323)

2015
Contractual rental income
Straight-line rental income
accrual
Property operating expenses
Net property rental and
related income
Other income
Gain on bargain purchase
Administration expenses
(excluding goodwill impaired
and depreciation)
Depreciation
Transaction cost
Impairment of development right
Foreign exchange losses

260
(7 021)

48 914
(136 188)

13 830
(95 383)

5 580
(5 731)

18 341
35
–

500 977
245
–

214 616
815
–

30 950
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

Net operating profit/(loss)
Fair value adjustments –
investment property

18 376

501 222

215 431

30 950

(87 109)

678 870

317 817

190 365

(14 672)

(26 239)

458 985

Profit/(loss) from operations
Finance costs
Interest received
Amortisation of debenture
premium

10 090
–
–

819 039
–
–

405 796
–
–

16 278
–
–

–

–

–

–

Profit/(loss) before interest
and taxation
Debenture interest

10 090
–

819 039
–

405 796
–

16 278
–

(160 880)
(177 044)

1 090 323
(177 044)

Profit/(loss) before taxation
Taxation

10 090
–

819 039
–

405 796
–

16 278
–

(337 9241)
(2 211)

913 279
(2 211)

Profit/(loss) for the year
Reportable segment assets
and liabilities
Assets
Investment property – fair value
Non-current assets held-for-sale
Straight-line rental income
Other assets

10 090

819 039

405 796

16 278

(340 135)

206 622
–
1 178
1 162

5 061 754
–
145 046
9 543

2 727
26
24
44

088
500
312
344

217 572
–
10 328
9 688

–
–
–
2 394 135

Subtotal

208 962

5 216 343

2 822 244

237 588

2 394 135

10 879 272

208 962

5 216 343

2 822 244

237 588

3 394 165

10 879 272

858

22 634

26 745

1 157

5 753 707

5 805 101

(8 286)

–
32 920
127

(49
(1
(41
(15
(12

349)
659)
200)
582)
366)

(113 348)
(316 380)
3 965
264 883

764 884
34 015
127

(49
(1
(41
(15
(12

349)
659)
200)
582)
366)

1 137 855
(316 380)
3 965
264 883

911 068

8 213
26
180
2 458

036
500
864
872

Liabilities
Total liabilities
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R’000

Retail

Office
government

Office other

Industrial

Admin and
corporate

Total

14 574

396 662

162 640

20 333

–

594 209

4 748

–

(3 162)

–

(151 520)

–

502 503

44. Segmental information
(continued)
2014
Contractual rental income
Straight-line rental income
accrual
Property operating expenses

12 228

46 135
(90 817)

351 980

8 120
(54 384)

116 376

21 919

59 814

Distributable income from
investments

–

–

–

–

2 156

2 156

Other income

–

351

21

–

9 772

10 144

Administration expenses
(excluding goodwill impaired
and depreciation)

–

–

Depreciation

–

–

Net operating profit/(loss)

–
(73)

–

(46 956)

(46 956)

–

(1 061)

(1 134)

(36 089)

12 228

352 331

116 324

21 919

Fair value adjustments –
investment property

5 536

153 391

99 541

6 055

Fair value adjustments –
investments

–

–

–

–

Profit/(loss) from operations

–
(3 267)

17 764

505 722

215 865

27 974

(39 356)

Finance costs

–

–

–

–

(151 149)

Interest received

–

–

–

–

Amortisation of debenture
premium
Profit/(loss) before interest
and taxation

466 713
264 523
(3 267)
727 969
(151 149)

5 954

5 954

376 969

376 969

17 764

505 722

215 865

27 974

192 418

959 734

–

–

–

–

(254 046)

(254 046)

17 764

505 722

215 865

27 974

(61 628)

–

–

–

–

17 764

505 722

215 865

27 974

174 772

4 499 187

1 948 888

230 602

–

6 853 449

918

96 134

10 482

4 747

–

112 281

Other assets

2 248

30 712

27 015

755

511 913

572 643

Total assets

177 938

4 626 033

1 986 385

236 104

511 913

7 538 373

1 511

39 888

13 057

1 830

6 240

6 296 518

Debenture interest
Profit/(loss) before taxation
Taxation
Profit/(loss) for the year

56 007
(5 621)

705 697
56 007
761 704

Reportable segment assets
and liabilities
Assets
Investment property – fair value
Straight-line rental income

Liabilities
Total liabilities
(including debentures)
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Net property rental and related
income

811
(3 157)

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Shareholder analysis
Company : Delta Property Fund Limited
Register date: 28 February 2015

Analysis of Ordinary Shareholders as at 28 February 2015
Number of
shareholdings

% of total
shareholdings

Shares
held

%
held

1 – 1 000 Shares

146

1 001 – 10 000 Shares

543

11.06

66 648

0.01

41.14

2 567 566

10 001 – 100 000 Shares

0.56

380

28.79

12 177 996

2.66

100 001 – 1 000 000 Shares

181

13.71

68 656 780

14.98

70

5.30

374 940 846

81.79

1 320

100.00

458 409 836

100.00

145

10.98

225 982 675

49.30

3

0.23

70 725 234

15.43

Retirement Benefit Funds

92

6.97

48 895 289

10.67

Private Companies

28

2.12

40 981 602

8.94

Trusts

84

6.36

19 206 871

4.19

Assurance Companies

20

1.52

16 594 317

3.62

Retail Shareholders

858

65.00

11 654 048

2.54

Close Corporations

25

1.89

9 329 644

2.04

Medical Aid Funds

11

0.83

3 668 962

0.80

2

0.15

3 486 457

0.76

Foundations & Charitable Funds

15

1.14

1 793 252

0.39

Managed Funds

11

0.83

1 771 776

0.39

Custodians

9

0.68

1 575 194

0.34

Stockbrokers & Nominees

8

0.61

971 032

0.21

Scrip Lending

5

0.38

798 765

0.17

Hedge Funds

2

0.15

684 703

0.15

Public Entities

1

0.08

284 215

0.06

Investment Partnerships

1

0.08

5 800

0.00

1 320

100.00

458 409 836

100.00

45

3.40

198 434 040

43.29

Directors and associates of the company (direct holdings)

6

0.45

2 273 158

0.50

Directors and associates of the company (indirect holdings)

7

0.53

23 373 668

5.10

Shareholder Spread

1 000 001 Shares and over
Total

Distribution of Shareholders
Collective Investment Schemes
Organs of State

Public Companies

Total

Non-Public/Public Shareholders
Non-Public Shareholders

Holders holding more than 10%
2

0.15

63 992 414

13.96

Coronation Fund Managers

Government Employees Pension Fund

14

1.06

55 197 067

12.04

Stanlib

16

1.21

53 597 733

11.69

Public Shareholders

1 275

96.60

259 975 796

56.71

Total

1 320

100.00

458 409 836

100.00

Government Employees Pension Fund

63 992 414

13.96

Coronation Fund Managers

55 197 067

12.04

Stanlib

53 597 733

11.69

Sanlam Group

38 403 216

8.38

211 190 430

46.07

Beneficial Shareholdings (>5%)

Total
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Shareholder diary
Financial year end

28 February 2015

Announcement of annual results – 2014

22 May 2015

Annual report posted

17 July 2015

Annual General Meeting

19 August 2015

Announcement of interim results – 2015

Early November 2015

SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION

Distribution details
Distribution
number

Cents

For the period 02 November 2012* to 28 February 2013

1

23.69

27 May 2013

For the period 01 March 2013 to 31 August 2013

2

32.51

25 November 2013

For the period 01 September 2013 to 28 February 2014

3

40.18

26 May 2014

For the period 01 March 2014 to 31 August 2014

4

40.01

10 November 2014

For the period 01 September 2014 to 28 February 2015

5

44.06

15 June 2015

Interest on debentures

Payment
date

* Date of listing.
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NOTICE

Notice of Annual General Meeting

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2002/005129/06)
Share code: DLT
ISIN: ZAE000194049
(Delta or the Company)
REIT status approved
This document is important and requires your immediate
attention. If you are in any doubt as to what action you
should take in respect of the following resolutions, please
consult your Central Securities Depository Participant
(CSDP), broker, banker, attorney, accountant or other
professional adviser immediately.

Notice is hereby given to the shareholders of Delta as at
Friday 10 July 2015, being the record date to receive
Notice of the Annual General Meeting in terms of section
59(1)(a) of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008 (the
Companies Act) that the Annual General Meeting of
shareholders of the Company will be held in the boardroom
at the Company’s Registered Office, Silver Stream Office
Park, 10 Muswell Road South, Bryanston, on Wednesday
19 August 2015, at 11:00 (Central African time) for the
purposes of the matters set out below, which meeting is to
be participated in and voted at by shareholders registered
as such on Friday, 14 August 2015, being the record date
to participate in and vote at the Annual General Meeting
in terms of section 62(3)(a), read with section 59(1)(b) of
the Companies Act, and to consider and, if deemed fit, to
pass the following ordinary and special resolutions, with
or without amendment:
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Kindly note that meeting participants (including
proxies) are required to provide reasonably satisfactory
identification before being entitled to attend or participate
in a shareholders’ meeting. Forms of identification include
valid identity documents, driver’s licenses and passports.

Ordinary business
1. Annual financial statements
To receive the annual financial statements for the
year ended 28 February 2015 of the Company and
the Delta group of companies (the Group), together
with the directors’ and independent auditors’ reports
contained therein.
Ordinary resolution 1
“Resolved that the audited annual financial statements
for the Company and the Group for the year ended
28 February 2015, including the directors’ report and
the report of the independent auditors, be adopted.”
A 50% (fifty percent) majority of votes cast by those
shareholders present or represented and voting at the
Annual General Meeting is required for this resolution
to be adopted.
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If you have sold or otherwise transferred all your shares
in Delta, please send this document together with the
accompanying form of proxy at once to the relevant
transferee or to the stockbroker, bank or other person
through whom the sale or transfer was effected, for
transmission to the relevant transferee.

Section 63(1) of the Companies Act – Identification
of meeting participants

NOTICE

Notice of Annual General Meeting

2. Directors re-election and ratification of appointment
In accordance with the Company’s Memorandum of
Incorporation (MOI) one third of the Company’s directors
are required to retire by rotation and, if eligible, are
able to offer themselves for re-election. The following
directors will retire and are eligible for
re-election:
a. Nooraya Khan (Lead Independent
Non-Executive Director)
b. Johannes Bhekumuzi Magwaza
(Non-Executive Director)
The Company’s board of directors has made
appointments since the last Annual General
Meeting, namely:
a. Ian Donald Macleod (Independent Non-Executive
Director)
b. Davina Nodumo Motau (Independent Non-Executive
Director)
c. Greg Stanley Booyens (Executive Director, CFO)
which appointments are required in terms of the MOI
to be ratified at the Annual General Meeting.
A brief curriculum vitae of each of these directors
appears on pages 20 to 21 of the Integrated Report of
which this Notice forms part.
The Company accordingly wishes to propose the ordinary
resolutions 2 to 6 set out below:
Ordinary resolution 2
“Resolved that Nooraya Khan, who retires in terms
of the Company’s MOI and who, being eligible, offers
herself for re-election, be re-elected as a director
of the Company.”
Ordinary resolution 3
“Resolved that Johannes Bhekumuzi Magwaza, who
retires in terms of the Company’s MOI and who, being
eligible, offers himself for re-election, be re-elected as
a director of the Company.”
Ordinary resolution 4
“Resolved that the appointment of Ian Donald Macleod
as a director of the Company on 05 November 2014
be and is hereby ratified.”
Ordinary resolution 5
“Resolved that the appointment of Davina Nodumo
Motau as a director of the Company on 05 November
2014 be and is hereby ratified.”

(continued)

Ordinary resolution 6
“Resolved that the appointment of Greg Stanley
Booyens as an Executive Director of the Company
on 01 July 2015 be and is hereby ratified.”
A 50% (fifty percent) majority of votes cast by those
shareholders present or represented and voting at the
Annual General Meeting is required for resolutions 2
to 6 to be adopted.
3. Re-appointment of auditors
In terms of section 90 of the Companies Act, the
auditors of a public company are required to be
appointed at the Company’s Annual General Meeting.
The purpose of ordinary resolution 7 is to confirm the
re-appointment of BDO South Africa Inc. as independent
auditors to the Company, as nominated by the Audit,
Risk and Compliance Committee as required under
section 90 of the Companies Act, for the ensuing
financial year, and to confirm that the Directors shall be
empowered to ratify their remuneration, as determined
by the Committee in terms of the Committee Charter,
which amount shall be approved and endorsed by
the Directors.
Ordinary resolution 7
“Resolved that the re-appointment of BDO South
Africa Inc. as independent auditors to the Company,
and Mr Heemal B. Muljee as the designated audit
partner, until the conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting, be confirmed, and that their remuneration
be determined by the Audit, Risk and Compliance
Committee in terms of the Committee Charter, which
amount the directors shall be empowered to ratify.”
A 50% (fifty percent) majority of votes cast by those
shareholders present or represented and voting at the
Annual General Meeting is required for this resolution
to be adopted.
4. Re-appointment of Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
members for the year ending 29 February 2016
In terms of section 94 of the Companies Act, the audit
committee must constitute three members who must
be appointed by shareholders at the Company’s Annual
General Meeting, all of whom must, in terms of the
King Code of Governance Principles (King Code), be
Independent Non-Executive Directors. It is accordingly
proposed to re-appoint the members of the Audit,
Risk and Compliance Committee, proposed by the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee and as set
out below, for the year ending 29 February 2016.
The current members are Nooraya Khan, who is the
Chairman of the Committee, Ian Donald Macleod, and
Paul David Simpson.
A brief curriculum vitae of each of the Audit, Risk
and Compliance Committee members appears on
page 20 to 21 of the Integrated Report of which this
Notice forms part.
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Ordinary resolution number 8
“Resolved that Nooraya Khan, who is an Independent
Non-Executive Director, be re-appointed as the
Company’s Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
member and Chairman for the year ending
29 February 2016.”
Ordinary resolution number 9
“Resolved that Ian Donald Macleod, who is an
Independent Non-Executive Director, be re-appointed as
the Company’s Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
member for the year ending 29 February 2016.”
Ordinary resolution number 10
“Resolved that Paul David Simpson, who is an
Independent Non-Executive Director, be re-appointed as
the Company’s Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
member for the year ending 29 February 2016.”
A 50% (fifty percent) majority of votes cast by those
shareholders present or represented and voting at
the Annual General Meeting is required for resolutions
8 to 10 to be adopted.
5. Approval of Remuneration Policy

Non-binding advisory ordinary resolution 11
“Resolved that, through a non-binding advisory vote, the
Company’s Remuneration Policy and its implementation,
as set out in the Remuneration Report included in the
Integrated Report of which this Notice forms part,
be and is hereby approved.”
A 50% (fifty percent) majority of votes cast by those
shareholders present or represented and voting at the
Annual General Meeting is required for this resolution
to be adopted.
6. Issue of shares for cash
In terms of the Company’s MOI, the Company may only
issue unissued shares for cash if such shares have
first been offered to existing shareholders in proportion
to their shareholding, unless otherwise authorised by
shareholders. The purpose of ordinary resolution 12 is
therefore to authorise the directors of the Company to
issue shares for cash on a non-pro rata basis, as and
when they in their discretion deem fit when appropriate
opportunities arise. The board has no current plans
to exercise this authority but wishes to ensure that by
having it in place, the Company will have the flexibility
to take advantage of any business opportunity that
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Ordinary resolution 12
“Resolved that, subject to the Company’s MOI, the
directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised
until this authority lapses at the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company (provided that this general
authority shall not extend beyond 15 months), to allot
and issue shares for cash subject to the JSE Listings
Requirements and the Companies Act, on the
following bases:
a. the allotment and issue of shares for cash shall
be made only to persons qualifying as public
shareholders and not to related parties, as defined
in the JSE Listings Requirements;
b. the number of shares issued for cash shall not in
the aggregate in the financial year of the Company
(which commenced 1 March 2015) exceed 5% of
the Company’s issued shares, being the equivalent
of 27 300 436 shares (excluding treasury shares),
as at the date of the Annual General Meeting;
c. any shares issued in terms of this general authority
must be deducted from the initial number of shares
available under this general authority;
d. in the event of a subdivision or consolidation of
issued shares during the period of this general
authority, the general authority must be adjusted
accordingly to represent the same allocation ratio;
e. the maximum discount at which shares may be
issued for cash is 10% of the weighted average price
on the JSE of those shares over 30 business days
prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed
between the Company and the party subscribing for
the shares;
f.

after the Company has issued shares for cash which
represent, on a cumulative basis within a financial
year 5% or more of the number of shares in issue
prior to that issue, the Company shall publish an
announcement containing full details of the issue,
including the number of securities issued, the
average discount to the weighted average price
of those shares over 30 days and an explanation
(including supporting information) of the intended use
of funds; and

g. the shares which are the subject of this general
authority must be of a class already in issue, or
where this is not the case, must be limited to such
shares or rights as are convertible into a class
already in issue”.
A 75% (seventy five percent) majority of votes cast by
those shareholders present or represented and voting
at the Annual General Meeting is required for this
resolution to be adopted in terms of the JSE Listings
Requirements.
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In terms of principle 2.27 of the King Code,
shareholders should approve the company’s
Remuneration Policy through a non-binding advisory
vote. The purpose of ordinary resolution 11 is therefore
to indicate to the board, shareholders’ approval of the
Company’s Remuneration Policy.

may arise in future. The authority will be subject to the
Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements.

NOTICE

Notice of Annual General Meeting

7. Authority to issue shares to enable shareholders to
re-invest cash distributions
Ordinary resolution 13
“Resolved that, subject to the provisions of the
Companies Act, the Company’s MOI and the JSE Listings
Requirements, as applicable from time to time, that,
in the event that:
a. the Company elects, upon declaration by the
Company of a distribution in respect of its shares,
to afford all shareholders the option of re-investing
their distributions by subscribing for shares in the
Company (the Re-investment Option);
b. some of the Company’s shareholders elect to
re-invest their distributions in accordance with
the Re-investment Option; and
c. the directors be and are hereby authorised to issue
to each shareholder who elects to reinvest their
distributions in accordance with the Re-investment
Option such number of shares as are equivalent
in value to the distributions reinvested by such
shareholder, on such terms and conditions as
the directors may, at their discretion, determine.”
A 50% (fifty percent) majority of votes cast by those
shareholders present or represented and voting at the
Annual General Meeting is required for this resolution
to be adopted.
8. Authority to action all ordinary and special resolutions
Ordinary resolution 14
“Resolved that any one director of the Company or
the Company Secretary be and is hereby authorised
to do all such things as are necessary and to sign all
such documents issued by the Company so as to give
effect to all ordinary resolutions and special resolutions
passed at the Annual General Meeting with or without
amendment.”
A 50% (fifty percent) majority of votes cast by those
shareholders present or represented and voting at the
Annual General Meeting is required for this resolution
to be adopted.
9. Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors
Following the external benchmarking exercise, the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee, supported
by the Board, recommends the Non-Executive Directors’
fees as set out in special resolution 1.
Special resolution 1: Approval of Non-Executive
Directors’ remuneration for their services as Directors
“Resolved that the fees payable by the Company to the
Non-Executive Directors for their services as directors
(in terms of section 66 of the Companies Act) be
and are hereby approved for the financial year ending
29 February 2016 and for a period of two years from
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the passing of this resolution or until its renewal,
whichever is the earliest, as follows:
Annual fee
Board Chairman
Non-executive director
Audit, Risk and Compliance
Committee Chairman
Audit, Risk and Compliance
Committee member
Remuneration and Nomination
Committee Chairman
Remuneration and Nomination
Committee member
Investment Committee Chairman
Investment Committee member
Transformation, Social, Ethics and
Sustainability Committee Chairman
Transformation, Social, Ethics and
Sustainability Committee member

R460 000
R220 000
R110 000
R75 000
R65 000
R47 600
R110 000
R75 000
R65 000
R47 500

The annual escalation in fees to be based on CPI and
to be agreed by the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee.”
The reason and effect for special resolution 1
To obtain shareholder approval by way of a special
resolution in accordance with section 66 of the
Companies Act, for the payment by the Company of
remuneration to each of the Non-Executive Directors
of the Company for services rendered as directors for
a period of two years from the passing of this resolution
or until its renewal, whichever is the earliest, in the
amount set out in special resolution 1 above.
A 75% (seventy five percent) majority of votes cast by
those shareholders present or represented and voting
at the Annual General Meeting is required for this
resolution to be adopted.
10. General authority to repurchase issued shares
Special resolution 2: General authority to repurchase
issued shares
“Resolved that the directors be authorised in terms
of the Company’s MOI, until this authority lapses at the
next Annual General Meeting of the Company or unless
it is then renewed at the next Annual General Meeting
of the Company and provided that this authority shall not
extend beyond 15 months, to enable the Company or
any subsidiary of the Company (if applicable) to acquire
shares of the Company subject to the JSE Listings
Requirements and the Companies Act, on the
following bases:
a. the repurchase of shares must be implemented
through the order book operated by the JSE trading
system without any prior understanding or

arrangement between the Company and the
counterparty;
b. the Company (or any subsidiary) must be authorised
to do so in terms of its MOI;
c. the number of shares which may be repurchased
pursuant to this authority in any financial year
(which commenced 01 March 2015) may not
in the aggregate exceed 20% (or 10% where
the repurchases are effected by a subsidiary) of
the Company’s share capital as at the date of
this Notice;
d. repurchases may not be made at a price more
than 10% above the weighted average of the
market value on the JSE of the shares in question
for the five business days immediately preceding
the repurchase;
e. repurchases may not take place during a prohibited
period (as defined in paragraph 3.67 of the
JSE Listings Requirements) unless a repurchase
programme is in place and the dates and quantities
of shares to be repurchased during the prohibited
period have been determined and full details thereof
submitted to the JSE prior to commencement of the
prohibited period;
f.

g. the Company (or any subsidiary) shall appoint only
one agent to effect repurchases on its behalf; and
h. a resolution has been passed by the board of
directors of the Company or the Group authorising
the repurchase, and the Company has passed the
solvency and liquidity test as set out in section 4 of
the Companies Act and that, since the application
of the solvency and liquidity test by the board, there
have been no material changes to the financial
position of the Company.”
The reason for and effect of special resolution 2
The reason for special resolution 2 is to afford directors
of the Company a general authority for the Company
(or a subsidiary of the Company) to effect a repurchase
of the Company’s shares on the JSE. The directors
are of the opinion that it would be in the best interests
of the Company to approve this general authority and
thereby allow the Company or any of its subsidiaries to
be in a position to repurchase the shares issued by the
Company through the order book of the JSE, should
the market conditions, tax dispensation and price justify
such an action. The effect of the resolution will be that
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Certain information relating to the Company as required
by the JSE Listings Requirements is set out in the
attached Annexure which forms part of this Notice.
A 75% (seventy five percent) majority of votes cast by
those shareholders present or represented and voting
at the Annual General Meeting is required for this
resolution to be adopted.
11. Approval of financial assistance
Special resolution 3: Approval of financial
assistance S44
“Resolved that to the extent required by the Companies
Act, the board of directors of the Company may,
subject to compliance with the requirements of the
Company’s MOI, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings
Requirements, each as presently constituted and as
amended from time to time, authorise the Company,
in terms of section 44 of the Companies Act, to provide
direct or indirect financial assistance, by way of a loan,
guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise, to
any person, for the purpose of, or in connection with,
the subscription of any debt securities, issued or to
be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related
company, or for the purchase of any debt securities of
the Company or of a related or inter-related company.
Such authority shall endure until the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company for the year ended
29 February 2016.”
Reason for and effect of special resolution 3
In terms of section 44 of the Companies Act,
shareholders are required to approve by way of a special
resolution any direct or indirect financial assistance,
by way of a loan, guarantee, the provision of security
or otherwise, to any person, for the purpose of, or in
connection with, the subscription of any debt securities,
issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or
inter-related company, or for the purchase of any debt
securities of the Company or of a related or inter-related
company. Shareholders are requested to consider and
grant such general authority which shall be renewed
every 2 (two) years.
The purpose of this special resolution is to grant the
directors of the Company the authority to authorise the
Company to provide direct or indirect financial assistance
as contemplated in section 44 of the Act. The financial
assistance referred to above is intended to take the form
of guarantees issued and/or mortgage bonds provided
over properties owned by either the Company and/or
a related or an inter-related company in favour of third
parties, such as inter alia, Senior Secured Noteholders
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after the Company has repurchased shares which
constitute, on a cumulative basis, 3% of the number
of shares in issue (at the time that authority from
shareholders for the repurchase is granted), the
Company shall publish an announcement to such
effect, or any other announcements that may be
required in such regard in terms of the JSE Listings
Requirements, applicable from time to time;

the directors will have the authority, subject to the
JSE Listings Requirements and the Companies Act, to
effect repurchases of the Company’s shares on the JSE.
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that participate in the Company’s Domestic Medium
Term Note Programme.
A 75% (seventy five percent) majority of votes cast by
those shareholders present or represented and voting
at the Annual General Meeting is required for this
resolution to be adopted.
Special resolutions 4: Approval of financial
assistance S45
“Resolved that, to the extent required by the Companies
Act, the board of directors of the Company may,
subject to compliance with the requirements of the
Company’s MOI, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings
Requirements, each as presently constituted and as
amended from time to time, authorise the Company to
provide direct or indirect financial assistance, in terms
of section 45 of the Companies Act, by way of loan,
guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise, to any
of its present or future subsidiaries and/or any other
Company or corporation that is or becomes related
or inter-related to the Company for any purpose or in
connection with any matter, including, but not limited to,
the acquisition of or subscription for any option or any
securities issued or to be issued by the Company or a
related or inter-related company, or for the purchase
of any securities of the Company or a related or interrelated company.
Such authority shall endure until the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company for the year ended
29 February 2016.”
Reason for and effect of special resolution 4
In terms of section 45 of the Companies Act,
shareholders are required to approve by way of a special
resolution any financial assistance to related or interrelated parties. Given that such financial assistance
exists between the companies within the Group and may
be required in future, shareholders are requested to
consider and grant such general authority which shall be
renewed every 2 (two) years.
The purpose of this special resolution is to grant the
directors of the Company the authority to authorise the
Company to provide direct or indirect financial assistance
as contemplated in section 45 of the Act to any one
or more related or inter-related companies or within
the Group.
A 75% (seventy five percent) majority of votes cast by
those shareholders present or represented and voting
at the Annual General Meeting is required for this
resolution to be adopted.
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12. Authority to issue shares to directors who elect
to re-invest their distributions under the
Re-investment Option
Special resolution 5: Authority to issue shares to
directors who elect to re-invest their distributions
under the re-investment option
“Resolved that, subject to the provisions of the
Companies Act, the Company’s MOI and the JSE Listings
Requirements, as applicable from time to time, that,
in the event that:
a. the Company elects, upon declaration by the
Company of a distribution in respect of its shares,
to afford all shareholders the option of re-investing
their distributions by subscribing for new shares of
the Company (the Re-investment Option); and
b. some of the Company’s shareholders, who are
also persons contemplated in section 41(1) of
the Companies Act (which includes present or
future directors or officers of the Company and
persons related or inter-related to the Company
or its directors and officers), elect to re-invest
their distributions in accordance with the
Re-investment Option,
the directors be and are hereby authorised to issue
to each such shareholder who elects to re-invest their
distributions in accordance with the Re-investment
Option such number of shares as are equivalent in value
to the distributions re-invested by such shareholder, on
such terms and conditions as the directors may, at their
discretion, determine.”
Reason for and effect of special resolution 5
The reason for special resolution 5 is to comply with
the provisions of the Companies Act which requires
an issue of shares to present or future directors or
officers of the Company or their related persons to be
approved by special resolution. To the extent that the
Company elects to offer shareholders the opportunity
to reinvest their distributions in the Company by
subscribing for shares (and such shareholders are
persons contemplated in section 41 of the Companies
Act) the Company will require such authority to issue
such shares. The effect of the special resolution is that,
if approved by the shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting, the directors will be authorised to issue shares
to shareholders who are also present or future directors
or officers of the Company or their related persons to
re-invest their distribution in accordance in the
Re-investment Option.
A 75% (seventy five percent) majority of votes cast by
those shareholders present or represented and voting
at the Annual General Meeting is required for this
resolution to be adopted.

Electronic participation
In terms of the Company’s MOI and section 63(2)
and 63(3) of the Companies Act, shareholders or their
proxies may participate at the Annual General Meeting
by way of telephone conference call and, if they wish
to do so:
a. must contact the Company Secretary (email:
paulanel@pncs.co.za) by no later than 11:00 on
17 August 2015 in order to obtain dial-in details for
the conference call;
b. will be required to provide reasonably satisfactory
identification; and
c. will be billed separately by their own telephone
service providers for their telephone call to
participate at the Annual General Meeting.

Voting and proxies
Certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders
are advised that they must complete a form of proxy in
order for their vote/s to be valid. The form of proxy for
certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders
is included in this Integrated Report.

On a show of hands, every shareholder of the Company
present in person or represented by proxy shall have one
vote only. On a poll, every shareholder of the Company
present in person or represented by proxy shall have
one vote for every share in the Company held by
such shareholder.
A form of proxy is attached for the convenience of
certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders
holding shares in the Company who cannot attend the
Annual General Meeting but wish to be represented
thereat.
Such shareholders must complete and return the
attached form of proxy and lodge it with the Transfer
Secretaries of the Company.
Dematerialised shareholders who have not elected ownname registration in the sub-register of the Company
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Dematerialised shareholders who have not elected ownname registration in the sub-register of the Company
through a CSDP and who are unable to attend, but
wish to vote at the Annual General Meeting, must
timeously provide their CSDP or broker with their voting
instructions in terms of the custody agreement entered
into between that shareholder and the CSDP or broker.
Such shareholders are advised that they must provide
their CSDP or broker with separate voting instructions
in respect of the shares.
Forms of proxy may also be obtained on request from
the Company’s Registered Office. The completed forms
of proxy must be deposited at, posted or faxed to the
Transfer Secretaries, Computershare Investor Services
Proprietary Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street,
Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown,
2107), to be received at least 48 hours prior to
the Annual General Meeting. Any shareholder who
completes and lodges a form of proxy will nevertheless
be entitled to attend and vote in person at the Annual
General Meeting should the shareholder subsequently
decide to do so.
NOTICE OF ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING

A shareholder of the Company entitled to attend, speak
and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to
appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, speak and to vote
in his stead. The proxy need not be a shareholder of
the Company.

through a Central Securities Depository Participant
(CSDP) and who wish to attend the Annual General
Meeting, must instruct the CSDP or broker to provide
them with the necessary authority to attend.

By order of the Board

Paula Nel
Company Secretary

Registered Office
Silver Stream Office Park, 10 Muswell Road South,
Bryanston, 2021
(Postnet Suite 210, Private Bag X21, Bryanston, 2021)
Transfer Secretaries
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)
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Annexure to the notice of
Annual General Meeting
General information on the company to support the resolutions proposed in the
Notice of Annual General Meeting
The following information is required by the JSE Listings Requirements with regard to the resolution granting a general
authority to the Company to repurchase its securities (special resolution 2).
The JSE Listings Requirements require the following disclosures, some of which are elsewhere in the Integrated Report
of which this Notice forms part as set out below:
•

Major beneficial shareholders of the Company

page 110

•

Capital structure of the Company

pages 87 and 88 (notes 15 and 16)

Material change
Other than the facts and developments reported on in the Integrated Report of which this Notice forms part, there have been
no material changes in the affairs or financial position of the Company and the Group since the date of signature of the audit
report for the financial year ended 28 February 2015 and up to the date of this Notice.
The Board of Directors has no immediate intention to use this authority to repurchase company shares. However, the Board
of Directors is of the opinion that this authority should be in place should it become apparent to undertake a share repurchase
in the future.

Directors’ responsibility statement
The Directors whose names are given on pages 20 and 21 of the Integrated Report, collectively and individually accept full
responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in this Notice of Annual General Meeting and certify that to the best of
their knowledge and belief there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement false or misleading, and
that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that the Notice contains all information required by
law and the JSE Listings Requirements.

Statement by the Company’s Board of Directors in respect of repurchases of shares
Pursuant to and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the directors of the Company hereby state that the intention of
the directors is to utilise the authority at their discretion during the course of the period so authorised as and when suitable
opportunities present themselves, which may require immediate action.
The directors are of the opinion that, after considering the effect of the maximum repurchase permitted and for a period of
12 months after the date of this Annual General Meeting:
•
•

•

The Company and the Group will be able to pay their debts as they become due in the ordinary course of business;
The consolidated assets of the Company and the Group, fairly valued in accordance with the accounting policies used in the
Company’s latest audited Group annual financial statements, will be in excess of the consolidated liabilities of the Company
and the Group; and
The share capital, reserves and working capital of the Company and the Group will be adequate for the purposes of the
ordinary business of the Company and the Group.
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Form of proxy

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2002/005129/06)
Share code: DLT
ISIN: ZAE000194049
(Delta or the Company)
REIT status approved

Certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders are advised that they must complete a form of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders
in order for their vote/s to be valid.
This form of proxy is for use by the holders of the Company’s certificated shares (certificated shareholders) and/or dematerialised shares held through a Central
Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker who have selected own-name registration and who cannot attend but wish to be represented at the Annual General
Meeting of the Company at Silver Stream Office Park, 10 Muswell Road South, Bryanston on 19 August 2015 or any adjournment if required. Additional forms of proxy
are available at the Company’s Registered Office.
They are not for the use by holders of the Company’s dematerialised shares who have not selected own-name registration. Such shareholders must contact their CSDP
or broker timeously if they wish to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting and request that they be issued with the necessary authorisation to do so, or provide
the CSDP or broker timeously with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the Annual General Meeting but wish to be represented thereat, in order
for the CSDP or broker to vote in accordance with their instructions.
I/We
(name/s in block letters) of
shares in the capital of the Company, do hereby appoint (see note):

being the holder of
1.

or failing him/her,

2.

or failing him/her,

3. the Chairman of the meeting,
as my/our proxy to act for me/us at the Annual General Meeting (and any adjournment thereof) convened for purposes of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with
or without modification, the resolutions (resolutions) to be proposed thereat and at each adjournment thereof and to vote for and/or against the resolutions, and/or to
abstain from voting for and/or against the resolutions, in respect of the shares registered in my/our name in accordance with the following instructions:
Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces how you wish your votes to be cast. Unless this is done, the proxy will vote as he/she deems fit.
Ordinary Resolutions
1 To receive the annual financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 28 February 2015
2 To re-elect Nooraya Khan as an Independent Non-Executive Director
3 To re-elect Johannes Bhekumuzi Magwaza as Non-Executive Director
4 To ratify the appointment of Ian Donald Macleod as an Independent Non-Executive Director
5 To ratify the appointment of Davina Nodumo Motau as an Independent Non-Executive Director
6 To ratify the appointment of Greg Stanley Booyens as Executive Director
7 To re-appoint BDO South Africa Inc. as independent auditors to the Company
8 To re-elect Nooraya Khan as a member and Chairman of the Company’s Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee for the year ending
29 February 2016
9 To re-elect Ian Donald Macleod as a member of the Company’s Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee for the year ending
29 February 2016
10 To re-elect Paul David Simpson as a member of the Company’s Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee for the year ending
29 February 2016
11 Non-binding advisory vote to approve the Remuneration Policy
12 To authorise the directors of the Company to issue shares for cash
13 To authorise the issue of shares to shareholders who wish to re-invest their cash distributions
14 To authorise any one director or the Company Secretary to action all ordinary and special resolutions
Special resolutions
1 To approve the Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration for their services as directors
2 To grant a general authority to repurchase issued shares
3 To approve the granting of financial assistance in terms of section 44 of the Companies Act
4 To approve the granting of financial assistance in terms of section 45 of the Companies Act
5 To grant the authority to issue shares to directors who elect to re-invest their distributions under the re-investment option
Signed at

on the

of

For

Against

Abstain

2015

Signature
Assisted by (where applicable)
Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (who need not be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, speak and vote in place of that shareholder at
the Annual General Meeting.
Please read notes on the reverse page
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NOTES TO THE FORM OF PROXY

NOTES
Certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders are advised that they must complete a form of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised
shareholders in order for their vote/s to be valid.
1.

The form of proxy must only be used by certificated ordinary shareholders or dematerialised ordinary shareholders who hold dematerialised shares
with “own name” registration.

2.

Dematerialised shareholders are reminded that the onus is on such shareholder to communicate with their CSDP.

3.

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of
the shareholder’s choice in the space provided, with or without deleting “the Chairman of the meeting”. The person whose name stands first on the
form of proxy and who is present at the Annual General Meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of such proxy(ies) whose names follow.

4.

A shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote in respect of each share held. A shareholder’s instructions to the
proxy must be indicated by inserting the relevant number of votes exercisable by the shareholder in the appropriate box(es). Failure to comply with
this will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the Annual General Meeting as he/she deems fit in respect of all the
shareholder’s votes.

5.

A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid in relation to the Annual General Meeting notwithstanding the death, insanity or other
legal disability of the person granting it, or the revocation of the proxy, or the transfer of the shares in respect of which the proxy is given, unless
Notice as to any of the aforementioned matters shall have been received by the registrars not less than forty-eight hours before the commencement
of the Annual General Meeting.

6.

If a shareholder does not indicate on this form that his/her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain from voting, or gives
contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution(s) or any amendment(s) which may properly be put before the Annual General Meeting be
proposed, such proxy shall be entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit.

7.

The Chairman of the Annual General Meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received other than in compliance
with these notes.

8.

The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the Annual General Meeting and speaking
and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such shareholder wish to do so.

9.

Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing the form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this form of
proxy, unless previously recorded by the Company or unless this requirement is waived by the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting.

10.

A minor or any other person under legal incapacity must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian, as applicable, unless the relevant documents
establishing his/her capacity are produced or have been registered with the Company.

11.

Where there are joint holders of shares:
• Any one holder may sign the form of proxy; and
• The vote(s) of the senior shareholders (for that purpose seniority will be determined by the order in which the names of shareholders appear in the
Company’s register of shareholders) who tender a vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the other
joint shareholder(s).
The Chairman of the Annual General Meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received otherwise than in
accordance with these notes, provided that, in respect of acceptances, the Chairman is satisfied as to the manner in which the shareholder
concerned wishes to vote.

12.

Forms of proxy should be lodged with or mailed to Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited:
Hand deliveries to:

Postal deliveries to:

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary

Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street

PO Box 61051

Johannesburg, 2001

Marshalltown, 2107

to be received by no later than 11:00 on Monday, 17 August 2015 (or 48 hours before any adjournment of the Annual General Meeting which date,
if necessary, will be notified on SENS).
13.
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Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy, other than the deletion of alternatives, must be initialled by the signatory(ies).
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(Registration number 2004/117064/23)

Ace Valuers Proprietary Limited

3 Oude Westhof Medical Centre

(Registration number 2012/143082/07)

Van Riebeeckshof Road

2 Bonsai Close

Oude Westhof, 7530

Glen Marais

(Private Bag X2, Suite 65, Welgemoed, 7538)

Kempton Park
(PO Box 8284, Birchleigh, 1621)

DNA Properties Proprietary Limited
Taboo Trading 242 Prprietary Limited trading as valuation DNA
(Registration number 2011/010433/07)

(Registration number 2012/012492/07)

160 Frederick Drive

16 Pinotage Crescent

Northcliff

Glen Erasmia Boulevard

Johannesburg

Veld Street

(PO Box 5764, Cresta, 2118)

CORPORATE
INFORMATION

Abakon Property Valuations Proprietary Limited

Glen Marais
Kempton Park

Quadrant Properties Proprietary Limited
(Registration number 1995/003097/07)
Dunkeld Court
16 North Road
Cnr Jan Smuts Avenue
Dunkeld West
(PO Box 1984, Parklands, 2121)
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Corporate information and advisors

(continued)

Communication Advisor

Bankers

Instinctif Proprietary Limited formerly known as College Hill
Proprietary Limited

The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited

(Registration number 1997/02334/07)

Corporate Banking

Fountain Grove Office Park

3 Simmonds Street

5 Second Road

Johannesburg, 2001

Hyde Park, 2196

South Africa

(PO Box 413187, Craighall, 2024)

(PO Box 61344, Marshalltown, 2107, South Africa)

Transfer Secretaries

Nedbank, acting through its Corporate Finance business unit

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited

(Registration number 1951/000009/06)

(Registration number 2004/003647/07)

135 Rivonia Road

Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street

Sandown, 2196

Johannesburg, 2001

(PO Box 1144, Johannesburg, 2000)

(Registration number 1962/000738/06)

(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)
Company Secretary
Corporate Advisor and Sponsor

Paula Nel

Nedbank Capital, a division of Nedbank Limited

BCom FCIS

(Registration number 1951/000009/06)

Silver Stream Office Park

135 Rivonia Road

10 Muswell Road South

Sandown, 2196

Bryanston, 2021

(PO Box 1144, Johannesburg, 2000)

(Postnet Suite 210, Private Bag X21, Bryanston, 2021)

Independent Reporting Accountants and Auditors

Enquiries relating to the Integrated Report

BDO South Africa Incorporated

Sandile Nomvete – sandile.nomvete@deltafund.co.za

(Registration number 1995/002310/21)

Bronwyn Corbett – bronwyn.corbett@deltafund.co.za

22 Wellington Road

Greg Booyens – greg.booyens@deltafund.co.za

Parktown, 2193
(Private Bag X60500, Houghton, 2041)
Competition Law and Tax Advisor
Cliffe Dekker Hofmeyr Inc.
(Registration number 2008/018923/21)
1 Protea Place
Sandton, 2196
(Private Bag X7, Benmore, 2010)
Debenture Trustee
Maitland Trust Limited
(Registration number 1981/009543/06)
1 Protea Place
Sandown, 2196
(PO Box 781396, Sandton, 2146)

124

Definitions

277 Vermeulen Street

277 Vermeulen Street Properties Proprietary Limited (Registration Number
2001/024462/07), a private company incorporated in South Africa and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Delta

A-grade

Generally not older than fifteen years or which has had a major renovation; high quality
modern finishes; air-conditioning; adequate on-site parking, market rental near the top of
the range in the metropolitan area in which the building is located

African Bank

African Bank Limited (Registration Number 1975/30526/06)

AGM

Annual General Meeting

Ascension

Ascension Properties Limited (Registration Number 2006/026141/06), a public
company registered and incorporated in South Africa

Atterbury Parkdev

Atterbury Parkdev Consortium Proprietary Limited (Registration Number
2003/020481/07), a private company incorporated in South Africa and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Delta

B-grade

Generally older buildings, but accommodation and finishes close to modern standards as a
result of refurbishments and renovation from time to time, air-conditioned; on-site parking,
unless special circumstance pertain

BDO

BDO South Africa Incorporated (Registration Number 1995/002310/21), a private
company incorporated in South Africa

BEE

Black economic empowerment as contemplated in the BEE Act

BEE Act

The BEE Act, No. 53 of 2003, as amended from time to time

Board

Board of directors

CBD

Central business district

C-grade

Buildings with older style finishes, services and building systems. It may or may not be airconditioned or have on-site parking

CEO

Chief Executive Officer

CFO

Chief Financial Officer

CGT

Capital Gains Tax
Chief Investment Officer
Choice Decisions 300 Proprietary Limited (Registration Number 2001/009295/07),
a private company incorporated in South Africa and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Delta

CIPC

Companies and Intellectual Property Commission

Companies Act

The Companies Act No. 71 of 2008, as amended

Computershare

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited

COO

Chief Operating Officer

DCM

Debt Capital Markets

Debenture

A variable rate, unsecured, subordinated debenture with a nominal value of R1.15,
regulated by the debenture trust deed

Delta or the Company or the Fund

Delta Property Fund Limited (Registration Number 2002/005129/06), a public company
registered and incorporated in South Africa, formerly a private company incorporated
under the name Tuffsan 89 Investment Holdings Proprietary Limited

Delta Group or Group

Delta and its subsidiaries

Delta International

Delta International Property Holdings Limited (previously known as Osiris Properties
International Limited (Registration Number 46566) incorporated in Bermuda

DMTN programme

Domestic Medium Term Note programme

DPW

The National Department of Public Works

Enterprise value

The sum of the Company’s market capitalisation, based on the one-month volume weighted
average price, and borrowings, being the aggregate of the Company’s borrowings,
excluding the value of any debentures forming part of any linked units issued by the
Company

Executive

CEO, CFO and COO/CIO

FRIP

Financial Reporting Investigation Panel

Gearing

Loans from financial institutions
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CIO
Choice Decisions 300

DEFINITIONS

Definitions

(continued)

GLA

Gross lettable area

Grant Thornton

Grant Thornton Advisory Services Proprietary Limited (Registration Number
2002/022635/07)

Grindrod

Grindrod Bank Limited (Registration Number 1994/007994/06), a limited liability public
company duly incorporated in South Africa

Hendisa Investments

Hendisa Investments Proprietary Limited (Registration Number 2004/006456/07),
a private company incorporated in South Africa and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Delta

Hestitrix

Hestitrix Proprietary Limited (Registration Number 2010/0015274/07), a private
company incorporated in South Africa and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Delta

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards

Investec

Investec Private Bank, a division of Investec Bank Limited (Registration Number
1969/004763/06), a public company registered and incorporated in South Africa

IPD

Investment Property Databank

IT

Information Technology

ITA

Income Tax Act No. 58 of 1962, as amended from time to time

Jibar

Johannesburg Interbank Agreed Rate

JSE

JSE Limited (Registration Number 2005/022939/06), a public company registered and
incorporated in South Africa, licensed as an exchange under the Securities Services Act

K2014000273

K2014000273 Proprietary Limited (Registration Number 2014/000273/07), a private
company incorporated in South Africa and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Delta

King III

King Report on Governance for South Africa 2009 and the King Code of Governance
Principles

Linked units or Delta linked units

Ordinary shares linked to debentures in the ratio of one ordinary share to one debenture,
trading as linked units on the JSE

Linked unitholders

The holders of linked units

Listing date

02 November 2012

LTV

Loan to Value

m2 or sqm

Square metres

Mesidox

Mesidox Proprietary Limited (Registration Number 2010/001440/07), a private
company incorporated in South Africa

Motseng Property Investments

Motseng Property Investments Proprietary Limited (Registration Number
2009/013798/07), a private company incorporated in South Africa

Motseng Property Services or MPS

Motseng Property Services Proprietary Limited (Registration Number
2001/007004/07), a private company incorporated in South Africa and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Motseng, who has been appointed as the property manager to Delta

MOI

Memorandum of Incorporation

MPI Property Asset Management or
MPI PAM or the asset manager

MPI Property Asset Management Proprietary Limited (Registration Number
2012/084027/07), a private company incorporated in South Africa and the asset
manager to Delta

NAV

Net Asset Value

Nedbank Capital

Nedbank, acting through its Corporate Finance business unit (Registration Number
1951/000009/06), a public company registered and incorporated in South Africa and
the bookrunner, investment bank and sponsor to Delta

Nedbank Corporate

A division of Nedbank Limited (Registration Number 1951/000009/06), a public
company registered and incorporated in South Africa

Ordinary share

An ordinary no par value share in the share capital of Delta

Phamog Properties

Phamog Properties Proprietary Limited (Registration Number 2013/103000/07),
a private company incorporated in South Africa and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Delta

PLSA

Property Loan Stock Association

Rand or R

South African Rand

Rebosis

Rebosis Property Fund Limited (Registration Number 2010/003468/06), a public
company registered and incorporated in South Africa
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REIT

Real Estate Investment Trust

RMB

Rand Merchant Bank a division of FirstRand Bank Limited
(Registration Number 1929/001225/06), a public company registered and incorporated
in South Africa

SAICA

the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants

Sanlam

Sanlam Limited (Registration Number 1959/001562/06), a public company registered
and incorporated in South Africa

SAPOA

South African Property Owners Association

SARS

The South African Revenue Service

SENS

the JSE’s real-time Stock Exchange News Service

Somnipoint

Somnipoint Proprietary Limited (Registration Number 2010/005252/07), a private
company incorporated in South Africa and a related company to Delta

Standard Bank

A division of The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited (Registration number
1962/000738/06), a public company registered and incorporated in South Africa

Subsidiaries

Comprises the following companies: Atterbury Parkdev, Choice Decisions 300, Hendisa
Investments, Hestitrix, K2014000273 and Phamog

TI

Tenant installations

USD

United States Dollar

DEFINITIONS
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Annexure
Property portfolio

No

Property name

Physical address

Province

Property description

1

Forum Building

Bosman Street, Pretoria

Gauteng

6 storey single tenant office

2

NPA Cape Town

115 Buitengracht Street, Cape Town

Western Cape

4 storey single tenant office

3

110 Hamilton

110 Hamilton Street, Pretoria

Gauteng

6 storey single tenant office

4

Thuto House

155 St Andrews Street, Bloemfontein

Free State

6 storey single tenant office

5

Tivoli

58 OR Tambo Street, Klerksdorp

North West

5 storey single tenant office

6

Block G

Corner of Schoeman Street, Nelson Mandela Drive
and Meintjies Street, Pretoria

7

5 Walnut Road

5 Walnut Road, Durban

KwaZulu-Natal

6 storey multi-tenant office

8

Old Mutual Building

27–29 Maitland Street, Bloemfontein

Free State

5 storey single tenant office

9

Beacon Hill

Corner of Hargreaves & Hockley Close, Buffalo
Industrial Area, King Williams Town

Eastern Cape

3 storey single tenant office

10

Presidia

Corner of Paul Kruger and Pretorius Street, Pretoria

Gauteng

8 storey multi-tenant office
with high street retail

11

SARS Springs

20 8th Street, Springs

Gauteng

2 storey single tenant office

12

SARS Kimberley

14–16 Bean Street and 6–10 Crossman Road,
Kimberley

Northern Cape

2 storey single tenant office

13

PWC Polokwane

73 Biccard Street, Polokwane

Limpopo

3 storey multi-tenant office

14

88 Field Street

88 Field Street, Durban

KwaZulu-Natal

27 storey multi-tenant office
tower with arcade and high
steet retail

15

Cape Road

Corner of CJ Langenhoven Drive and Cape Road,
Port Elizabeth

Eastern Cape

5 storey multi-tenant office

16

Broadcast House

Corner of Sission Street and Queenstown Road,
Mthatha

Eastern Cape

2 storey multi-tenant office

17

Liberty Towers

214 Dr Pixley Kaseme Street, Durban

KwaZulu-Natal

14 storey multi-tenant office
complex

18

North Ridge Road

215 Peter Mokaba Road, Morningside, Durban

KwaZulu-Natal

3 storey single tenant office

19

Richmond Forum

16 Cedar Avenue, Richmond

Gauteng

2 storey multi-tenant office

20

WB Centre

48–54 Chapel Street, Kimberley

Northern Cape

High street retail with
2nd floor offices

21

Hallmark Building

233 Proes Street, Pretoria

Gauteng

25 storey single tenant
office tower with high street
retail

22

Manaka Heights

167 Andries Street, Pretoria

Gauteng

21 storey single multi-tenant
office tower with high street
retail

23

Manaka House

Corner of Pretorius and Thabu Sehume (Andries)
Street, Pretoria

Gauteng

11 storey multi-tenant office
with high steet retail

24

Manaka Continental

Corner of Bosman and Visagie Steet,Pretoria

Gauteng

10 storey single tenant
office
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Gauteng

4 storey multi-tenant office

Building sector

Tenancy
(Multi/Single)#

Total GLA
(m2)

Effective date
of acquisition

Weighted
average
rental/m2
(excl parking
and storage)
R

Vacancy
(%)

S

41 003

04/02/2010

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

10 552

01/08/2012

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

4 511

01/08/2012

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

2 111

01/08/2012

$

0.44

Office – Government

S

2 075

01/08/2012

$

0.00

Office – Government

M

7 992

02/11/2012

131.84

0.00

Office – Other

M

14 041

02/11/2012

57.37

38.91

Office – Government

S

2 784

05/11/2012

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

13 648

06/11/2012

$

0.00

Office – Government

M

12 656

05/11/2012

83.95

30.77

Office – Other

S

1 922

01/08/2012

*

0.00

Office – Other

S

2 950

01/08/2012

*

0.00

Office – Other

M

1 952

02/10/2012

136.46

0.00

Office – Government

M

21 086

06/11/2012

105.87

23.74

Office – Other

M

5 135

05/11/2012

101.60

2.75

Office – Government

M

4 934

05/11/2012

94.91

33.85

Office – Other

M

40 538

31/10/2012

82.14

2.65

Office – Other

S

3 354

06/11/2012

*

0.00

Office – Other

M

3 968

06/11/2012

76.33

42.13

Retail

M

7 416

05/11/2012

89.40

3.65

Office – Government

S

26 255

02/05/2013

$

0.00

Office – Government

M

19 122

02/05/2013

117.99

1.78

Office – Government

M

11 439

02/05/2013

113.86

1.45

Office – Government

S

4 133

02/05/2013

$

0.00
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Annexure

(continued)

Property portfolio (continued)

No

Property name

Physical address

Province

Property description

25

Hensa Towers

Corner Landros Mare and Rabie Streets, Polokwane

Limpopo

8 storey single tenant office

26

Embassy Building

Corner Anton Lembede and Samora Machel Streets,
Durban

KwaZulu-Natal

29 storey multi-tenant office
tower with high street retail

27

Unisa House

29 Rissik Street, Johannesburg

Gauteng

10 storey single tenant
office with high street retail

28

12 New Street

12 New Street South, Johannesburg

Gauteng

8 storey single tenant office
with high street retail

29

14 New Street

14 New Street South, Johannesburg

Gauteng

6 storey single tenant office
with high street retail

30

Du Toitspan

95 Du Toitspan Street, Kimberley

Northern Cape

13 storey multi-tenant office

31

13 Elliot Street

13 Elliot Street, Kimberley

Northern Cape

Single tenant office

32

5/7 Elliot Street

7 Elliot Street, Kimberley

Northern Cape

Single tenant office

33

Thema Thumo

162 George Street, Kimberley

Northern Cape

3 storey single tenant office

34

Bestmed Building

36 Hamilton Street, Arcadia

Gauteng

5 storey single tenant office

35

In 2 Fruit Building

67 Middle Road, Barltett, Boksburg

Gauteng

Single tenant food
processing complex

36

Samora House

Corner of 2 Samora Machel Street and Margaret
Mncadi Avenue, Durban

KwaZulu-Natal

16 storey single tenant
office

37

CMH Building

196–206 West Street/119–123 Proes Street,
Durban

KwaZulu-Natal

Motor showroom and
parkade

38

Edcon Building

5 Handel Street, Ormonde

Gauteng

2 storey single tenant office

39

Damelin Building

325 Anton Lembede Street, Durban

KwaZulu-Natal

4 storey single tenant office

40

539 Church Street

539 Chruch Street, Arcadia, Pretoria

Gauteng

7 storey single tenant office

41

Protea Coin Pretoria

20 Vonkprop Street, Samcore Park, Silverton,
Pretoria East

Gauteng

2 storey high security office
and warehouse

42

Protea Coin
Cape Town

Corner Jerepiko Street and Van Riebeeck Street,
Saxenburg Park 2, Cape Town

Western Cape

2 storey high security office
and warehouse

43

Protea Coin Durban

Bellair Cliff Crescent, Edwin Swales Business Park,
Durban

KwaZulu-Natal

3 storey high security office
and warehouse

44

Anchor House

63 Maitand Street, Bloemfontein

Free State

6 storey single tenant office

45

SARS Randburg

Corner of Hill & Kent Street, Randburg

Gauteng

4 storey single tenant office

46

Top Trailers

Corner of Lamp and Lantern Street and Dekema Road
and Commercial Road, Wadeville

Gauteng

Heavy manufacturing
complex

47

SARS Bellville

Corner of Voortrekker Road and Durban Road,
Bellville, Cape Town

Western Cape

3 storey single tenant office
with high street retail

48

Eskom Sunninghill

3 Simba Road, Sunninghill, Johannesburg

Gauteng

4 storey single tenant office

49

Harlequins Office Park 164 Tortius Street, Groenkloof, Pretoria

Gauteng

3 storey multi-tenant office

130

Building sector

Tenancy
(Multi/Single)#

Total GLA
(m2)

Effective date
of acquisition

Weighted
average
rental/m2
(excl parking
and storage)
R

Vacancy
(%)

S

13 675

15/03/2013

$

0.00

Office – Government

M

31 129

23/05/2013

74.10

20.81

Office – Other

S

10 055

17/05/2013

*

3.63

Office – Other

M

2 368

03/05/2013

141.79

5.20

Office – Other

M

2 694

07/05/2013

118.67

50.95

Office – Government

M

9 204

01/05/2013

117.62

16.35

Office – Government

S

4 400

01/05/2013

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

2 300

01/05/2013

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

2 396

01/05/2013

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

3 684

25/3/2013

$

0.00

Industrial

S

11 591

10/05/2013

61.26

0.00

Office – Government

S

6 920

06/05/2013

$

0.00

Other

S

N/A

17/05/2013

N/A

N/A

Office – Other

S

6 188

03/07/2013

*

0.00

Office – Other

S

3 933

01/05/2013

*

0.00

Office – Government

S

4 488

01/03/2013

$

0.00

Office – Other

M

7 640

07/05/2013

36.10

0.00

Office – Other

S

5 700

30/04/2013

*

0.00

Office – Other

S

4 365

15/05/2013

*

0.00

Office – Government

S

2 645

01/03/2013

$

0.00

Office – Other

S

8 496

30/08/2013

*

0.00

Industrial

S

28 364

25/07/2013

28.05

0.00

Office – Other

S

17 309

01/07/2013

*

0.00

Office – Other

S

3 696

18/07/2013

*

0.00

Office – Government

M

5 450

01/07/2013

182.32

0.00
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Property portfolio (continued)

No

Property name

Physical address

Province

Property description

50

AZMO Place

49 Joubert Street, Polokwane

Limpopo

6 storey single tenant office

51

CCMA House

192 Hans van Rensburg, Polokwane

Limpopo

Single storey single tenant
office

52

Phomoko Towers

37 Kerk Street, Polokwane

Limpopo

10 storey single tenant
office

53

Temo Towers

67 Biccard Street, Polokwane

Limpopo

9 storey single tenant office

54

Commission House

566 Ziervogel Street, Pretoria

Gauteng

5 storey single tenant office

55

5 Simba Road

5 Simba Road, Sunninghill, Johannesburg

Gauteng

3 storey single tenant office

56

Enterprise Office Park 15 Simba Road, Sunninghill, Johannesburg

Gauteng

Single tenant office park of
2 buildings

57

101 De Korte

101 De Korte Street, Braamfontein

Gauteng

8 storey single tenant office

58

Standard Bank
Greyville

96 First Avenue, Greyville, Durban

KwaZulu-Natal

8 storey multi-tenant office

59

Yarona Shopping
Centre

Corner of Angelfish and Archerfish Drives, Kaalfontein,
Johannesburg

Gauteng

Open-air shopping centre

60

Capital Towers

121 Chief Albert Luthuli Road, Pietermaritzburg

KwaZulu-Natal

14 storey single tenant
office

61

Sleepy Hollow

9 Armitage Road, Pietermaritzburg

KwaZulu-Natal

3 storey multi-tenant linked
office buildings

62

Mayors Walk

174 Mayors Walk, Pietermaritzburg

KwaZulu-Natal

Multi-tenant low rise office
park

63

SAPS – Bell Street

7 Bell Street, Nelspruit

Mpumalanga

2 storey office and
warehouse

64

Land Claims Court
Nelspruit

30 Samora Machel (ex Louis Trichardt) Street,
Nelspruit

Mpumalanga

5 storey single tenant office

65

Military Hospital

21 Bell Street, Nelspruit

Mpumalanga

5 storey single tenant office

66

Defence Force
Headquarters

8 Spruit Street, Nelspruit

Mpumalanga

4 storey single tenant office

67

Defence Force
Logistics

15–17 Cruse Circle, Nelspruit

Mpumalanga

1 storey single tenant office
and industrial structure

68

Defence Force
Transport

2–4 Davie Street, Nelspruit

Mpumalanga

1 storey single tenant office
and parking structures

69

Department of
Statistics

11 Samora Machel (ex Louis Trichardt Street),
Nelspruit

Mpumalanga

4 storey multi-tenant office
with high street retail

70

SAPS – Ferreira
Street

4 Ehmke Street and 9 Ferreira Street, Nelspruit

Mpumalanga

7 storey single tenant
linked offices

71

Defence Force – Old
Pretoria Road

16 Old Pretoria Road, Nelspruit

Mpumalanga

1 storey single tenant office
and industrial structure

132

Building sector

Tenancy
(Multi/Single)#

Total GLA
(m2)

Effective date
of acquisition

Weighted
average
rental/m2
(excl parking
and storage)
R

Vacancy
(%)

S

5 339

16/09/2013

$

2.15

Office – Government

S

1 063

16/09/2013

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

13 058

18/09/2013

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

7 668

18/09/2013

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

6 534

13/09/2013

$

0.00

Office – Other

S

5 375

12/12/2013

*

0.00

Office – Other

S

13 667

17/12/2013

*

0.00

Office – Other

S

6 610

19/12/2013

*

0.00

Office – Other

M

16 380

13/12/2013

70.23

7.83

Retail

M

5 947

08/01/2014

107.40

8.02

Office – Other

S

13 485

01/12/2013

*

0.00

Office – Other

M

6 360

01/12/2013

126.93

0.00

Office – Government

M

5 607

01/12/2013

109.40

0.00

Office – Government

S

589

11/02/2014

$

100.00

Office – Government

S

2 910

11/02/2014

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

3 000

11/02/2014

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

2 174

11/02/2014

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

2 430

11/02/2014

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

841

11/02/2014

$

0.00

Office – Government

M

2 827

11/02/2014

113.64

24.09

Office – Government

S

4 637

11/02/2014

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

2 504

11/02/2014

$

0.00
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ANNEXURE

Annexure

(continued)

Property portfolio (continued)

No

Property name

Physical address

Province

Property description

72

Nedbank – 1 Ferreira
Street

1 Ferreira Street, Nelspruit

Mpumalanga

3 storey multi-tenant office

73

Nedbank – 3 Ferreira
Street

3 Ferreira Street, Nelspruit

Mpumalanga

3 storey single tenant office

74

SAPS Flying Squad

19 Danie Joubert Street, White River

Mpumalanga

Single storey single tenant
office

75

Beaconsfield

28 Central Road, Kimberley

Northern Cape

Single tenant complex of
5 office buildings

76

Campus Building

14 Abbitor Road, Kimberley

Northern Cape

Single tenant complex of
9 office buildings

77

Servamus Building

15–19 Bram Fischer Road, Durban

KwaZulu-Natal

22 storey single tenant
office tower

78

The Marine Building

22 Dorothy Nyembe (ex Gardiner Street), Durban

KwaZulu-Natal

21 storey multi-tenant office
tower with ground floor retail

79

Delta Towers

City block bounded by Doctor Pixley Kaseme Street,
Dorothy Nyembe Street, Anton Lembede Street and
Mercury Lane, Durban

KwaZulu-Natal

33 storey multi-tenant office
tower with ground floor/high
street retail

80

Auditor General
Polokwane

32 Dimitri Crescent, Platinum Park, Polokwane

Limpopo

2 storey single tenant office

81

Die Meent

123 Peter Mokaba Street, Potchefstroom

North West

4 storey single tenant office

82

Regents Place

277 Madiba Street (formerly Vermeulen Street),
Pretoria

Gauteng

12 storey single tenant
office with high street retail

The average annualised property yield is 9.08%.
#

A single tenanted property is defined as a building where 90% or more of the GLA is occupied by one tenant.

$

Single tenanted property – the average gross rental for a single tenanted Office – Government property is R119.53.

*

Single tenanted property – the average gross rental for a single tenanted Office – Other property is R94.02.
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Building sector

Tenancy
(Multi/Single)#

Total GLA
(m2)

Effective date
of acquisition

Weighted
average
rental/m2
(excl parking
and storage)
R

Vacancy
(%)

Office – Other

M

961

11/02/2014

120.29

0.00

Office – Other

S

2 282

11/02/2014

*

0.00

Office – Government

S

1 125

11/02/2014

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

5 800

01/12/2013

$

0.00

Office – Government

S

4 700

01/12/2013

$

0.00

Office – Government

M

13 762

24/04/2014

100.29

2.48

Office – Other

M

24 384

26/09/2014

76.14

21.21

Office – Other

M

40 694

26/09/2014

65.05

27.57

Office – Other

S

2 130

13/10/2014

*

0.00

Office – Government

S

3 705

25/11/2014

$

11.58

Office – Government

S

10 289

09/12/2014

$

0.00

703 103

7.09
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